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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRBSE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”), | am pleased to present the annual report of
Everbright Grand China Assets Limited (the “Company”, or
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2019 (the “Year”) for your review.

Since its establishment, as a member of China Everbright Group
Limited (“China Everbright Group”), the Group has been
committed to strengthening the supervision and management of
state-owned assets of enterprises, emphasizing the preservation
and appreciation of capital value of enterprises, and focusing on
improving the efficiency of state-owned enterprises. By further
enhancing the value of its properties and operating income from
its principal businesses, the Group is able to generate stable
income and deliver considerable returns to its investors. Under
the existing policy and environment, the Group will continue to
uphold its corporate integrity and strive to become a property
management service company with excellent property leasing
and endeavour to fulfill its service commitments.

Looking back at 2019, despite the heightened global trade
and geopolitical tensions, the ongoing Sino-US trade war has
exacerbated the global economic turmoil and credit crunch.
It is fortunate that China’'s economy remained on a stable and
optimistic growth trajectory, slowing down from 6.5% in 2018 to
6.1% in 2019. The real estate industry in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) was inevitably confronted with the challenges
brought by the trade disputes under the macroeconomic
environment, but it was still seen that the economic growth was
stable and within a reasonable range, showing strong resilience
with great potential, and maintaining the steady, sustainable and
healthy development of the society as a whole.

In 2019, facing the extremely challenging operating environment,
the Group adapted to market changes and ensured the healthy
and stable performance of the enterprise with the joint efforts
of all staff. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
recorded a revenue of RMB71.3 million, representing an increase
of 15.6% as compared to the corresponding period of last year.
The Group’s profit attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company amounted to RMB37.3 million, representing a rise of
1.9% as compared to the corresponding period of the previous
year.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (Continued)
ETRHS (E)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s cash flow went up by
11% to RMB201.3 million as compared to the previous financial
year. Meanwhile, the gearing ratio dropped from 3% in 2018 to
2.2% in 2019, representing a decrease of 26%. With surplus
cash, low debt level and ample liquidity, the Group is confident
to enhance its competitive edge through refined management,
implement new development concepts and deepen its foothold
in the existing markets. The Group will prudently select suitable
investment portfolios to meet the needs and expectations of its
investors.

Looking forward to 2020, there are still uncertainties in the
global political as well as economic development, causing
difficulties in the economic operation. However, the Group
believes that the long-term positive trend of China’s economy
remains unchanged, laying a solid foundation for the Group’s
long-term development. In the coming year, ensuring the
quality and market competitiveness of the Group’s property
management business remains as its core task. The Group will
flexibly adjust its existing commercial leasing strategies and
improve its comprehensive risk management. Meanwhile, the
Group will strive to maintain stable relationship with its existing
customer base, commit to improve its service quality and tap
into new business to enhance potential growth in the future. At
the same time, the Group will continue to invest in commercial
buildings to optimize its own asset structure and quality,
explore potential overseas markets and bring the best returns to
shareholders.

On behalf of the Board of the Group, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to its shareholders,
customers and business partners for their patience and
unwavering trust in building a sustainable future for the Group.
Meanwhile, | would like to express my gratitude to all employees
for their continuous support, perseverance and hard work.

Chairman of the Board
LIU Jia

26 March 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEBEYmR DI

FINANCIAL RESULT

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s
profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company and
revenue amounted to approximately RMB37.3 million (2018:
approximately RMB36.6 million) and approximately RMB71.3
million (2018: approximately RMB61.7 million), respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of property
leasing, property management and sales of properties held for
sale.

The Group’s profit attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
approximately RMB37.3 million (2018: approximately RMB36.6
million), which represented an increase of approximately 1.9%
as compared to last year. Despite the decrease in gross profit
and valuation gains on investment properties, the slight increase
in profit for the year was primarily due to the increase in other
net income as a result of the Group’s receipt of a one-time
non-recurring income and decrease in distribution costs and
administrative expenses. The Group’s revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2019 amounted to approximately RMB71.3
million (2018: approximately RMB61.7 million), which represented
an increase of approximately 15.6% as compared to last year.
The increase was mainly due to the non-recurring revenue
from sales of the residential properties. The basic earnings per
share for the year ended 31 December 2019 was approximately
RMBO0.08 (2018: RMBO0.08). Review of the individual business
segment of the Group is set out below.

PROPERTY LEASING

The rental income from the Group’s property leasing business
was approximately RMB39.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: RMB43.5 million). The Group’s properties
are located in Chengdu, Sichuan province and Kunming,
Yunnan province in the PRC. As at 31 December 2019, the
Group’s property portfolio comprises of three commercial
buildings, namely Everbright Financial Center, part of Everbright
International Mansion and Ming Chang Building, with a total gross
floor area (“GFA”) of approximately 88,529 square meter (“sq.
m.”) and residential properties, namely part of Dufu Garden, with
a total GFA of approximately 440 sg.m. For the year ended 31
December 2019, the decrease in rental income was mainly due to
the increase in vacancy rate in the commercial buildings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EREBNRRDN (E)

Property Leasing Portfolio MEHEEHS

Rental income for
Average occupancy Average occupancy rate the year ended 31

As at 31 December 2019 rate (Commercial use)t" December
BE0BMALEE
R2019512A31R THRRE TRRAR(BERR) O EEEA 0N

GFA Commercial
owned  use GFA"

fikE EERE
BREER BEZERO 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
RMB RWB
(5q.m,) (sq.m) (million) (millon)
ARE NEE

(Frk)  (Fpk) (%) (%) (%) %  (F8x)  (BE%)

Commercial properties ~ BE4%
Fverbright Financial Center @~ A2 BF 12

No. 9 Wenwu Road, RPTEER
Qingyang District, Chengdu X B 95 33,357 30,175 68% 83% 75% 92% 203 248

Fverbright International Mansion @ ¥ A Bl 15 X @

No. 2 Caoshi Strest, RATEEE

Qingyang Distict, Chengdy~~ E 774058 819 28905 72% 71% 95% 95% 96 0

Ming Chang Buiding © REAEP

No. 28 Renmin Road Centra, EBEFRER

Wuhua District, Kunming AR 285 16,973 14,489 85% 85% 99% 99% 9.4 8.9
88,529 73,569 39.0 128

Residential property frEhg

Dufu Garden @ HELE?

1020, 11 2u, Long Zhua Cun, AT RER

Wu Hou District, Chengdu ENUR104 - 114 440 440 100% 100% 100% 100% 0.6 07
88,969 74,009 39.6 435

Note: P 5 -

Excluding warehouses and parking spaces which cannot be used (1) HIBRAAIARBPAE  EmEEHLEED
as offices, commercial spaces or residence. BEREFHEZTERE -

All the properties are located in the PRC and held under medium-  (2) FTEWEHURFTE - WP HRAERE -
term lease.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EREBNRRDN (&)

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICE

In order to maximize the value of its properties, the Group has
a professional property management team to provide property
management services for its properties, namely Everbright
Financial Center and Everbright International Mansion. Revenue
from the Group’s entirety property management services
was approximately RMB15.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: RMB18.3 million). During the year, the
decrease in revenue from property management services
was due to the decrease in the non-recurring value-added
property management services income. Total GFA under the
Group’s management was approximately 69,216 sqg.m. for the
year ended 31 December 2019, representing a decrease of
approximately 7.0% as compared to the last year (2018: 74,406
sg.m.).

SALES OF PROPERTIES

The Group’s residential properties are located at Dufu
Garden, Chengdu, Sichuan province in the PRC. As at 31
December 2019, two of the units had been sold at proceeds of
approximately RMB16.2 million (2018: Nil).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties mainly consist of land and
buildings which are owned or held under leasehold interest to
earn rental income and / or for capital appreciation. As at 31
December 2019, the total value of the investment properties
was RMB922.4 million (31 December 2018: RMB900.9 million).
The valuation gain on investment properties for the year ended
31 December 2019 amounted to approximately RMB26.4 million
(2018: approximately RMB33.8 million), representing a decrease
of approximately RMB7.4 million as compared to last year. The
decrease indicates the slow down of property market in the
PRC.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
The Group’s properties held for sale consists of wholly-owned
residential properties located at Dufu Garden, 10 Zu, 11 Zu,

Long Zhua Cun, Wu Hou District, Chengdu, Sichuan province in
the PRC, with an aggregate GFA of approximately 880 sqg. m.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESmRD I (§)

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to 2020, the world’s political and economic
environment will be highly uncertain. There will be greater
changes while the growth rate of the global economy is
forecasted to decline, leading to severe downward pressure
for China. Intensity of adjustments and fine-tuning of national
economic policies may increase. Nevertheless, the trend that
China’s economy will grow positively in the long run remains
unchanged. The PRC Government adheres to the principle of
“seeking further development amid stability” and will strive to
stabilize the macro-economy and monetary policy in China. As
the supply from domestic real estate market is in off-season and
the growth in total sales amount slows down, it is expected that
adjustments in policies initiatives will effectively and gradually
raise the market demand and the overall operation of the real
estate market will remain steady and affirmative.

Through continuous economic structual adjustment as well as
furthering the policy of reform and opening in China, the office
occupancy rates in urban areas of Chengdu and Kunming
shall remain stable. To uphold the standard of the property
management business and market competitiveness, the Group
will enhance the strategic advantages by flexibly adjusting its
existing strategies for commercial leases and ameliorating its
overall risk management. Also, the Group will actively improve
the quality of its services, be customer-oriented, optimize the
structure of the Group’s self-owned assets and the system of
quality control. The Group will strive to uphold the excellent
and stable relationship with its long-term customers to assure
certain and substantial recurring income, operating profits plus
high occupancy rates.

Meanwhile, the Group will continue to develop a strong
cooperation development policy with China Everbright Group,
utilise the synergy effects in identifying quality investment
projects in China and effectively connect to its potential
customers. The Group will further control its operational costs
strictly, in addition to expand its new businesses to promote
future sustainable gains and maintain reasonable liquidity.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EREBNRRDN (&)

Since early 2020, the epidemic of Coronavirus Disease 2019
(referred to as “COVID-19”) has gained extensive attention
in the PRC and even internationally. In view of the current
continuous spread of COVID-19, the management team as well
as the business unit of the Group located in Mainland, have
strictly followed the requirements of local government authorities
to strengthen the material arrangement of epidemic prevention
plus control, and formulated relevant emergency plans to widely
promote and effectively implement epidemic precaution and
control measures, in order to exert its best effort to secure
public health and society.

Looking forward, the work on epidemic prevention and control
is gradually achieving results, the Group is confident that the
Chinese government and people can combat and overcome
this battle in the near future. There will be no change in the
positive development of the PRC economy in long run. The
Group will endeavour to adhere its strategic position in investing
in commercial buildings, prudently and optimistically explore
potential overseas markets and expand its business by seeking
business opportunities in markets such as London, the United
Kingdom to improve the Group’s corporate competitiveness
through balancing its domestic and overseas investments
portfolio. Furthermore, to enrich the Group’s property portfolio
by acquiring properties which have a healthy net initial return
and good prospect for commercial leasing with a view to benefit
the shareholders as a whole.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The total equity of the Group as at 31 December 2019
was approximately RMB919.9 million (31 December 2018:
approximately RMB879.1 million). As at 31 December 2019, the
Group maintained cash and cash equivalents of approximately
RMB201.3 million (31 December 2018: approximately RMB181.3
million). The Group’s net current assets was approximately
RMB184.3 million as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018:
approximately RMB166.7 million). The Group had current assets
of approximately RMB214.7 million as at 31 December 2019
(31 December 2018: approximately RMB203.8 million). The
increase of current assets was mainly due to the sale proceeds
received from the disposal of properties during the year. The
Group had current liabilities of RMB30.4 million (31 December
2018: approximately RMB37.2 million). The decrease of current
liabilities was mainly due to the decrease in listing expenses
payable and accrued payroll and other benefits.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESmRD I (§)

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flow and bank loan in the PRC. As at 31
December 2019, the Group had an outstanding bank loan of
RMB20.5 million (31 December 2018: RMB26.5 million). The
bank loan as at 31 December 2019 was secured by the Group’s
investment properties. Particulars of loan of the Group as at
31 December 2019 are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group’s gearing ratio is measured by the total interest-
bearing borrowings divided by total equity and multiplied by
100%. As at 31 December 2019, the gearing ratio was 2.2%
(81 December 2018: 3%). The Group has implemented certain
loan management policies which include close monitoring of the
gearing ratio and any changes in interest rates.

The long-term funding and working capital required by the
Group are primarily derived from income generated from core
business operations and bank loan. The Group’s liquidity
position was well-managed in this year.

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents that its management considered adequate
to finance its operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flow. The management also monitors the Group’s net
current assets / liabilities and the utilization of borrowings
to ensure efficient use of the available banking facilities and
compliance with the loan covenants.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

The Group’s transactions and monetary assets as well as
liabilities are principally denominated in RMB. The management
of the Group is of the opinion that the Group has not
experienced any material difficulties or effects on its operations
or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in currency exchange rates
during the year ended 31 December 2019. Therefore, the Group
did not engage in any hedging activities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no contingent liability
(2018: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEESmRD I (K)

INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF MAJOR CUSTOMERS &
SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s revenue (excluding interest
and dividend income) for the year ended 31 December 2019
attributable to the major customers of the Group were as
follows:

Percentage of total revenue of the Group
141%
38.1%

The largest customer
Five largest customers in aggregate

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the major customers noted above.

Due to the nature of the business of the Group, the Group does
not have any major suppliers.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There was no material change in the capital structure of the
Company during the year, and the Company’s capital included
ordinary shares and other reserves.

PLANS FOR MATERIAL CAPITAL INVESTMENTS

The Group plans to invest in capacity expansion and pursue
suitable investment projects to capitalize the potential growth
of the Group’s business in the coming years in the manner set
out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
in the prospectus of the Company dated 29 December 2017
(“Prospectus”). Such source of funding will be primarily from
the external resources.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

There were no significant investment held, nor was there any

material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures during the reporting period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESmRD I (§)

NON-ADJUSTING EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Since early 2020, the COVID-19 has spread across the PRC and
other countries and it has affected the business and economic
activities of the Group to some extent. The Group could
possibly be affected by the temporary waivers of rentals offered
to existing tenants and difficulty in sourcing new tenants due to
the short-term economic slowdown.

Given the continuous spread of the disease, the Board
considered it is impracticable to estimate the financial impact
to the Group as at the date of this annual report. The Board will
closely monitor the development of the COVID-19 and continue
to evaluate its impact on the business, the financial position
and operating results of the Group. The related impacts will be
reflected in the Group’s 2020 interim and annual consolidated
financial statements.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

The outstanding bank loan of RMB20.5 million as at 31
December 2019 was secured by Everbright International
Mansion with an aggregate GFA of approximately 38,082 sqg.m.
As at 31 December 2019, the fair value of the pledged assets
amounted to approximately RMB354.8 million (31 December
2018: approximately RMB340.1 million).

BRERRFEARER

E120204F F H] LA 2k 201978 ik 75 & 7% &
PREEEMBERELE WE—TFERE L
VETAEBRMNEBRRLCETZY A&
BRI AR EREERAREA
HEREEERARCHEE LB URBEHHE

Py -

ERAREEEL EFTEeRARAE
KOG EEHASENY KT EBET
MER  -EF2 KRV ER2019E KK
SHRNERE THETHEYAEEE
HoMBERAREEEENTE - A
2 IR MLTE AN & B 1920204 A H R
BHREMBmEF -

AEBMEEERNA

R2019F12A31B  REEBRITE R A
R #20.58 & T A 42 1 28 [ 1& 438,082
FHARE K KEBKEEER - 12019
F12A318 - EEHEEN AR EBEOAR
A R ¥354.88 & L (2018F12A31H : 4
ARBE3401BET) ©

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 F3

15



16

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EREBNRRDN (&)

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The net proceeds from the global offering on 16 January 2018
(“Listing Date”) after deducting share issuance expenses
and listing expenses (“Net Proceeds”) was approximately
RMB116.1 million. Up to 31 December 2019, the Group had
used approximately RMB6.9 million (2018: RMB4.9 million) of
Net Proceeds for the purposes as set out in the Prospectus.

LR EREFEAR

R2018F1A16B(EH B H#A) &k 5 & Bk
BENMGRIBFR(EHNBRRMNZEITH
TRETADTREREFEDNAA
RE1161B8 & T - H £20194F12H31H -
AEBEHAMSHNEFENHARKG.9
BEL(018F  ARBA4OB B L) AE
HBEREREMNRARE -

Unutilised Net

Deduct: Amount Proceeds
utilised up to as at
31 December 31 December
Net Proceeds 2019 2019
R20194F
H B ZE2019%F 12831HH
1283181 REA
FREREFH EHREH BRI FHE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ABBF T ARETF T
(A) B) ©)=A—-B)
Acquisition of properties in REE (5B )
the major cities of the BEEH T
United Kingdom (“U.K.”) lgi27/ES 92,904 628 92,276
Upgrade in building facilities ~ 74k 2R &~
and / or renovating the B AREED
properties of the Group IS 11,613 2,125 9,488
General corporate and —REER
working capital BEES 11,613 4,140 7,473
Total st 116,130 6,893 109,237

As at 31 December 2019, the unutilised Net Proceeds was
approximately RMB109.2 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EEESmRD I (§)

The Group is performing market research and liaising with
property agents to acquire properties that fit the Group’s
selection criteria or development strategies. During the
reporting period, the Group conducted site visits on a
number of properties in London and was in negotiations of
their acquisitions. Due to the uncertainty in U.K. market,
the acquisition did not materialize. The Group still considers
investment in the U.K. market would provide a stable and
favourable rate of return to the Group and will look for
investment opportunities in commercial properties in the U.K. to
further broaden its property portfolio outside the PRC.

The Group has been implementing its renovation plan since
late 2017 in different stages. Since the average occupancy
rates of the Group’s commercial properties were at a relatively
satisfactory level in 2018 and 2019, the management of the
Group will closely monitor the vacancy rate and the condition of
the Group’s properties to conduct renovation work in order to
maintain its competitiveness in the market, meet the needs of
existing and potential tenants, minimize disruption to the existing
tenants, maintain as well as further improve occupancy rates
and increase average rent by attracting quality tenants.

Going forward in 2020, the Directors will closely monitor the
outbreak of COVID-19 and its impact to the global economy to
evaluate its business objective and to apply the unutilised Net
Proceeds according to the changing market condition to create
greater value for the shareholders.

The unutilised Net Proceeds will be applied in the manner
consistent with that mentioned in the Prospectus. The Directors
considered that it would be in the best interest of the Group to
deposit such funds temporarily in the bank accounts to earn
interest income and are not aware of any material change to the
proposed use of the proceeds as at the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ emoluments are subject to the recommendations
of the remuneration committee. The emoluments are
determined with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities
and performances and the results of the Group. No director is
involved in deciding his own remuneration.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EREBNRRDN (&)

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed a total of 138
full-time employees (2018: 134 employees) and appointed 8
Directors. Total staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments, of
the Group were approximately RMB17.6 million (2018: RMB18.7
million). The Group reviews the remuneration policies and
packages on a regular basis and makes necessary adjustment
commensurate with the remuneration level in the industry. In
addition to a basic monthly salary, year-end bonuses are offered
to staff with outstanding performance. No share option has
been granted during the year.

The same remuneration policy is applicable to the fixing of
Directors’ remuneration. Apart from market benchmarks, the
Group considers individual performance and contributions and
the affordability of the Group in determining the remuneration
for each Director.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with
its employees or disruption to its operations due to labour
disputes nor has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment
and retention of experienced staff. The Group maintains a good
relationship with its employees.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESRESNEEBER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. LIU Jia

Aged 55, is an Executive Director, Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer, the Chairman of the Investment
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of
the Company. Mr. Liu joined the Group in November 1991 and
serves as the Director and Chairman in two of the Company’s
subsidiaries, namely Growing China Limited (“Growing China”)
and Metallic Field Limited (“Metallic Field”). He is also the
Director of several subsidiaries, including Square Field Limited
(“Square Field”), First Step Corporation Limited (“First Step”) and
Everbright Grand China Assets Management Limited. He acts as
the Director of certain subsidiaries of China Everbright Group,
a controlling shareholder of the Company which directly holds
100% shares in China Everbright Holdings Company Limited
(“CE Hong Kong”).

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Liu served as the Director
and Deputy General Manager of Capital Century Company
Limited (“Capital Century”) from November 1991 to December
2004, during which he was mainly responsible for the day-to-
day operations and property investment and management of
investment projects. Mr. Liu was promoted to be the General
Manager of Capital Century in December 2004, upon which he
became responsible for the overall operational management
and strategic development. He has been the Chairman of
Capital Century since August 2014. From August 1997 to March
2000, he served as the Deputy General Manager in the real
estate department of CE Hong Kong and was responsible for
the real estate business operations and management of CE
Hong Kong’s local and overseas property development and
property investment projects. He re-joined CE Hong Kong as
the Executive Director and Deputy General Manager in August
2014. As the Executive Director of CE Hong Kong, Mr. Liu was
involved in several property investment projects, such as the
acquisition of Everbright Centre (formerly known as Dah Sing
Finance Center), which is located in Wan Chai, Hong Kong. Mr.
Liu served as the Assistant Manager in China Everbright Bank
Co., Ltd. from April to December 2000 and was responsible for
assisting the manager to handle the bank’s business.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued])

ESREREEBEBER (8)

Mr. Liu obtained a diploma of industrial and civil architecture
in Jinling Vocational University* (& B % X2) in July 1986
and a postgraduate certificate of architecture, economics and
management in Southeast University (3 F A in August 1992.
He has been a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors
since July 2016.

Mr. LIN Zimin (formerly Lin Siping)

Aged 61, is an Executive Director, General Manager, as well
as the member of the Nomination Committee and Investment
Committee of the Company. Mr. Lin joined the Group in
August 2010 and serves as the Director in several subsidiaries,
including Growing China Limited, Brighter Win Limited, Metallic
Field Limited, Square Field Limited, First Step Corporation
Limited and Everbright Grand China Assets Management
Limited. He also acts as the Chairman of Chengdu Everbright
Property Management Co., Ltd., the General Manager and
Chairman of Chengdu Everbright Finance Centre Development
Co., Ltd, Chengdu Everbright International Mansion Co., Ltd,
and Chengdu Sing Kong City Real Estate Co., Ltd.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lin had worked in the Fujian
Province International Culture Exchange Center from 1985 to
2010. He served as the principal section member and Deputy
Division Chief since January 1985 and September 1989
respectively, during which periods he was responsible for
international economic and cultural exchange and investment
solicitation. From June 1995 to July 2010, he had served as the
Division Chief and had been responsible for the coordination
of international economic, cultural and scientific exchange. Mr.
Lin joined Capital Century as an Assistant General Manager in
August 2010 and has been responsible for the development of
properties and management of the investment properties of the
Group. He was promoted to be the Deputy General Manager
and General Manager of Capital Century in February 2012 and
August 2014 respectively.

Mr. Lin obtained a bachelor’s degree in physics in Fujian Normal
University (& & & & X £) in January 1982.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

ESREREEBER(8)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. TSE Hang Mui

Aged 61, is a Non-Executive Director. Ms. Tse joined the Group
in June 2017.

Ms. Tse joined CE Hong Kong as a secretary in the general
affairs division in September 1987 and was promoted to
secretary to Vice President in December 1988. In October 1989,
Ms. Tse was seconded to China Everbright Medicine Company
Limited, a subsidiary of CE Hong Kong, as secretary and
Assistant Manager. She was promoted to Deputy Administrative
Manager and the Administration Manager in the general
management office of CE Hong Kong in December 1993 and
December 1994 respectively. From April 1997 to February 2014,
she served as an Assistant General Manager in the finance
management department of CE Hong Kong, in which she was
promoted to Deputy General Manager in February 2014. Her
major duties in the finance management department included
treasury management, financial analysis, capital budgeting and
portfolio valuation. Prior to joining CE Hong Kong, Ms. Tse had
been a secretary in Drs Anderson & Partners from May 1982
to July 1987, during which she mainly assisted in running the
accounts office and undertaking the general secretarial work.
She is also a Director of certain subsidiaries of China Everbright
Group.

Ms. Tse obtained a diploma in management studies jointly
awarded by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and the
Hong Kong Management Association in September 1993, a
bachelor degree of commerce in management and marketing
in Curtin University of Technology, Australia in April 1996,
a master degree of arts in human resources management
in Macquarie University, Australia in October 1997, and a
postgraduate diploma in professional accounting in the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in November 2000. Ms. Tse
became a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (formerly known as the Hong Kong Society of
Accountants) in April 2002 and was admitted as a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in June 2007.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued])

ESREREEBEBER (8)

Mr. LI Yinzhong

Aged 55, is a Non-Executive Director and a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company. Mr. Li joined the Group in June
2017.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li served as the Financial
Manager of the Shenzhen office of China Everbright International
Trust Co., Ltd* (Bl 3 KB B 5 58 & R 2 &) between
August 1993 and May 1998. He had then served in the audit
department of China Everbright Group from May 1998 to April
2000. Mr. Li joined CE Hong Kong as the Assistant General
Manager in the financial management department in April 2000.
Between March 2003 and January 2017, he had served as
the Deputy General Manager in the investment management
department of CE Hong Kong. He has also been serving as the
General Manager of the audit department of CE Hong Kong
since January 2008. Since January 2017, he has served as the
General Manager of the audit department and the person-in-
charge of the investment management department of CE Hong
Kong. Since April 2017, Mr. Li has been appointed as a Director
of CE Hong Kong. He is also a Director of certain subsidiaries of
China Everbright Group.

Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics in Zhongnan
University of Economics and Law (/1 /8 8 4% B % K &) (formerly
known as Zhongnan University of Economics (# Fg Bf £ K
E2)) in July 1987. Mr. Li has been a non-practicing member
of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
November 2004.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

ESRERERERE(B)
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BIEAITES
Mr. TSOI David BEREXE
Aged 72, is an Independent Non-Executive Director and also the  725% * B EHITESE W H AAR
Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of Investment B EZEE€@ X FMEEEESKE - ?f—?
Committee of the Company. Mr. Tsoi joined the Group in Jc4&R2017F 128 MAKREE -
December 2017.
Mr. Tsoi has been a Director of Alliott, Tsoi CPA Limited since E2006F1H# » EhE A ET HEE S HAD

January 2006. He has been a certified public accountant since
September 1981 with over 30 years of experience in accounting,
auditing and financial management. He is also qualified as and
has been:

(@)

a certified public accountant registered at the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants;

a certified tax advisor registered at the Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong;

a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since September 1981;

a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales since May 2015;

a member of the Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors since April 1987 and a fellow since December
2015;

a fellow of the CPA Australia since November 2009; and

a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of
British Columbia, Canada since June 2015.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued])

ESREREEBEBER (8)

He has also been a Non-Executive Director of the following
listed companies, all of which are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”):

(@)

(h)

Loto Interactive Limited (formerly known as “Melcolot
Limited”) (stock code: 8198) from October 2001 to July
2017;

Enviro Energy International Holdings Ltd (stock code: 1102)
from July 2008 to June 2017;

Universal Technologies Holdings Limited (stock code: 1026)
since June 2013;

Guru Online (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8121) since
May 2014;

VPower Group International Holdings Limited (stock code:
1608) since October 2016;

Anxin-China Holdings Ltd (stock code: 1149) from February
2017 to May 2017;

Green International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2700)
since June 2017; and

Tianli Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 117) since
August 2017.

Mr. Tsoi obtained a master’s degree of business administration
in the University of East Asia, Macau in October 1986.
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ESREREEBER(8)

Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham (formerly Razack Ebrahim
Abdul and Abraham Razack)

Aged 74, is an Independent Non-Executive Director and also the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Shek joined the Group
in December 2017. Mr. Shek obtained a bachelor’'s degree of
arts and a diploma in education in the University of Sydney
in May 1969 and March 1970, respectively. He became the
honorary fellow of Lingnan University, the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology and the University of Hong Kong in
November 2008, June 2014 and September 2016, respectively.
In addition to his achievements in the academic field, Mr.
Shek has also earned certain honorary titles in various ambits.
He was appointed as Justice of the Peace in July 1995 and
awarded the Silver Bauhinia Star and Gold Bauhinia Star in
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region 2007 and 2013
Honours Lists, respectively. He has also been a member of the
Advisory Committee Board of the Independent Commission
Against Corruption since January 2017. Mr. Shek is currently a
member of the Legislative Council for the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, the Court of The Hong Kong University
of Science & Technology, the Court and the Council of The
University of Hong Kong and a Non-Executive Director of
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority of Hong Kong.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued])

ESREREEBEBER (8)

Mr. Shek currently serves as an Independent Non-Executive
Director in the following listed companies and collective
investment schemes, all of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange: (a) Paliburg Holdings Limited (stock code: 0617)
since July 2002; (b) Lifestyle International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1212) since March 2004; (c) Chuang’s Consortium
International Limited (stock code: 0367) since May 2004; (d)
NWS Holdings Limited (stock code: 0659) since September
2004; (e) Country Garden Holdings Company Limited (stock
code: 2007) since March 2007; (f) MTR Corporation Limited
(stock code: 0066) since December 2007; (g) SJM Holdings
Limited (stock code: 0880) since January 2008; (h) Chuang’s
China Investments Limited (stock code: 0298) since April 2008;
() Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 0047) since
April 2008; (j) ITC Properties Group Limited (stock code: 0199)
since September 2010; (k) China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1313) since January 2011; (I) Lai Fung
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1125) since December 2012; (m)
Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited (stock code: 0120)
since December 2013; (n) Goldin Financial Holdings Limited
(stock code: 0530) since January 2017; (o) Regal Portfolio
Management Limited, the manager of Regal Real Estate
Investment Trust (stock code: 1881) since November 2006;
and (p) Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited, the manager of
Champion Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code: 2778) since
May 2006; and (g) CSI Properties Limited (stock code: 0497)
since July 2018.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

ESREREEBER(8)

He previously served as an Independent Non-Executive Director
in the following listed companies, all of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange:

(@)

PT International Development Corporation Limited (formerly
known as “ITC Corporation Limited”) (stock code: 0372)
from June 2006 to March 2017;

Dorsett Hospitality International Limited (previous stock
code: 2266) (withdrawn from listing on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange on October 17, 2015) from September
2010 to March 2016;

TUS International Limited (stock code: 0872) from June
2015 to January 2017; and

Midas International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1172)
from August 2001 to January 2018.

Mr. Shek had been a Non-Executive Director and a member of
the Audit Committee of The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation
Limited, a public company incorporated in Hong Kong, from
December 2004 to April 2016.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued])

ESREREEBEBER (8)

Mr. LEE Jor Hung

Aged 65, is an Independent Non-Executive Director and also
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Nomination Committee and Investment Committee of the
Company. Mr. Lee joined the Group in December 2017.

Mr. Lee is currently the Chairman of DL Brokerage Limited,
in which he has been licensed as the Dealing Director and
Responsible Officer by the Securities and Futures Commission
of Hong Kong (“SFC”) since August 1993 and October 2003,
respectively, under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“*SFO”) to carry on Type 1 (i.e. dealing in securities) and Type
4 (i.e. advising on securities) regulated activities. He has also
served as the Director and the permanent honorary president of
Hong Kong Securities Association Ltd. since August 1991 and
September 1999, respectively.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lee had served as a Non-
Executive Director of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited (stock code: 0388), CIG Yangtze Ports PLC (stock code:
8233) and Sinofortune Financial Holdings Limited (formerly
known as “Stockmartnet Holdings Limited”) (stock code: 8123),
all of which being listed on the Stock Exchange, from April
2000 to April 2006, September 2005 to November 2011, and
May 2000 to May 2005, respectively. He had also served as
the Director of Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute
from December 2003 to December 2008 and become a fellow
member and senior fellow since November 2012 and September
2014, respectively.

Mr. Lee had served as a member of the Advisory Committee
and a member of the process review panel to the SFC, from
June 1999 to May 2001 and from November 2006 to October
2012, respectively. In addition, he had also served as a member
of Disciplinary Panel A and Investigation Panel A of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, from February
2005 to January 2011 and from February 2011 to January
2015, respectively. He had also been a member of the Barrister
Disciplinary Tribunal Panel from September 2005 to August
2015.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

ESREREEBER(8)

Mr. Lee obtained a bachelor's degree of commerce in the
University of Alberta, Canada in May 1977 and a master’s
degree of business administration in the University of East Asia,
Macau in October 1986. He was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia
Star in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region 2000
Honours List.

Ms. YU Pauline Wah Ling

Aged 72, is an Independent Non-Executive Director and also
a member of the Remuneration Committee and Investment
Committee of the Company. Ms. Yu joined the Group in
December 2017. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Yu had served
as the lettings assistant and later as Assistant Manager of The
Hongkong Land Company Limited (formerly The Hongkong Land
Investment & Agency Co., Ltd.) from August 1971 to July 1981.
She had also worked in Hysan Development Company Limited
(stock code: 0014), a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
since 1981. In November 1991, she was appointed as a Director
of Hysan Development Company and was responsible for the
strategic development of the company’s property business. Ms.
Yu retired as an Executive Director in May 2008.

Ms. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree of arts in the University of
Hong Kong in October 1971.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. LIU Jia

Mr. Liu is the chairman of the Board and one of the Executive
Directors, is also the Chief Executive Officer, the Chairman of
the Investment Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Board. For details of his qualifications, see “—
Biographies of Directors and Senior Management — Executive
Directors”.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued])

ESREREEBEBER (8)

Mr. LIN Zimin

One of the Executive Directors, is also the General Manager
and a member of the Nomination Committee and Investment
Committee of the Board. For details of his qualifications, see “—
Biographies of Directors and Senior Management — Executive
Directors”.

Mr. LEE Wai Kwong

An Assistant General Manager of the Company. Mr. Lee joined
Capital Century in December 2007 and has been responsible for
the financial management in the group of Capital Century since
then. He currently serves as a Director in certain subsidiaries
of the Company. He had also served as a Director of the
Company from November 2010 to June 2017. Mr. Lee obtained
a bachelor degree in business (major in accounting) in Edith
Cowan University in Perth, Australia in 2000. Mr. Lee has been a
certified public accountant of CPA Australia since October 2013.
He is responsible for the financial management and project
investment of the Company.

Ms. TANG Yuk Ha

The company secretary of the Company. Ms. Tang joined the
Group in May 2018. She is an associate member of both The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators) in United Kingdom. She has
over 15 years of experience in the fields of company secretarial
and compliance. Ms. Tang obtained a Bachelor of Arts in
Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEEBRSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to maintaining good
corporate governance standards. The Board believes that good
corporate governance standards are essential in providing
a framework for the Group to safeguard the interests of
shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability. The Group’s governance principles and practices
are reviewed and revised regularly as appropriate to reflect
the ever changing regulatory requirements and corporate
governance development.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
as its own code of corporate governance since the Listing Date.
The Company has complied with all applicable code provisions
of the CG Code set out therein, except for CG Code provision
A.2.1, throughout the period from the Listing Date up to the date
of this report.

Pursuant to the CG Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of the chairman and the chief executive of the Company
should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and the chief executive of the Company should be clearly
established and set out in writing.

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer (“CEQ”)
of the Company are not separated and are performed by the
same individual. Mr. Liu acted as both the chairman and the
CEO since the Listing Date, and accordingly, there is no written
terms setting out the division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive. Since Mr. Liu has a wealth of
experience in real estate investment, operations and investment
projects and has been working for various subsidiaries of
China Everbright Group since 1991, the Directors consider that
vesting the roles of the chairman of the Board and the CEO of
the Company in Mr. Liu is beneficial to the management and
business development of the Group and will provide strong and
consistent leadership to the Group.

As the Board currently comprises two executive Directors
(including Mr. Liu), two non-executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors and therefore the Directors
are of the view that there is a fairly strong independence
element in its composition.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code
of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having
made specific enquiry with each of the Directors, the Company
has received confirmations from all Directors that they have
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model
Code since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required
from a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company,
and whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing
them.

Board Composition

The Board of the Company currently comprises the following
Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jia (Chairman & CEO)
Mr. Lin Zimin

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Tse Hang Mui
Mr. Li Yinzhong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tsoi David
Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham

Mr. Lee Jor Hung
Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EXRELRS ()

Note:

(1)  Appointment became effective on 16 January 2018.

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 19 to 30 of this annual report.

There are no relationship (including financial, business, family
or other material/relevant relationship(s)) among members of the
Board.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

The Board meets regularly and, involving active participation,
either in person or through electronic means of communication,
of a majority of Directors. Under code provision A.1.1 of the CG
Code, the Board shall meet regularly and at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals. During the financial
year ended 31 December 2019 (the “reporting period”), 5 Board
meetings and 2 general meetings were held.

The Directors’ attendance of the Board meetings and general
meetings during the reporting period is set out as follows:

Name of Directors

EENE

Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Liu Jia R=haE
Mr. Lin Zimin WE G kA&
Non-executive Directors FBITES
Ms. Tse Hang Mui HAEM L
Mr. Li Yinzhong FIRPELE

Independent Non-executive Directors B HITES

Mr. Tsoi David BEARMERAE
Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham AR mEE
Mr. Lee Jor Hung TlEERAE
Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling TERLZ L

P & -
(1) ZER2018F1A16AFHBAER -

EENEEAEMENAFREIOEI0EE
ERERELEERE] & -

EEEKRE ZRRBIEMBER(BREMF
% KRS HEMER BB E) -

EZEERRESHFELTH

EEeTHERERBLESHIHFE -
LBEBEMETBAFERBGRSHE R
BOEEBEARTAHNTAIEXEALUE
ExgRATHeR(ELBFRTIA
RKOTZE—IR) - KRB £2019F12A31H
W BRFE(RESHMBD  BRT5KE
EEEFENM2OAREAE -

EENBEHENETEERALREK
SHEXRHIMT:

Attendance/Number of meetings
during the reporting period
HERE RBEEHBETEEREY
Board Meeting General Meeting

Exggl BERAE
5/5 2/2
5/5 2/2
5/5 2/2
4/5 2/2
5/5 2/2
5/5 2/2
5/5 2/2
5/5 2/2
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The Company is obliged to comply with the CG Code and will
take appropriate arrangements for holding at least 4 regular
Board meetings as well as a meeting between the Chairman
and Independent Non-executive directors in the forthcoming
year.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The Company does not segregate the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer and Mr. Liu Jia
currently holds both positions, as explained in the paragraph
headed “Corporate Governance Practices” in this report.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the period from Listing Date up to 31 December 2019,
the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the
Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-executive Directors in respect of
his/her independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on
annual independence confirmations, the Company is of the view
that all Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-
executive Directors) of the Company are appointed for a specific
term of three years, subject to renewal after the expiry of the
current term. The Company’s articles of association (“Articles of
Association”) provides that all Directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment.
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Under the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The retiring Directors
shall be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities of the Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including Non-executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

The Independent Non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
taken against Directors arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction on the
first occasion on his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. All Directors confirmed that they
had complied with code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code during
the reporting period, that all Directors had participated in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skKills.

The Company has distributed materials and updated information
on the latest developments in the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements during the reporting period.

In addition, relevant reading materials including legal and

regulatory updates have been provided to the Directors for their
reference and studying.
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The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31
December 2019 are summarized as follows:

H EZ2019F12A31HIEFEEEE I E
BEENT

Type of
Directors Training/ete
EsnR B 81| 5g B i
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Liu Jia BzkhE A B
Mr. Lin Zimin MEH L& B, C
Non-Executive Directors HITESE
Ms. Tse Hang Mui HAEELL L A, B
Mr. Lin Yinzhong FIRPEAE B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BAUFHITESE
Mr. Tsoi David BEANHMEEAE A, B, C
Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham ARmEE A, B
Mr. Lee Jor Hung TR E A, B, C
Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling TERLZ L A
Note: B 5 -
Types of Training 1% 5 45 Y

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

C:  Attending site visit(s) arranged by the Company

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Investment Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
are established with specific written terms of reference which
deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to
shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
Independent Non-executive Directors.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Li
Yinzhong, Non-executive Director, Mr. Tsoi David, Independent
Non-executive Director, and Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham,
Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Tsoi David is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the reporting
period. The Audit Committee met with the management and
the Company’s external auditors (including but not limited to)
to review the Company’s accounting principles and practices,
important accounting estimates and matters, and the external
auditor’s audit plan; reviewed and discussed the financial report
matters, including review of the final audited financial results
for the year ended 31 December 2018 and unaudited interim
financial results for the six months ended 30 June 2019. To
ensure the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management
and internal control functions, the Audit Committee reviewed,
discussed and monitored the works of risk management
and internal control in year 2019. The Audit Committee also
considered the proposed change of auditors from KPMG to
Ernst & Young for the financial year ending 31 December 2020.

The committee members’ attendance of the Audit Committee
during the reporting period is set out as follows:

Mr. Tsoi David (Chairman) BRI E(EE)
Mr. Li Yinzhong FIRPESE
Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham AFR T AE

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in
reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of
the internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of
external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of
the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Liu Jia, Executive Director, Mr. Lee Jor Hung,
Independent Non-executive Director, and Ms. Yu Pauline Wah
Ling, Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Lee Jor Hung is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the
reporting period. The Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration packages of individual executives, non-executives
directors and members of senior management. The aforesaid
approved matters and review were reported and recommended
to the Board.

The committee members’ attendance of the Remuneration
Committee during the reporting period is set out as follows:

Mr. Lee Jor Hung (Chairman) TEEEE(ERE)
Mr. Liu Jia £l
Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling TERLL

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management, the remuneration policy and structure for all
Directors and senior management; and establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and
structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
remuneration of the senior management by bands for the year
ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:
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Attendance/Number of meetings
during the reporting period
HERE NREHBE
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11

11

1/1
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Number of individuals

A"
Exceeding RMB1,000,000 2 i@ A K #1,000,0007T 2
Not exceeding RMB1,000,000 i i@ A K #1,000,0007T 2
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Lin Zimin, Executive Director, Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham,
Independent Non-executive Director, and Mr. Lee Jor Hung,
Independent Non-executive Director. Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee held 1 meeting during the reporting
period. The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size
and composition (including the sexual gender, skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board and assessed the independence
of independent non-executive Directors, discussed and
made recommendation to the board of Directors to adopt the
nomination policy and the re-election of all retiring directors at
the forthcoming 2020 annual general meeting of the Company.
The aforesaid approved matters and review were reported and
recommended to the Board.

The committee members’ attendance of the Nomination
Committee during the reporting period is set out as follows:

Mr. Shek Lai Him Abraham (Chairman) 45 4& 5 55 4 (£ /&)
Mr. Lin Zimin ME L&
Mr. Lee Jor Hung TR A

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment
of Directors, reviewing the policy on board diversity and
any measurable objectives for implementing such policy,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and succession planning of Directors, and assessing the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s board
diversity policy, a summary of such policy has been set out in
the section headed “Board Diversity Policy” of this report. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee consists of five members, two
Executive Directors namely Mr. Liu Jia and Mr. Lin Zimin and
three Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Lee Jor
Hung, Mr. Tsoi David and Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling. Mr. Liu Jia
is the chairman of the Investment Committee.

The Investment Committee held 1 meeting during the reporting
period. The Investment Committee reviewed and evaluated the
Company'’s investment portfolio and its performance.

The committee members’ attendance of the Investment
Committee during the reporting period is set out as follows:

Mr. Liu Jia (Chairman) BlmEkE(EE)

Mr. Lin Zimin MEGEE
Mr. Lee Jor Hung TR E
Mr. Tsoi David BER#ERE
Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling FEBRLZ L

The principal duties of the Investment Committee include
reviewing and evaluating any investment projects proposed by
the Company, making recommendations to the Board on such
investment project, and also reviewing the annual investment
plan of the Company.

MEEFEEARE  REZBEEREE
ARREFEZTLBRRAMENESTS

ZTENSHFEARSEREZ  ZBEHN
MEHFRAREEETSZ 0L BE]—
- RHEZEBESHEEVLERTMEBT
EREETEL LA EHEEE T E
HETTEW
REZE®

RELZEemABKEAK IMABHR
TEBIEXAEMMEREER=R2E
NIERTEETEBRELELE  BERGELE
MTFERZL - BEXEAREZES
E

SERT-RE
PSS RN/ :

RBEEHHE REZE
#oWREZBEEEER
REHAREKRR -

REZEEeHENREHEMEE R
FIEAR

Attendance/Number of meetings
during the reporting period

HERE RNBEHE

ETEBNRE

1/

1/

11

1/

1/

REZEENTIERECEEHNNFMH

ZN/NEI g ZEH&ﬁEE B B

BRANEZSRZEBER  LEH
RRR 2 FERERE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 &3

41



42

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
EREORS (#)

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board had reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and
Written Employee Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness and conducts a review on an annual basis. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable (and not absolute) assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility to evaluate and
determine the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, establishing as
well as maintaining appropriate and effective risk management
plus internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined
authority for implementation by key business processes and
office functions, including project management, sales and
leasing, financial reporting, human resources and information
technology.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems

have been developed with the following principles, features and
processes:
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All divisions/departments conducted internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the business
of the Group and various aspects (including key operational
and financial processes, regulatory compliance and information
security). Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to
confirm that control policies are properly complied with by each
division/department.

The management, in coordination with division/department
heads, assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide
treatment plans, and monitor the risk management progress,
and reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on all
findings and the effectiveness of the systems.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management reported and reviewed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, for the year ended 31
December 2019, and considered that such systems are effective
and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial
reporting and staff qualifications, experiences and relevant
resources.

Whistleblowing procedures are in place to facilitate employees
of the Company to raise, in confidence, concerns about
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters of the Company.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which
provides a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers,
senior management and relevant employees in handling
confidential information, monitoring information disclosure and
responding to enquiries.

The Company is aware of the requirements under the applicable
Listing Rules and SFO and the overriding principle that inside
information should be announced as soon as reasonably
practicable after such information comes to the Company’s
attention unless it falls within any of the Safe Harbours
provisions under the SFO. The Company has a system in place
with established policies and procedures for complying with the
Inside Information disclosure requirements under the regulatory
regime.
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The Company has included in its code of conduct and staff
handbook a strict prohibition on the unauthorised disclosure or
use of confidential and inside information.

The Company does not have an internal audit function. Taking
into account the size, nature and complexity of the Group’s
business, the Board has sufficient capacity to oversee the
design and implementation of the risk management and internal
control system and to assess its effectiveness, and accordingly
there is no immediate need to set up an internal audit function
with the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2019.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 93 to
99.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
For the year ended 31 December 2019, KPMG received the

following remuneration from the Group in connection with the
provision of audit and non-audit services to the Group.
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COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company Secretaries are accountable to the Board for
ensuring that Board policy and procedures are followed and
Board activities are efficiently and effectively conducted.
During the reporting period, the joint company secretaries of
the Company were Mr. Lee Wai Kwong (“Mr. Lee”) and Ms. Ho
Wing Tsz Wendy (“Ms. Ho”). Ms. Ho, an executive director of
corporate services at Tricor Services Limited (an external service
provider), fulfiled the qualification requirements laid down in the
Listing Rules and the primary contact at the Company was Mr.
Lee. Ms. Ho confirmed that she has undertaken not less than
15 hours of relevant professional training during the reporting
period.

With effect from 1 January 2020, Mr. Lee and Ms. Ho have
resigned as joint company secretaries of the Company due
to change of work arrangements and Ms. Tang Yuk Ha
(“Ms. Tang”), a full-time employee of the Company, has been
appointed as company secretary of the Company. Ms. Tang
is an associate member of both The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute
in United Kingdom. Ms. Tang confirmed that she has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
reporting period.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted the following board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”).

The Board recognizes the benefit of having a diverse Board
to enhance the quality of its performance. A diverse Board
includes and makes good use of differences in the skills,
industry knowledge and experience, education, background and
other qualities of the Directors and does not discriminate on the
ground of race, age, gender, culture or religious belief.

The Nomination Committee has responsibility for reviewing and
reporting to the Board in relation to the Board diversity.

All the Board appointments will be considered by the Nomination
Committee and recommended to the Board for formal approval
based on the diversity perspectives.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
EXREBRS (&)

Selection of candidates for Board appointment will be based
on a range of diversity perspectives including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural/educational and professional background,
skills and experience.

The ultimate decision will be based on merit against objective
criteria and contribution that the candidate will bring to the
Board.

The Board will review and monitor from time to time the
implementation of Board Diversity Policy to ensure its
effectiveness and will at appropriate time set measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board.

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted the following board nomination policy
(the “Board Nomination Policy”).

Selection Criteria

The factor listed below shall be considered by the Nomination
Committee in selecting the candidates for directors:

character and integrity;

° achievements and professional experience that is beneficial
to the development of the Company;

° professional experience in real estate operations and other
related fields;

° potential time commitment;

° board diversity in all aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age (18 years old or above), cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;

° independence of the candidates (if applicable); and

° the term of service that the candidates have served for the
reappointment of the Independent Non-executive Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

TEEBRSE(E)

Nomination Procedures REERF

A. Nomination by the Nomination Committee A. HREBZESRSE

e The Nomination Committee shall review the structure, o IERZEC@BEZLEBEERTEES
size and composition (including the skills, professional MR ABEKEKBEERE =&
qualification, knowledge and experience) of the Board at XEK HMERLRIE)  XHE
least annually and make recommendation on any proposed B = NI /NG iR )
change to the Board to complement the Company’s EEEHNEHIRHES -
corporate strategy.

e The Nomination Committee can be assisted by external o (EHEEEFEIR AR A& HI
agencies and/or consultants in identifying potential WK, SKERBE -
candidates.

e The Nomination Committee may seek advice from the o ZEEEIEENEHEZTSTHET
Board members in recommending candidates or nominate REZEGANESTEHNEHAE
other candidates who are not nominated by the Board REEAE RIBZZESNHARBIT
members in appointing additional Directors or filling Board REVIIBEFTGHRERBHEM
vacancies. AEE o

e The Nomination Committee shall refer to the “Selection o IEZLZE€ELX2E[THEEL]
Criteria” to determine whether the proposed candidates FTEBRAEBERELRAERRKEANKA
are eligible and suitable to become Directors of the ARAREF  UTptmESTZRHE
Company and provide advice to the Board in this regard ER - NUftEEgERILELRER
for the Board to consider approving the appointment of BABRBBAANRESHEBENK
the proposed candidates as the Company’s Directors or RAREL2ERBARAIES -
recommending the proposed candidates to be elected as
the Company’s Directors in the General Meeting.

B. Nomination by the Shareholders B. HRERE

Shareholders may nominate candidates for election of the
Company’s Directors in accordance to the applicable rules of
the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association of the Company.
The specific procedures are set out in the “Procedures for
Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a Director” as
prepared and adopted by the Company from time to time.

The Nomination Committee is authorized by the Board to review
this policy from time to time to ensure its effectiveness and to
give advice to the Board on the proposed amendments for the
Board’s approval as necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
EXREBRS (&)

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the following dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”).

The Board will consider the following factors when considering
the proposed dividend payment and determining its amount:

(1) the current and future funding needs of the Company for
operations and business development;

(2) the market conditions from time to time;
(3) the Company's liquidity and financial position;

(4) the requirement of the Company‘s Articles of Association
and the relevant laws, regulations and rules applicable to
the Company;

(5) any banking or other funding covenants by which the
Company is bound;

(6) the solvency requirements of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong); and

(7) any other circumstances that the Board considers relevant.

The Board will review, discuss and revise the Dividend Policy
in accordance with the Company’s profit, financial needs and
other factors from time to time.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
announcement will be posted on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EXREBRS (&)

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Shareholders of the Company should follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in the laws of the Cayman Islands
and where applicable, the Articles of Association, for convening
a general meeting. The Articles of Association is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Shareholders of the Company should follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in the laws of the Cayman Islands
and where applicable, the Articles of Association, for circulating
a resolution for annual general meeting. The Articles of
Association is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Room 1302, 13th Floor, Bank of East Asia Harbour
View Centre, 56 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong)

(852) 2545 5256

inquiry@ebgca.com.hk

Fax:
Email:

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
EXRELRS (HE)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At
the annual general meeting, directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) are available to meet shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company’s memorandum and articles of association
(“M&A”) were amended and restated pursuant to special
resolutions of the Company passed on 15 December 2017
with effect from the Listing Date. There has been no change
to the M&A during the reporting period and a copy of the M&A
is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT

RE  TTE8REBRS

The Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report
2019 (the “Report”) of Everbright Grand China Assets Limited
(the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively
referred to as the “Group”) has been prepared in accordance
to the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the List of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
This is the third annual ESG Report published by the Group,
covering the operations of our headqguarters in Hong Kong and
property management services in Chengdu from 1 January to
31 December 2019 (the “reporting period”), which discloses
information on the Group’s management approach and
performance of relevant significant environmental and social
issues.28 The Board has the overall responsibility for our ESG
strategies and reporting, identifying, evaluating and managing
material ESG-related issues as well as reviewing progress made
against ESG-related goals and targets. The Board has reviewed
and approved the Report.

In the past year, the Group continued to take the responsibility
of promoting the Sustainable Development Goals (“SDGs”) of the
United Nations, actively integrated the concept of sustainable
development into the Group’s daily operations and strived to
create greater value for all stakeholders.

We welcome valuable comments and suggestions from all
sectors on this Report as well as our ESG performance.
If you have any comments, please contact us by email at
inquiry@ebgca.com.hk.

! Data of contractors and tenants are not reflected in this Report;

2 Apart from integral numbers, all data in this Report are rounded to
two decimal places; and
3 All intensity data in this Report cover our property management

services in Chengdu only. All intensities are calculated per sg.m. of
managed gross floor area (“GFA”).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

ENVIRONMENT
Prioritised SDGs:

1 hocawonies*| 13 ionoi

&

The Group fully understands the responsibility to protect the
environment in our business activities. Therefore, we have
formulated Green Office Guidelines and Water Resources
Management Guidelines to incorporate environmental protection
initiatives into all areas of our business operations, including
building management, facility operations and maintenance.
We are committed to minimising our environmental impacts on
greenhouse gas emissions, energy use, water use and waste
disposal.

N8

We regularly carry out environmental protection measures
covering the repair and maintenance of property facilities and
equipment, as well as during construction. At the same time, we
have strengthened our environmental auditing efforts through
conducting weekly safety and sanitation inspections to minimise
pollution.

In addition, the Group strives to mobilise all employees to
get involved in environmental protection and increase their
environmental awareness. Apart from offering relevant training
courses and workshops to our employees and encouraging
them to participate in different environmental protection projects,
we also welcome employees to brainstorm environmental
protection measures and provide us with suggestions
through various channels. To fully extend our environmental
management initiatives to other stakeholders, we also implement
environmental protection programmes to promote environmental
awareness amongst our tenants and all building users.

During the reporting period, the Group did not violate any

relevant environmental regulations, nor was it subject to any
fines or charge.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MERELCRS(8)

Greenhouse Gas and Air Emissions Management

As energy and electricity consumption are the main emission
sources of the Group, we have adopted a number of measures
to improve energy efficiency and actively encouraged employees
to participate in various energy conservation and consumption
reduction activities. Besides, we will continue to monitor our
greenhouse gases (“GHG”) and air emissions generated by our
business. Corresponding action plans will also be developed to
further reduce the impact of our operations on the environment.

To accurately record the GHG emissions during operation,
the Group adopts the calculation method listed in Guidelines
to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions
and Removals for Buildings (Commercial, Residential or
Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong (2010 Edition) compiled
by the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department and
Environmental Protection Department of Hong Kong, providing
stakeholders with comprehensive and reliable data concerning
the type, amount and scope of our greenhouse gas emissions.

GHG Emissions in 2019

BEREREREHRERE
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2019F RERBHNE

Emissions (tCOe)
BHE

GHG Emissions Intensity
(tCO,e/sq.m. of managed GFA)
BERBREREE(M_S{tREE

(M-_EtREE) | FTHARKEEEEEHE)
Direct GHG Emissions (Scope 1)
ERRERBHENE (8K ) 7.44
Direct GHG Emissions (Scope 2)
EREEAEREBHENRE (HKE D) 1,781.66 017
Other Indirect GHG Emissions (Scope 3) .
HMEZEAEREHENE (BE=) 13,997.31
Total GHG Emissions
BERBHERAE 15,786.41
Notes: B 5
(1) Emission factor for electricity purchased in Scope 2 is referenced to (1) #HE-_ANEEE HINHRRZB LR EEE

the latest available emission data released by The Hongkong Electric
Company Limited and the 2015 Average Grid Emission Factor in
China issued by the National Development and Reform Commission
(NDRC) of the PRC;

(2)  The Scope 3 GHG emissions include paper waste disposal, water
consumption and air travel (the relevant GHG emissions were
calculated by the International Civil Aviation Organisation Carbon
Emissions Calculator).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

Air Emissions in 2019

2019F ZR SRR E

Emissions (g)
HHE(R)
Particulate Matter (PM)
Y 238.73
Sulphur Oxides (SO )
mEty 40.39
Nitrogen Oxides (NO )
AELY 3,242.35
Notes: Pt 5
(1) Emissions include gasoline consumption of business vehicles; (1) BEMYBERAEE AR MR

(2)  The calculation method and emission factor are referenced to the
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs of the Stock Exchange.

Energy Use

As the operation of the Group is mainly conducted in offices,
efficient use of energy is one of our key environmental issues.
In this regard, we actively implement various energy saving
and emission reduction measures according to our Green
Office Guidelines, including the installation of energy metering
systems to closely monitor energy consumption, which results in
improved energy efficiency and reduction in energy consumption
density. We also maximise the use of natural light in our offices
and maintain the average office temperature between 24" C and
26° C in summer time to reduce unnecessary use of electricity
for lighting and air-conditioning.

To further conserve energy, the Group encourages employees
to start with their own habits, such as switching computers
to energy saving mode, switching off computers, printers,
and other electrical appliances at the end of working day, and
unplugging all electrical devices prior to long holidays.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MERELCRS(8)

Direct Energy Consumption in 2019

20195 EHZRERHER

Intensity (kWh/sq.m. of managed
Consumption (kWh) GFA)
HEE (T RE) RE(TRER FHAREEELER)

Electricity
S 2,915,462.00 31.09
Consumption (L) | Intensity (L/sq. m. of managed GFA)
HIEE(H) REH/ FHAREBREEESE)

Gasoline

i 2,747.42 0.03

Water Resources Management

The Group’s Water Management Guidelines advocate a
principle of sustainable water usage, including the use of
separate drainage and sewerage systems, and ensures that the
discharged wastewater comply with local emissions standards.
The guidelines also provide a series of water saving measures,
aiming to reduce water consumption, improve water efficiency
and enhance employees’ awareness of water conservation.
We will constantly review our water usage and consumption
patterns for continuous optimisation of water usage solutions.

We believe that the proper maintenance of our water supply
system can not only provide our users with high-quality drinking
water, but also prevent water wastage. Hence, we established
the Repair and Maintenance Guidelines and conducted regular
cleaning and water quality tests of the water supply system,
as well as regular maintenance of drainage system and timely
repair when leakage is found.

In addition, Chengdu Municipal Waterworks Co., Ltd. issues
specific water consumption targets to our projects in Chengdu
every year. During the reporting period, each operating unit has
balanced the planned water usage, implemented stringent water
conservation practices and successfully achieved all of the
water consumption targets.

During the reporting period, all wastewater was discharged to
designated sewers in accordance with local regulations and no
violations occurred.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

Water Consumption in 2019

2019 ¥ k&

Water Consumption (L)

Water Consumption Intensity
(L/sg.m. of managed GFA)

BAKE | BAKBEH FAXREEEZEER)
Water
7K 48,764.00 0.52
Note: Bt -

(1 Water usage in the Hong Kong headquarters is managed by the
building where the office is located. As the managerial department
cannot provide data or metered record on water use for individual
tenants, data of water consumption in our Hong Kong headquarters
is not included in this Report.

Resources and Waste Management

The Group upholds the 3R concept “reduce, reuse and recycle”
as the principle of resources consumption, and has persisted
in making systematic records on material usage. Since our
operation is mainly conducted in offices, paper conservation has
become our key resource conservation goal. The Group’s Green
Office Guidelines encourage various paper-saving measures,
such as using double-sided printing, replacing hard copies
with electronic files to reduce paper consumption, etc. We also
promote paper recycling and using environment-friendly paper
in printing important documents such as annual and interim
reports to reduce paper waste.

Besides paper conservation, we are also committed to reducing
avoidable waste such as disposables and food waste by
implementing relevant guidelines. For waste that cannot be
avoided, we strive to reuse and recycle the relevant supplies
and materials as much as possible. To encourage employees’
participation in recycling, the Group has posted tips and placed
recycling bags and recycling bins to facilitate the collection of
recyclable and reusable waste such as paper. The Green Office
Guidelines stipulate that all general waste and recycled paper
should be collected by the building management and handled
by dedicated waste collectors to prevent illegal dumping of
waste. During the reporting period, a total of 0.22 tonnes of
papers were recycled.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MERELCRS(8)

Waste Generation in 2019

019 ERYWELE

Waste Generation (kg)

Waste Generation Intensity
(kg/sq.m. of managed GFA)
BEBRRVELERE

BEYWEELEE(RT) (DR /ERXREBEEEEEA)
Non-hazardous Waste
BEEREY 72,074.40 0.77
Case Story: “Zero Waste Day” Theme Activity RO ZEEBIZHETETH

On 16 August 2019, Everbright Party Branch of Chengdu and
Yudaigiao Community jointly hosted the “Zero Waste Day”
theme activity at Everbright Finance Center, attracting the
participation of a large number of customer representatives,
community residents and Group employees. After checking-in,
everyone received an instruction manual and proposal on waste
classification as well as a free waste sorting game voucher. The
participants also signed on a signature cloth of “Waste Sorting
is a New Fashion. We are Taking Action.”, expressing their
determination to become a practitioner of waste sorting.

Subsequently, the volunteers introduced the background of
“Zero Waste Day” and explained in detail the reasons for the
implementation of waste classification in Chengdu, the benefits
it will bring and the methods of waste classification through
multimedia. In addition, prize quizzes were held to raise the
awareness of participants’ knowledge of waste sorting, which
effectively motivated them to participate in waste classification
activities.

Lastly, it came to the section of waste classification games.
Participants actively participated in puzzle games, flying chess
and basket shooting games related to waste sorting, which
greatly increased participants’ environmental awareness.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

SOCIAL
Prioritised SDGs:

GOOD HEALTH

QUALITY 8 DECENT WORK AND 16 PEAGE, JUSTICE
AND WELL-BEING

EDUCATION ECONOMIC GROWTH AND STRONG
INSTITUTIONS

e

Welfare and Safeguards

The Group upholds the fundamental philosophy of being
people-oriented. We strive to create a fair, inclusive and positive
working environment for employees, and to eliminate any forms
of child labour or forced labour.

The Group strictly complies with laws and regulations including
the Labour Contract Law of the PRC and the Labour Law of
the PRC, etc. We also prepared and published management
policies such as the Employee Management Regulation, the
Chengdu Everbright Property Handbook and the Chengdu
Everbright Property Owner Management Handbook, which
provides guidance and safeguard on the working environment,
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, other benefits and welfare,
prohibition of child and forced labour, training and development
and occupational health and safety for our employees. To
provide equal and diversified career opportunities, we have
also formulated the Policy on Preventing Discriminations,
Harassments and Upholding Equal Opportunities. Such policy
safeguards employees from discrimination, harassment and
vilification due to gender, disability, family status, marital status,
race, etc. The policy indicates clear reporting and investigating
procedures, with dedicated anonymous reporting email account
and hotline set up for employees.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MERELCRS(8)

To attract and retain talents, the Group not only offers
competitive remuneration packages to our employees, but
also rewards those with excellent performance with year-end
bonus. The Group regularly reviews its policies on remuneration
and welfare, and makes annual adjustments based on year-
end assessment result of employees, business performance of
the Group and the salary level of industry. We strive to provide
decent employee welfares including medical insurance, paid
annual leave, maternity/paternity leave, examination leave,
overtime allowance, red pocket for birthday, etc. The Group also
hosts various social activities to reinforce social interaction and
friendship amongst employees, thus reinforcing team cohesion.

During the reporting period, there were no violations of laws or
regulations on labour standards, child labour or forced labour.

Training and Development

Human resources development is crucial to corporate
strategic management. For the long-term development of the
company, we always do our utmost to respond to the needs
of our employees in training, promotion, internal transfer, and
remuneration, etc., striving to unleash the potential of every
employee to improve work performance and allowing them to
grow together with the Group.

The Group’s Employee Management Regulation, Chengdu
Everbright Property Handbook and Chengdu Everbright
Property Owner Management Handbook clearly stipulate our
policies in training, assessment and promotion, as well as the
vocational training requirements for employees at all levels. We
provide various vocational trainings to employees, including
business management, information technology, anti-corruption,
first-aid, etc., and will collect feedbacks and recommendations
from employees regularly. Each department are also required
to submit the Employee Training Plan Form regularly to ensure
employees have continuous access to training opportunities.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

Apart from internal training within the Group, we also encourage
and sponsor our employees to take part in external training and
continuing education to enrich their knowledge and skills. For
employees who completed any self-learning module or attained
any qualification related to the businesses of the Group, we
will incorporate their copy of proof as reference in year-end
assessment, internal transfer and promotion arrangements.

During the reporting period, directors and selected personnel
of the Group participated in the “Seminar on Corporate
Governance and Monitoring Ordinance Renewal 2019” hosted
by an external party, where issues related to corporate
governance and compliance with regulations were discussed.

Health and Safety

The Group always put the health and safety of our employees
as our top priority. As such, we have established the
Occupational Health Management Policy. Upholding the “Safety
First” principle, we strive to offer a safe working environment to
our employees. We stringently follow the policy’s requirement
to monitor and regularly detect occupational hazards in the
workplace, and to establish management system for cooling
and heatstroke prevention, as well as hygiene and health
care. We provide employees with vocational safety training
every month, with topics covering maintenance and repair of
property equipment, power shortage contingency measures, lift
entrapment contingency measures, flood control measures in
summer, contingency measures in car park during flooding, etc.,
to improve employees’ emergency response.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MERELCRS(8)

As a property management company, it is our responsibility
to establish a safe environment for our tenants and the public.
The Chengdu Everbright Property Handbook and Chengdu
Everbright Property Owner Management Handbook cover
detailed safety and health related operating procedures in
property management, as well as emergency plans in respond
to safety accidents, to ensure operational safety. The Group has
also set up the Signage Management Guideline which aims to
enhance management of various signage, such as control on
fire safety, safety and guidance, in public areas of the buildings
(e.g. corridors and exterior walls, etc.). The guideline provides
detailed stipulations on the use of signage in various high-risk
operations or workplaces. For instance, corresponding safety
signs should be placed during regular maintenance of elevators,
aloft work or other construction and maintenance works, in
order to prevent and reduce the risk of industrial accidents.

Moreover, to ensure fire safety of our properties, we have
established the “Responsibility Pledge on Property Security
and Fire Safety Mechanism”, requiring relevant property
users to strictly comply with the prevailing national fire safety
management laws and regulations, and tenants to implement
related guidelines based on their characteristics.

We also strive to provide a healthy environment for employees,
visitors and the public by promoting the Smoke-free Workspace
Policy at our offices and actively encourage tenants to
implement such policy.

During the reporting period, we had no violations of laws
or regulations pertaining to health and safety matters in the
workplace or related to our services.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MEBRELCHRS(E)

Supplier Management

The Group has maintained a systematic guideline in selecting
and managing suppliers, with the aim to reduce the risk and
cost of procurement as well as to develop sustainable partners.
Our suppliers primarily provide us with construction materials,
office supplies, labour protection supplies, mechanical and
electrical equipment, etc.

According to the bidding and tendering management regulations
in the Chengdu Everbright Property Handbook and the Chengdu
Everbright Property Owner Management Handbook, we strictly
control the process of bidding and tendering, contract signing,
as well as inspection and supervision, etc. The Group has also
established a procurement team to set up supplier profiles and
to keep record of the supplies.

In addition, our cost audit team, finance department,
engineering department and inventory team also carry out
regular reviews, inspections and assessments for suppliers
in accordance with the Group’s Management Guidelines on
Supplier Selection and Evaluation. In June every year, we
conduct, with reference to the Evaluation Form of Supplier
Management, an overall evaluation to our suppliers by assessing
areas including product quality, environmental and social
compliance, etc. Suppliers are classified into five grades,
namely, A, B, C, D, and E, based on their assessment result.
Rewards or penalties are given to suppliers of corresponding
grades to ensure that we always cooperate with the best
suppliers.

Anti-Corruption

Maintaining integrity and fairness is an important factor to the
Group’s success. All directors and employees must uphold
integrity and business ethics. The Group strictly follows relevant
regulations, such as the Anti-unfair Competition Law of the PRC
and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong, and
established clear guidelines on corruption prevention, as well
as requiring strict adherence by all grades of employees in our
daily operation.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MERELCRS(8)

All employees should comply with the Group’s Code of
Conduct, which includes policies on the prevention of
corruption, fraud, bribery, extortion, money laundering and any
other unfair or unethical conducts. Employees of the Group shall
never offer or accept gifts or cash (or cash equivalents), nor
may the family members or persons of close relationship with
employees accept cash or gifts from business partners having
conflict of interest with the Group. The Group also sets up an
Anti-Corruption and Reporting Mechanism led by the Board
of Directors, including a dedicated reporting email address
and hotline. We require our clients to sign the Anti-Business
Corruption Agreement as part of the property management
services agreement or leasing contract.

During the reporting period, the Group had no experience in
any cases nor violations of laws and regulations related to anti-
corruption.

Community Investment

The Group proactively engages in corporate social responsibility
and strives to understand the needs of local community by
giving back to and serving the society. We have formulated the
Community and Philanthropy Policy, and through charitable
donations and encouraging our employees to devote to
community services, volunteering work, and other forms to take
part in issues that are of concerns, we aim at promoting the
development of community health and building a harmonious
society. Looking ahead, the Group will continue engaging in
good deeds zealously to make contributions to our community.

Case Story: Charitable Donation

In September 2019, the Group cooperated with Hong Kong
Sheng Kung Hui — a local non-profit organisation, to donate a
total of 50 tickets of Ocean Park Hong Kong, allowing children
from grassroots families to enjoy the pleasure of visiting the
amusement park, and to show our care and warmth for them.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

The Stock Exchange’s ESG Reporting Guide
BMIXA(RRE HEB8REARABMEEIINAB RS

Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs

TEHE - EH - Relevant Chapter(s) or Other
— B EKRBAE | Descriptions References/Explanation
BUER ot EEEEH N H M A

A. Environment 218

Aspect Al: Emissions EEA1: St

General Information on: Environment
Disclosure h licies: and
—REE (@) the policies; an We do not hold relevant policy as
(b) compliance with relevant laws and our operation would not cause
regulations that have a significant impact | Significant impact on air emissions,
on the issuer discharges into land, and

generation of hazardous waste.
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,

discharges into water and land, and generation | There are no laws and regulations

of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. that have a significant impact
FRABERNKARERBYEN - AKE TP on the Group relating to air and
BERBEBRRYNELSN: greenhouse gas emissions,

(6 BE: R discharges into water and land,

and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

b) BFHEOTAREAREORBMARIA| 4.
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HERAKRENEBHEEL ISR E
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Mo mKkREHEEES  BERE
TEREVNELESNHBEELR
PIHEBRERTE -

64 Everbright Grand China Assets Limited » ¥k k& HRAH



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MBREGCHRS ()

Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs

FTEHE - -EH -
—REERBERE

Descriptions
fat

Relevant Chapter(s) or Other
References/Explanation
FEE A th 3 A

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions | Environment — Greenhouse Gas
data. and Air Emissions Management
HERUY) 1 1R AR B HE A BUR o RIE — AERBEBLERENER

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) Environment — Greenhouse Gas
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of | and Air Emissions Management
production volume, per facility). RE - BERBREREMER
mERBAENE (AMEAE) R(WER)EE (1
NEBESEMN  BERXMETH) -

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) During the reporting period,
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of | the Group did not produce any
production volume, per facility). hazardous waste.
FEABEEREEMRE BRI R(MER T | RREHAN  AEBRBEELEM
EMAGESHM  BEKBAH) - SEERESEARENEREY -

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) | Environment — Resources and
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of | Waste Management
production volume, per facility). RE - BREEYER
FEARZEEYAEE LB E) R(ER)®
EWASGESEMN  BEKHETE) -

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions Environment

and results achieved.

WA R BE R E M M ERR

We will continue to record our
environmental data in detail, to allow
for meaningful comparisons of data
over time.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs

TEEHE - -BE-

—-REBEKBER
ARIER

KPI A1.6

Descriptions
fat

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved.
HEREERBZTEEYN AL REEL
ENEREAEKR -

Relevant Chapter(s) or Other
References/Explanation
FEE A fth 3 A

Environment — Resources and
Waste Management

Our daily office operations do not
involve generation of hazardous
waste. Therefore, no specific
reduction initiative is in place.
RE - BREEDER

BPNBERLRETLZETNTREE
BEEOMOEL - At ZMALRA
HEREELENEG -

Aspect A2: Use of Resources EHEA2: EiR{EH

General
Disclosure

—REE

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw materials.
BRERAERBIERIR - KEEAMFRMED 8K
% o

Environment
IRiE

KPI A2.1

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by
type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in
’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

REMNES>MNEER SHEER(NE - Rk
HBAEEUNTETFERAZE)REE(WNAEE
BB BEAXRMEHE) -

Environment — Energy Use
RE — RRER

KPI A2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
BREKERTZE(WNBESEEN 8HER M

) o
Ean

Environment — Water Resources
Management
RIE — KERER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MBREGCHRS ()

Subject Areas,

Aspects,
General

Disclosure and

KPls

TEEHE - -BE-

—-REBEKBER
ARIER

Descriptions
fat

Relevant Chapter(s) or Other
References/Explanation
FEE A th 3 A

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency in initiatives | Environment — Energy Use

and results achieved.

M IR E R AT E RAEKR - We will continue to record our direct
energy consumption data in detail to
allow for meaningful comparisons of
data over time.

RIE — BERERA
BB EEFACLHERMOEER
RHREHE  NEREEREET
EERNHBIBMLH -
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in Environment — Water Resources
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water Management

efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

f 3t SROENGE A KR LRI B R - BA &R F+| Water for our office use is obtained

RX#R =B RETEAR - from municipal water supplies. There
are no associated issues regarding
water sourcing.

RIE — KERERE
REBEMARBHAKGERE MR
HKER BMEEFSERAKRL
RBEELREMEE -

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished Our operations do not involve the

products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.

X mAAABRMENESE (LAEETE) & (#Es)
BAEEBMIEE -

use of packaging material.
BANEBLEERN S LB EMED
£ -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and

KPls

TEHE - -EH - Relevant Chapter(s) or Other
— B EKRBAE | Descriptions References/Explanation
BUER # EEEE N H M A

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources BHAS3: BER XRER

General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant The Group’s business activities

Disclosure impact on the environment and natural resources. | mainly comprise office operations,

—-REE BIREIT ANEIRE R RAEREKE KXFE /| which would not cause significant
M o impact on the environment and

natural resources. Therefore, no

. } q | q relevant policy is in place.
on the environment and natural resources an % E/\\\ ﬁ ,ﬂaﬁ E,t\] % i% IHE féi i %i ﬂaﬁ E/‘j %%

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities

the actions taken to manage them. A S UIE SR B B E R
B RSB EER R A EROERTEE| o s a1
EXNERERTENTY - &

Employment and Labour Practices ElRREIER

Aspect B1: Employment EEB1: {E{&

General Information on: Social
Disclosure o e
—BEE (@ the policies; and

(o) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
antidiscrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
ERAFTMERE  BEREA  TIERE - B -
TE#HE - Zuib RIERNAREMESREF
By :

(a) BE: &

() ETHHRTABEARZENHEBEZRZNMR
{5 1) & #}
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
BE MBREGCHRS ()

Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and

KPls

FTEEHE - EBHE - Relevant Chapter(s) or Other
—RFEEKXBEE | Descriptions References/Explanation
BUER ot EREGH RN HE MK A

Aspect B2: Health and Safety EHEB2: @ FELZ 2

General Information on: Social — Health and Safety
Disclosure o
—REE (8) the policies; and There are no laws and regulations
(b) compliance with relevant laws and that have alsignifioant.impact on the
regulations that have a significant impact on | Group relating to providing a safe
the issuer working environment and protecting

employees from occupational
relating to providing a safe working environment hazards.

and protecting employees from occupational e - RBEEKZZ

hazards. .
FRRHZ2THEEERREREEaR e Ry | ARELRSMENZ 2 TFRA
o - TR BE 1R B 38 % B 21 12 A0 4L

EERBROIEERBKEATE -
() BE: M

) ETHHRTABEAZENHEBEZNMR
{5 1) & #%

Aspect B3: Development and Training BHEB3: 8 & k%

General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and | Social — Training and Development
Disclosure skills for discharging duties at work. Description | # & — 53| 22 =
—REE of training activities.

BERRTEEBITTEBRERME MREEE
s A E
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

RE MBRELSRS (8)

Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs

FTEEHE  EBHE -
—REERBERE

Aspect B4: Labour Standards EHEB4: % T %8|

Descriptions
fat

Relevant Chapter(s) or Other
References/Explanation
FEE A fth 3 A

General Information on:
Disclosure o
—mEE (@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.
EAMIEET HRHISTH:

(a) BHE: K&

() BTHETABEAZENHBERLR
{5 1) & #}

Social — Welfare and Safeguards
g — BAERE

Operating Practices & E184|

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management EEB5 : £ E#EEE

General Policies on managing environmental and social
Disclosure risks of the supply chain.
—REE EREEERENREREERAREE -

Social — Supplier Management
e - HEFRERE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)

BE MBREGCHRS ()

Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs

TEEHE - -BE-

—-REBEKBER
ARIER

Descriptions

g

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility EEB6: EmR=1E

Relevant Chapter(s) or Other
References/Explanation

B E 8 3 H At 31 A

General
Disclosure

—REE

Information on:
(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.
FRMRHEMNRENREEZS2  BS
BELLEBEEARBRAEN:

(a) BHE: &

() BTHBRTABEAZENHEBERZLR
{5 1) & %}

Social — Health and Safety

The Group has not identified
material concerns in its operations
regarding advertising, labelling and
privacy matters in our operation,
thus a dedicated policy is not in
place.

There are no laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the
Group regarding health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to the products and
services provided by the Group.
e -REERZR

REBEW RFERMIBHRE DB
EERLEEENEREE @ @t
T E AR R -

N5 E 3 8 A BE P IR R E M AR S
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) REPORT (Continued)
RE MBRELSRS (8)

Subject Areas,
Aspects,
General
Disclosure and
KPIs

TEEHE  EBEE -
—REERBE
ERER

Descriptions
#at

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption BHEB7: R&5

Relevant Chapter(s) or Other
References/Explanation
FHREHHHMHA

General
Disclosure

—RE

Information on:
(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

BERABILEEE 9% BEFEREBREN:
@ BxE: X

b) BTHETABEAZENHEBEIRLA
{5 B & #4 o

Social — Anti-Corruption
e —RER

Community &

Aspect B8: Community Investment EHEBS: #HE&RE

General
Disclosure

—RRE

Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities where
the issuer operates and to ensure its activities
take in to consideration the communities’
interests.

BN R2ERTREEMELRFZMER
EXBEHEERMBNRAVBUER -

Social — Community Investment
e - HERKRE
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
SETRE

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability on 2 August 2000 and transferred by way of
continuation into the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 15 September 2016 under the Companies
Law. The principal activities of the Group are property leasing,
provision of property management services and sales of
properties held for sale.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are
shown under note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating profit for
the year by principal activities is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report
and note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has proposed to pay a final dividend of RMB2.03
cents (equivalent to HK2.22 cents) per ordinary share (2018:
Nil) for the year ended 31 December 2019, payable to the
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company (the “Register of Members”) on Thursday, 2 July
2020. Subject to approval by the Shareholders of the payment
of final dividend at the annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of
the Company to be held on Thursday, 18 June 2020, the final
dividend will be paid to the Shareholders on or about Friday, 17
July 2020.

The final dividend will be paid in Hong Kong dollars. The
exchange rate for the dividend to be paid in Hong Kong dollars
is the central parity rate of Hong Kong dollars to RMB as
announced by the People’s Bank of China on 25 March 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
ESSRE(A)

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility
to attend and vote at the AGM and entitlement to the final
dividend, the Register of Members will be closed in accordance
with the following timetable:

()  For determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and
vote at the AGM:

(@) Latest time to lodge transfer
documents for registration

4:30 pm on
Friday,
12 June 2020

(b) Closure of Register of Members Monday, 15 June
2020 to Thursday,
18 June 2020

(both dates inclusive)

(i) For determining entitlement to the final dividend:

(@) Latest time to lodge transfer
documents for registration

4:30 pm on
Wednesday,
24 June 2020

(b) Closure of Register of Members Friday, 26 June 2020
to

Thursday, 2 July 2020

(both dates inclusive)

During the above closure periods, no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
and to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than the relevant
latest time set out above.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued])
EEgRSE(E)

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2019 and the discussion on the Group’s future
business development are set out in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best of the knowledge of the Board and the management,
the Group complied with the relevant laws and regulations which
constitutes material impact on the business and operation of the
Company and its subsidiaries in all material respects during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly
corporate environment that pays close attention to conserving
natural resources. The Group strives to minimise its impact on
the environment by reducing its electricity consumption and
encouraging recycle of office supplies and other materials. For
further details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report set out on page 51 to 72 of this annual
report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING
THE GROUP AND KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS

The Group’s financial condition, results and business operations
may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties, some
of which are inherent to the Group’s business and some from
external sources.

Industry Risk

The China property management industry is highly competitive
and fragmented. Competition may intensify as the Group’s
competitors expand their product or service offerings or new
competitors enter the Group’s existing or new markets. If the
Group does not compete successfully against existing and new
competitors, the Group may not be able to renew its existing
contracts upon expiration or fail to win the bid for new projects.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
ESSRE(A)

Business Risk

The Group constantly faces the challenge of responding
promptly to market changes within the industry sectors it
operates in. Any failure to interpret market trends properly
and adapt its strategy to such changes accordingly may have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial condition,
results, and business operations.

Financial Risk

In the course of its business activities, the Group is exposed
to various financial risks, including market, liquidity and credit
risks.

The Group’s earnings and financial position may be adversely
affected by movements in foreign exchange rates and interest
rate. In particular, any depreciation in the Group’s bank balances
denominated in foreign currency may affect its net profit.
The Group will closely monitor the relative foreign exchange
positions of its assets and liabilities and allocate its holdings
of different currencies accordingly in order to minimise foreign
currency risk.

The Group may also be subject to liquidity risk if it is unable
to obtain adequate funding to finance its operations. For the
management of liquidity risk, the Group’s management monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group believes that an effective management of
relationships with stakeholders is crucial to resolving issues
faced by the Group. Stakeholders hold the key to the
environment in which the Group operates and its subsequent
financial and operating performance. Thus the effective
management of stakeholder relations should be an essential
focus of organizational activity.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out on page 216 of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued])
EEgRSE(E)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 171 of this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 21 to the consolidated
financial statements on page 191 of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out on page 104 and in note
21 to the consolidated financial statements on page 191 of this
annual report respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s distributable reserves
were RMB86.3 million.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of movements in the bank and other borrowings of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in
note 18 to the consolidated financial statements on page 186 of
this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association, the laws of Cayman lIslands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued])
EEgRS(E)

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the
Company'’s securities.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

For the year ended 31 December 2019, pursuant to the Articles
of Association, every Director and other officers shall be entitled
to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of the duties of their duty, or supposed
duty in their respective office or otherwise in relation thereto.
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers. In accordance with the provisions of Section 470 of
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong), the aforesaid approved indemnity clause for the benefit
of the Directors was effective during the financial year ended
31 December 2019 and at the time when this Directors’ report
prepared by the Directors was adopted in accordance with
Section 391(1) (a) of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the laws of Hong Kong).

DIRECTORS
The Board currently consists of the following eight Directors:
Executive Directors

Mr. LIU Jia (Chairman & CEO)
Mr. LIN Zimin

Non-executive Directors

Ms. TSE Hang Mui
Mr. LI Yinzhong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. TSOI David
Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham

Mr. LEE Jor Hung
Ms. YU Pauline Wah Ling
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
ESSHE(A)

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Ms. Tse Hang
Mui, Mr. Lee Jor Hung and Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling shall
retire at the Annual General Meeting. All of the above retiring
Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on
pages 19 to 30 in the section headed “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” to this annual report.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors a confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all the Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors, has entered into a service
contract with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date renewable automatically
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other expiring at the end of the
initial term or any time thereafter.

Each of the Non-executive Directors has been appointed for
a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date until
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either the Company or the respective Director.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has been
appointed for a term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meetings of the Company and until terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
the Company or the respective Director.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
and/or any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by
employing company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Information regarding directors’ emoluments and senior
management’s emoluments are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 167 to 169 of this
report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO which was required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which is taken or deemed to have under such provision of
the SFO), or which was required to be entered in the register
referred to therein pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which
was otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND FERRRRG HEROREERSD
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES MEZRAR
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, to the knowledge of the Directors, the  H2019F12831H ' BEFHT A - N3 A
interest or short positions of the following persons (which are T (W ZEEHX AR ETETHAE)R
not Directors or chief executives of the Company) in the shares ARXF KM K BER D P HEEREZE S
or underlying shares of the Company, which were required to [ i & & 5l XV &8 F2 K% 35 2 78 A A D
the disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of FIRBEMERU AR BEZI LSRG E
Part XV of the SFO or recorded in the register required to the 1§ 3361FBHR AR AFE 2 &M
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, were Ezm A& :

as follows:
Approximate
Number of percentage of
ordinary the Company’s
shares issued share
Name Notes Capacity interested capital
BERERZ NIEXAQTERT
=x Mz 54 EERBE REIBHEIL
Lucky Link Investments Limited 2 Beneficial owner 297,900,000 67.49%
(“Lucky Link”)
FEREARAR(RE]D E=mEBEA
Top Charm Investments Limited (“Top 2 Beneficial owner 33,100,000 7.50%
Charm”)
BEREARARIEED EREBA
Cap|ta| Century Company Limited 2 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
(“Capital Century”) corporation
B B ok F B BR 2 &) ([ BB K& D) REEEER
China Everbright Holdings Company 3 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
Limited (“CE Hong Kong”) corporation
REXREBERAA R LB R
(MhExXKEBE)D
China Everbright Group Limited 4 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
(“China Everbright Group”) corporation
PEX R EBRD AT R LB RS
(hEXKER])
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. 5 Interests in controlled 331,000,000 74.99%
(“Huijin”) corporation
hRESKRERRETAA R AEER
(TE2 D)
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Notes:

(1)

Save

Based on 441,400,000 shares of the Company (“Shares”) in issue as
at 31 December 2019.

Lucky Link and Top Charm directly hold approximately 67.49% and
7.50% of the total issued shares, respectively, Capital Century holds
100% shares in Lucky Link and Top Charm and is therefore deemed
to be interested in 297,900,000 and 33,100,000 shares held by Lucky
Link and Top Charm, respectively.

CE Hong Kong is an indirect controlling shareholder of Lucky Link
and Top Charm. CE Hong Kong directly holds 99.997% shares in
Capital Century, 0.3% of which is held on trust for the National
Administrative Bureau of State Owned Property, and indirectly holds
0.003% shares in Capital Century through China Everbright Holdings
(Nominee) Limited. Therefore, CE Hong Kong is deemed to be
interested in 297,900,000 and 33,100,000 shares held by Lucky Link
and Top Charm, respectively.

China Everbright Group holds 100% shares in CE Hong Kong and is
therefore deemed to be interested in 297,900,000 and 33,100,000
shares held by Lucky Link and Top Charm, respectively.

Huijin is indirectly wholly-owned by the State Council and holds
55.67% equity interest in China Everbright Group. It is deemed to be
interested in 297,900,000 and 33,100,000 shares held by Lucky Link
and Top Charm, respectively.

as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, the

Company had not been notified by any persons (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares or
debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to section 336
of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Share Option
Scheme” below, at no time during the year was the Company,
its subsidiaries or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or their associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 15 December
2017 (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentive or rewarding eligible persons (“Eligible Persons”).
Eligible Persons include director, employee, agent, consultant,
business partner, joint venture partner, supplier of goods
or services or any director or employee of such supplier,
customer or any director or employee of such customer,
and person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any advisory, consultancy or
professional services or any director or employee of such entity,
who has contributed or will contribute to the Group on the
basis of their contribution to the development and growth of
the Group. No share option has been granted under the Share
Option Scheme since its adoption by the Company.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on the Listing Date
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme (i.e. 14 December 2027).
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is 44,140,000 shares, representing
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the Listing
Date and as at the date of this annual report. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options granted to each
eligible participant in the Share Option Scheme (including both
exercised and outstanding options) within any 12-month period
is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue. Any
grant or further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. A grant
of share options under the Share Option Scheme to a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their associates, is subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors (excluding any independent
non-executive director who is the grantee of the Option). In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, which would result in the shares issued
and to be issued, upon exercise of all options already granted
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding), to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of the grant in excess of 0.1% of the shares
of the Company in issue and with an aggregate value (based on
the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant)
in excess of HK$5 million, are subject to shareholders’ approval
in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted on
or before the relevant acceptance date upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determined by
the directors, save that such a period shall not be more than
10 years from the date of offer of the share options and subject
to the provisions for early termination as set out in the Share
Option Scheme. There is no requirement of a minimum period
for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
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The exercise price of the share options shall be not less than
the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share options,
which must be a date on which the Stock Exchange is open for
business of dealing in securities; (ii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately before the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value
of the Company’s share as at the date of offer.

No share options were granted during the year ended 31
December 2019 and no share options were outstanding under
the Scheme as at 31 December 2019.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group entered into non-
exempt continuing connected transactions and the Stock
Exchange granted a conditional waiver to the Company from
strict compliance with the requirements under Rule 14A105 of
the Listing Rules for the following transactions up to the financial
year ended 31 December 2019.

Leasing transactions

The Group entered into lease agreements with China Everbright
Bank Limited (“CE Bank”) and Everbright Securities Company
Limited (“CE Securities”). Such rents are agreed between the
parties based on arms’ length basis and normal commercial
terms. The actual amount under the leasing transactions with
CE Bank and CE Securities for the year ended 31 December
2019 was in aggregate sum of RMB6.4 million.
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CE Bank is an associate of China Everbright Group and
therefore a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. CE Securities is a subsidiary of China Everbright Group,
and therefore also a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

The approved cap amount in respect of the lease agreements
with CE Bank and CE Securities for the year ended 31
December 2019 amounted to an aggregate sum of RMB7
million.

On 31 December 2019, the Group and CE Bank entered into a
new lease agreement (the “Lease Agreement”) for a period of
10 years commencing from 1 January 2020 and ending on 31
December 2029. As one or more of the applicable percentage
ratios (other than profits ratio) (as defined under Rule 14.07 of
the Listing Rules) in respect of the highest annual cap of the
transactions to be contemplated under the Lease Agreement
exceeds 5% but all are less than 25%, and the highest annual
cap is less than HK$10,000,000, the transactions to be
contemplated under the Lease Agreement are subject to the
reporting, announcement and annual review requirements
but are exempt from circular and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Since the term of the Lease Agreement exceeds three years,
pursuant to Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules, Gram Capital
Limited was appointed as an independent financial adviser to
explain why the Lease Agreement requires a longer period and
to confirm that it is normal business practice for agreements
of these types to be of such duration. For details of the Lease
Agreement, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 31 December 2019.

Deposits services transactions

The Group entered into a deposit services framework
agreement (“Deposit Services Framework Agreement”) with
China Everbright Group on 10 August 2017 in respect of deposit
services provided by CE Bank to the Group. Under the Deposit
Services Framework Agreement, China Everbright Group shall
procure CE Bank to provide deposit services to the Group at
interest rates determined based on normal commercial terms
and after arm’s length negotiations between CE Bank and the
Group that are no less favourable to the Group than the terms
available to the Group from independent third parties.
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CE Bank is an associate of China Everbright Group and
therefore a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. The maximum daily closing balance of deposit amount
under the Deposit Services Framework Agreement for the year
ended 31 December 2019 was RMB45.6 million (equivalent to
HK$53.0 million).

The approved maximum daily closing balance of deposits under
the Deposit Services Framework Agreement for the year ended
31 December 2019 amounted to HK$63.0 million.

Loan Services Agreement

The Group entered into a loan services framework agreement
(“Loan Services Framework Agreement”) with CE Bank on 18
December 2017 in respect of loan services provided by CE
Bank, Hong Kong Branch (“CE Bank HK”) to the Group. Under
the Loan Services Framework Agreement, CE Bank HK may
provide, subject to internal approval procedures, loan services in
the maximum sum of HK$300 million (or such other equivalent
sum in U.S. dollar or British pounds) to the Group at interests
rates determined based on market rates.

CE Bank HK is an associate of China Everbright Group and
therefore a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

The approved annual value of the transactions under the
Loan Services Framework Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2019 amounted to HK$300 million.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have,
for the purpose of Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, reviewed
the continuing connected transactions up to the financial year
ended 31 December 2019 set out above and have confirmed
that these continuing connected transactions have been
entered into by the Group (i) in the ordinary and usual course
of its business; (i) on normal commercial terms or on terms no
less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and (iii) in accordance with the terms
of the agreements governing such transactions that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company’s shareholders
as a whole.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
auditor, KPMG, were engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued an unqualified letter containing its findings and
conclusions in respect of continuing connected transactions
set out above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the
Group during the year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 208 to 211 of this report. The
Company has complied with the applicable requirements under
the Listing Rules for those related party transactions which
constituted non-exempt connected transactions/continuing
connected transactions. Other related party transactions either
did not constitute connected transactions/continuing connected
transactions or constituted connected transactions/continuing
connected transactions but were exempted from all disclosure
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” disclosed above and note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements headed “Material Related
Party Transactions”, no other transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company, its controlling
shareholders, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Directors or entity(ies) connected
with a Director have or had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

China Everbright Group, the controlling shareholders of the
Group, had provided a letter of non-competition undertaking
in favour of the Company. Based on the discussions of the
management of the Company with China Everbright Group, the
management of the Company understands that the property
investment, property leasing and property management
business conducted by China Everbright Group are
geographically delineated with no substantive competition with
the principal business of the Group in southwest region of the
PRC and in the United Kingdom.

Based on the above, the independent non-executive directors
of the Company confirmed that up to the date of this annual
report, there is no potential substantive competition between
the property investment, property leasing and property
management business conducted by China Everbright Group
and the principal business of the Group in southwest region of
the PRC and in the United Kingdom.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts, no other contracts, relating
to the management and/or administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or subsisted during the year.

COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this report, no Directors
are considered to have an interest in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group, pursuant to Rule 810 of
the Listing Rules, other than those businesses for which the
Directors were appointed as directors to represent the interest
of the Company and/or the Group.
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EMPLOYEES/EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of employees/emolument policy are set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 18 of
this annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group has joined a mandatory provident fund scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the MPF Scheme at rates specified in the rules. The employees
of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement scheme operated
by the PRC government. No forfeited contribution under this
scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date
of this annual report, the Company has maintained the public
float as required under the Listing Rules.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S
GLOBAL OFFERING

Details of use of net proceeds from the Company’s global
offering during the year are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 16 of this
annual report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of
conduct regarding dealings in the securities of the Company
by the Directors and the Group’s senior management who,
because of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess
inside information in relation to the Group or the Company’s
securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code during the year under review. In
addition, the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of
the Model Code by the senior management of the Group during
the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board and management of the Company are committed
to maintaining good standards of corporate governance.
The Board believes that conducting the Group’s business in
a transparent and responsible manner and following good
corporate governance practices serve its long-term interests
and those of shareholders. The Company has adopted the code
provisions set out in the CG Code as its own code to govern
its corporate governance practices. The Board will continue to
review and monitor the practices of the Company with an aim to
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 31 to 50 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR =% & B

KPMG was re-appointed as auditors of the Company at the last  #2019F 68208 8217 2 AR A L 8% &
annual general meeting of the Company held on 20 June 2019 BEE AR &+ EZFEHEHAMEBEMCE
to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general EH-EZT AAR G ZHAM  FHEEARX

meeting of the Company.

According to the relevant regulations issued by the Ministry
of Finance of the PRC in relation to audit work on financial
statements of state-owned enterprises, there are restrictions
in respect of the number of years of audit services that an
accounting firm can continuously provide to a state-owned
enterprise.

China Everbright Group, a state-owned enterprise and the
Company’s controlling shareholder (such term as defined
under the Listing Rules), previously appointed Ernst & Young
as its auditors to replace KPMG as KPMG’s engagement
had exceeded the prescribed time limit under the relevant
regulations.

The Board hereby announces that KPMG will retire as the
auditors of the Company upon expiration of its current term of
office at the AGM and will not seek for re-appointment as the
Company’s auditors.

Subject to the approval of the shareholders at the AGM, the
Company proposes, with the recommendation from the Audit
Committee, to appoint Ernst & Young as auditors (the same
auditor as China Everbright Group) in accordance with the
relevant regulations to improve and increase audit efficiency.
The Company received a confirmation letter dated 26 March
2020 from KPMG confirming that there is no other matter in
connection with the circumstances leading to their cessation as
the Company’s auditor that needs to be brought to the attention
of the shareholders of the Company.

To the best of the Board’s knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, save for matters disclosed
in this report, there is no matter in relation to the change of
auditors which needs to be brought to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

LIU Jia
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB EIRS

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Everbright Grand China Assets Limited

(Incorporated in British Virgin Islands with limited liability and
transferred by way of continuation into the Cayman Islands)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Everbright Grand China Assets Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 100 to 215, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2019 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
consolidated financial statements in Cayman Islands, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BUZHEORS (8)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that,

these matters.

Valuation of investment properties
REMEMLE

in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the #&
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

HREXEE

FAREZFEARAEZNEZHEMS -
HEZERANRAGRAMBRERAE
ENEE REFTEREESERER
MBEBREARENESHANERE
ETRE mMESTEHEZEEHEIEMR
BEENER -

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and note 1(g) to the accounting policy.

B2RSRAVMBEBRRMFI2REF1E)R EFTBUER -
The Key Audit Matter
BREXEHE

The Group’s investment properties, which are
located in Chengdu and Kunming, comprise office
premises, retail shops and car parking bays. The
fair value of the Group’s investment properties as
at 31 December 2019 was RMB922.4million, which
represented 80.5% of the Group’s total assets as at
that date.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties
as at 31 December 2019 was assessed by the
board of directors based on independent valuations
prepared by an independent firm of surveyors. The
valuation gains on investment properties recorded
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represented 48.8% of the Group’s profit before
taxation for the year ended 31 December 2019.

We identified assessing the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter because of the
significance of investment properties to the Group’s
total assets and the significance of the valuation
gains on investment properties to the Group’s
profit before taxation and because the valuation of
investment properties can be inherently subjective
and requires the exercise of significant judgement
and estimation, in particular in determining the
appropriate valuation methodology, capitalisation
rates, market rents and adjusted quoted prices in
active markets which increases the risk of error or
management bias.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® X KK EFEHR QT

How the matter was addressed in our audit
EEETERBNNEEZEE

Qur audit procedures to assess the valuation of
investment properties included the following:

obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports
prepared by the independent firm of surveyors
engaged by the Group on which the directors’
assessment of the fair values of investment
properties was based;

assessing the qualifications of the external
surveyor and their experience and expertise in
the properties being valued and considering their
objectivity and independence;

discussing with the management and the external
surveyors about their valuation methodology and
challenging the key estimates and assumptions
adopted in the valuations, including the
capitalisation rates, market rents and adjusted
quoted market prices, by comparing assumptions
made in prior years with the current year’s
assumptions and current publicly available data,
with the assistance of our internal property
valuation specialists;

comparing tenancy information, including
committed rents and occupancy rates, provided
by the Group to the external surveyors with
underlying contracts and related documentation,
on a sample basis; and

conducting site visits, on a sample basis, to the
investment properties and discussing with the
respective property managers to understand if
the occupancy rates of the respective properties
are consistent with those adopted in the
valuations.



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BUZHEOES (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BREXSBE

EEENREMEURKBLRER  BEHAE
WE- - BHREEE - R2019F12831H &
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HEREXEEE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BUZHEORS (8)

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BUBREEIRS (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

QOur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)
BUZHEORS (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

BUBREEIRS (8)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Tse, Wong FPui.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

26 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

. ANIS 2L
meEaX

For the year ended 31 December 2019 — (Expressed in Renminbi (RMB))

HZE2019F12A31HILEFE — (AARE(TARKE])IIR)

Note 2018
B 5 (Note)
(M 3E)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
Revenue Iy 2= 4 71,274 61,742
Cost of services and sales Pk 75 % 88 & B A (29,830) (15,453)
Gross profit E F 41,444 46,289
Valuation gains on investment KEMENHER TS
properties 12 26,392 33,787
Other net income H b Ug A F 58 5 7,951 2,679
Distribution costs 2 85 K AR (404) (904)
Administrative expenses THRAX (19,931) (26,665)
Other operating gains/(expenses) H &2 W25 (FIs%) 22 (303)
Profit from operations KR E 55,474 54,883
Finance costs B & KA 6(a) (1,425) (1,614)
Profit before taxation A1 R 6 54,049 53,269
Income tax Frig i 7(a) (16,768) (16,715)
Profit for the year FRFE 37,281 36,554
Attributable to: DT EEN:
Equity shareholders of the RAFIEHRE
Company 37,281 36,554
Earnings per share BREF 10
Basic and diluted ERK#EE RMB0.08 RMB0.08

w

CAREBER09F1AIEERBRER B
BHEZERERACGEREVBRELLDSE
165% ° RIFUTE - LREHATET -
BN EC) -

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using M
the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c).

The notes on pages 107 to 215 form part of these financial
statements.

FI07E2215BEM N B R ZE W15 R &
H—38D o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
moBmRAMEENRK

For the year ended 31 December 2019 — (Expressed in RMB)

HZE2019F12A31B LFE — (AARKEI|IR)

Note 2018
B 5 (Note)
(B 53 )
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARBT T
Profit for the year FRFE 37,281 36,554
Other comprehensive FERHEMEEKE (B
income for the year (after BREEHFSESR
tax and reclassification )
adjustment)
Item that may be reclassified HAERAREHW B 7R
subsequently to profit or l0ss: B hIEE -
Exchange differences on BMETIIEENER
translation of: =8
financial statements of REARKM
companies outside the (T E])FEINA A
People’s Republic of China B 7% 2
(the “PRC") 3,610 7,106
Total comprehensive income FRAZEH W &5
for the year 40,891 43,660
Attributable to: DUTEEEMN:
Equity shareholders of the RARIERRR
Company 40,891 43,660

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using  MfsE: A& B 2 R2019F1A1B K A& IE ] B

the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the

comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c).

The notes on pages 107 to 215 form part of these financial

statements.

BHEEREBCE BB RERE

165% ° RIFUTE - LREHATES -

FH2HMEC) -

B —#D e

F1072 2158 B M 51 B 1\ 5%

M @k
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

fme W B RRR

At 31 December 2019 — (Expressed in RMB)

K2019F12A31H — (MARKFR)

31 December

31 December

Note 2019 2018
(Note)
20194 20184F
B 51 12H31H 12A31H
(Bff &%)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T
Non-current assets RBEE
Investment properties wEME 12 922,400 900,900
Property, plant and equipment Y BENZE 11 6,899 3,298
Deferred tax assets EREBIAE E 20(b)(ii) 1,445 1,457
930,744 905,655
Current assets REBEE
Properties held for sale FIELEME 3,719 13,983
Trade and other receivables B 5 K& H th & K IE 14 9,680 8,549
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREEEY 15 201,258 181,311
214,657 203,843
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 & H MR RIE 16 18,603 25,706
Contract liabilities AHBEE 17 934 4,705
Bank loan RITERK 18 6,500 6,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 19 1,394 =
Current taxation B HA 7% 18 20(a) 2,952 767
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 30383 37,178
Netcurrentassets =~ H#BHAE®®E = 184,274 166,665
Total assets less current EEHERARBAR
liabilities 1,115,018 1,072,320

FIO7E21SE M BR KN B RE
) — 25 -

The notes on pages 107 to 215 form part of these financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PGSITION (Continued)
REMBRRE (8)

At 31 December 2019 — (Expressed in RMB) 72019412 A31H — (A A R¥5R)

31 December 31 December
Note 2019 2018
(Note)
20194 20184F
Bt 5 12A31A 12A31H
(Bff &%)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARET T
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank loan RITE X 18 14,000 20,500
Lease liabilities HE&E 19 1,699 —
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEAE 20(b)(ii) 179,373 172,765
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 195,072 193,265
NET ASSETS EEFHE 919,946 879,055
CAPITAL AND RESERVES B AR &
Share capital % 21(c) 345,042 345,042
Reserves 1 574,904 534,013
TOTAL EQUITY DA 919,946 879,055

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using FtsF: AEBE D R2019F1A1B R AL E ] &

the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the BWHEBRER(GE BB RELELNE
comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c). 165% o IRIBUIL X - EREBRTTEY -

FH2HMEC) -

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on % £ & A 2020F3H26 1 #t /& I % # T

26 March 2020. B o
Liu Jia 2=
Lin Zimin ME
Directors o

The notes on pages 107 to 215 form part of these financial ZE107Z2156B MW T BN ZE MK K&
statements. BW—&n o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FERBBER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 — (Expressed in RMB)

HZ2019F12A31B LFE — (MARIR)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

RAAERRRES
PRC
Share Share  Capital statutory Exchange Retained
capital premium  reserve reserves reserves profits Total
h
KA ROBE E42HE LZERE HERE REIR ait
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR AR¥TR AR%TR AR%Tn ARETR ARETR
(note (note (note (note (note
(@) 21(d)ii) 1))  21(d)iv))  21(d)(iii)
(MaE (& (i3t (M3 (W&
() A A 21(d)iv) 21
Balance at 1 January 2018 20181 A1R M & 8h 273,975 - 81,796 2,955 (40976) 401,515 719,265
Changes in equity for 2018: 018FEHEE:
Profit for the year ERHE - - - - - 36554 36,554
Other comprehensive income 2 ENE = = = = 7,106 = 7106
Total comprehensive income 2ENEAR - - - - 7106 36,554 43,660
Transfer to reserve BREGEE - - - 092 = (1,092) =
Issue of ordinary shares under initial ~ REEXAREE(E X
public offering (IPO”), net of share NRBE)ETEER
issuance expenses nERAETEY 71,067 45,063 = = = - 116,130
Balance at 31 December 2018 and 12018128318 &
1 January 2019 20191 A1R M &4 345,042 45,063 81,796 4,047 (33,870) 436,977 879,055
Changes in equity for 2019 0195 E#28:
Profit for the year ERFIE - - - - - 371281 37,281
Other comprehensive income EprmEba - - - - 3,610 - 3,610
Total comprehensive income PHNEEE - - - - 3610 37,281 40,891
Transfer to reserve BRI - - - 1,020 - (1,020) =
Balance at 31 December 2019 20195128310 M &8 345,042 45,063 81,796 5,067 (30,260) 473,238 919,946
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using  Mi&E: A E B2 HK2019F1A1B K A LB ] B

the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the
comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c).

The notes on pages 107 to 215 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
moREMNER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 — (Expressed in RMB) #; 22019128318 It FE — (A ARFIR)

Note 2018
(Note)
(P 3E)
[if=8 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE TR ARETH PN RPN B

Operating activities REED
Cash generated from KEmERe

operations 15(b) 35,207 24,275
Tax paid: BEfHIE:
— PRC Corporate Income Tax — EZFEMSEREH

(“CIT”) paid (T EmEH]D) (6,806) (7,086)
— PRC Land Appreciation Tax — & &1 B + ith 12 E 5t

(“LAT”) paid (T B ERD) (1,157) -
Net cash generated from K& EEHFESHEETFHE

operating activities 27,244 17,189
Investing activities REED

Payment for the purchase BEME BER

of property, plant and R HIFRIA

equipment (2,325) (1,321)
Proceeds from disposal ﬁ’*%% & 7 &

of property, plant and HBRIFT S FRIE

equipment 49 —
Interest received B F B 5 2,585 1,147

The notes on pages 107 to 215 form part of these financial ZE107Z2156B MW T BN ZE MK K&
statements. BW—&n o
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (Continued)
REREMRER (H)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 — (Expressed in RMB) #; 22019128318 It FE — (A AR®F|R)

2018

(Note)

(P 3E)

[if=8 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
INL-E DNl A RET T ARBTIT

Note

Net cash generated from/ R&EEEFE (FA)

(used in) investing ReFE
activities 309 (174)
Financing activities MEEH
Capital element of lease ENHAEREEATL S
rentals paid 15(c) (1,120) —
Interest element of lease ENEERSNEHD
rentals paid 15(c) (122) —
Repayment of bank loan EEIBITER (6,000) (6,000)
A loan to intermediate holding A1 M E R A B E &
company 23(c) - (3,000)
Aloan repaid by intermediate  FMIER A EEEE R
holding company 23(c) - 3,000
Interest paid EENRESS (1,310) (1,623)
Proceeds from issue of shares %17 R% 15 A5 5K 18 - 128,065
Payment of listing expenses X ff FH B X (2,857) (7,066)
Net cash (used in)/ BMEEH (FTA)/
generated from B8R FHE
financing activities (11,409) 113,376
Netincreaseincashand BRERBELZEYWEM
cash equivalents FE 16,144 130,391
Cash and cash MAIEHNEE K
equivalents at 1 REeEEY
January 15(a) 181,311 42,435

Effect of foreign exchange #'\EEZE B &

rate changes 3,803 8,485
Cash and cash R12A3IENEERE

equivalents cEEY

at 31 December 15(a) 201,258 181,311

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using  FMfsE: A& B 2 R2019FE1A1B K AR IE T B

the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the WHEEZERER(GE BB REELNE
comparative information is not restated. See note 1(c). 165% ° IRIBUIL L - ERER AT TET] -

FH2HMEC)

The notes on pages 107 to 215 form part of these financial ZF107Z215H KK X B R Z E W 15 | &
statements. B—&B7 o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

B R &t

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (HKFRSs), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (HKASs) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group
are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period of
the Group. Note 1(c) provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that
they are relevant to the Group for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019 comprise the Company and
its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the financial statements is the historical cost basis
except for investment properties (see note 1(e)) which
are stated at its fair value. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in RMB, rounded to the
nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

EXEFHHE

(a)

(b)

SR EH

HEMBERRDRBBEEES
A g(FEGAMAE)
MENAAERETEMERE
ER(FBMBREER) (LA
MERAEERNERE B
BREER FEAESHER(F
BEENLRE)  FBERQ
REARURBBRRGIZ
TE T AR B o It B A R T
NEBEBBAXRZIMARRNA
B ETRAZEREEMERX
AEBEFRRAETBSAHRM
EFERTX -

EEGFMAGERME TR
AEEZRITEFHPRBERE
Rk A AR R 2 F R R
EAEBMEHREER - M
1(0) $2 it B X & Utk % # AT I
RAEFTER T E B 2 E A& &f
BREGHER  HWERBRITR
BESHTHEEANSERE
I HRREH DN ZF U B R
RABR -

MBREEREE

B 22019F12A31B EF E®
REPERRBIEARAMEHE
WBAR(REIAER]) -

BIREME(RWE1e)RAA
REEIKRIN  BEPBHRRX
PRt EEEDILME L RAE
EoBRRBEAI KK
BEAARKZY  iAERE
BRHBEZEONTAE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the
financial statements and major sources of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 2.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

1

EXRSTEE(E)

(b)

MBRREREE(E)

AT E(EAEYBREEL)
M ERRFEZEEEEL A
B - EETAIRER - MR FHIE
MR EFERRNEM
AREBE BfE WAKRZH
MERBE - ZFHAREHE
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EREMETERRENEE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(B5EFAN  ESEIUARETTIIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16,
Leases, and a number of amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group.

Except for HKFRS 16, Leases, none of the
developments have had a material effect on how the
Group’s results and financial position for the current
or prior periods have been prepared or presented.
The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining whether an
arrangement contains a lease, HK(SIC) 15, Operating
leases — incentives, and HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the
substance of transactions involving the legal form of
a lease. It introduces a single accounting model for
lessees, which requires a lessee to recognise a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases, except
for leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
(“short-term leases”) and leases of low-value assets.
The lessor accounting requirements are brought
forward from HKAS 17 substantially unchanged.

1 EXRSFHBEE

(c)

EHEESD

BEGMASERLRE -]
6l 7] M KE 8 B 5 s £ A
K& B M 7% W& EH D E1657
BEIARETEEV B REE
Al Ea] » ERAKE AR g5
HRMBERER -

BR<FE 7B B %5 e & 2 Rl ) 1655
HES  ZEHRYAEEE
AR E R R E M B ROR
ZHREXZIN T AL EBERY
2  RNEBEYERBEAMRA
S AT HA M R R A Rz R R
Kk o

(BEBMBEH/REER)F165
#HE

(BB oS EA)F1657 B
KB EEHAERDFITRHEE
LKtz E FEEREREMB
BERBREQ)RBEEINE
FE-—HLZHELEEREHE &
BERREZBEG)RERS
GAAEHE  HAREB(ER
EEZEQ)RERORFG
HREEZEEANKLZHE
& Hpt A ME ASIAE— &5t
B BEXABEARFAEEE
EREAEEEAMERAGR
HEEH/12E A A T
E(EHEAEDAREEBEER
EHERIN -EAB(EAE S
AHEADEITHRO L BEASFE
KRB EERFTE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Fr B BRI - FTE B AARE T ILHIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from
1 January 2019. The Group has elected to use
the modified retrospective approach. The initial
application of HKFRS 16 has no impact on the
opening balances. Comparative information has not
been restated and continues to be reported under
HKAS 17.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes
to previous accounting policies and the transition
options applied are set out below:

a. New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly
relates to the concept of control. HKFRS 16
defines a lease on the basis of whether a
customer controls the use of an identified asset
for a period of time, which may be determined
by a defined amount of use. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct
the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease
in HKFRS 16 only to contracts that were entered
into or changed on or after 1 January 2019.
For contracts entered into before 1 January
2019, the Group has used the transitional
practical expedient to grandfather the previous
assessment of which existing arrangements are
or contain leases. Accordingly, contracts that
were previously assessed as leases under HKAS
17 continue to be accounted for as leases under
HKFRS 16 and contracts previously assessed as
non-lease service arrangements continue to be
accounted for as executory contracts.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

1

EXRSTEE(E)

(c)

B RE28 (&)

N & B B2019F1A1B B &/ X
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(B5EFAN  ESEIUARETTIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

b.

Lessee accounting and transitional
impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a
lessee to classify leases as either operating
leases or finance leases, as was previously
required by HKAS 17. Instead, the Group is
required to capitalise all leases when it is the
lessee, including leases previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17, other than
those short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets which are exempt. As far as the Group
is concerned, these newly capitalised leases
are primarily in relation to property, plant and
equipment. For an explanation of how the Group
applies lessee accounting see note 1(g)(i).

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1
January 2019), the Group determined the length
of the remaining lease terms and measured the
lease liabilities for the leases previously classified
as operating leases at the present value of
the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the relevant incremental borrowing rates
at 1 January 2019. The weighted average
of the incremental borrowing rates used for
determination of the present value of the
remaining lease payments was 5%.

1 EXRSFHBEE

(c) EFtBEREH (&)

b.

AEASTEELTER

(BAMBHRELER)SE
1655 5 Bx & A1CE 78 & &t
R EATH R E AE A
REENTBREEHE
MEHEZHRE -R2-
EAREEREABA HA
KA HEERL B
FRTRF(E B ST LA
FIUTROBEREEHEZ
HE HZFERRNE
HHEHEREKEEBREEM
BN - HAKEME -
BEHENERCEEE
ERVE BMEMARESR
e ABASE M EHN
EBAEHREENE &
2B M 5 1(9)() °

RBEZ(CEBYBRE
A By 1658 & A (12019
F1A1R) AEBETH
BmEEHRE WL
PHEAKEHENHEE
ERuHENRBEEA
MR201951 818 | 48 8 1
EERFEHENREE
EHEEE BRETH
BEEMNKBERENIEE
BERAEHINEFHE A
5% o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

b.

Lessee accounting and transitional
impact (continued)

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group
applied the following recognition exemption
and practical expedients at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16:

)

the Group elected not to apply the
requirements of HKFRS 16 in respect
of the recognition of lease liabilities and
right-of-use assets to leases for which the
remaining lease term ends within 12 months
from the date of initial application of HKFRS
16, i.e. where the lease term ends on or
before 31 December 2019;

when measuring the lease liabilities at the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16,
the Group applied a single discount rate
to a portfolio of leases with reasonably
similar characteristics (such as leases
with a similar remaining lease term for a
similar class of underlying asset in a similar
economic environment); and

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

b.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(B5EFAN  ESEIUARETTIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

b.

Lessee accounting and transitional
impact (continued)

(i) when measuring the right-of-use assets
at the date of initial application of HKFRS
16, the Group relied on the previous
assessment for onerous contract provisions
as at 31 December 2018 as an alternative
to performing an impairment review.

As the lease commitment at 31 December 2018
was short-term lease with remaining lease term
ending on or before 31 December 2019, the
initial application of HKFRS16 has no impact on
the opening balance.

Impact on the financial result, segment
results and cash flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019, the
Group as a lessee is required to recognise
interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation
of the right-of-use asset, instead of the previous
policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. This results in a positive
impact on the reported profit from operations in
the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or
loss, as compared to the results if HKAS 17 had
been applied during the year.

1

EXRSTEEE)

(c) EFtBEREH (&)

b.

AEASTEELTER
BEXE (&)

(i) RERERGESHW
7% ¥R & & RI) 1657
EHFTEFREEE
B NEBEFRBLA
MR20184F12 A31H ¥
EBREMEERZEEE
B2 RS B #E
TREER -

B 7 R2018F12 A31H /Y
MEAERHTHEHRR
201912 A31H sk 2 Al @
MRS sXER
(BB REERDZFE6
TRE BV ERBIESE -

HEAKBEUBEE 25
XERBERBZEE

R20195F1 818 4] # ## R
FRAEEERMEAGEE
REBIEAATEABER
HEBBRNEGTHEE
ZHNEEBEREFEREEE
E MIERELEABE
REEHANEZREER
KEREETHEE M
SEMR - BN AFEE
RCE B G E£R)D) 17
FriS£EMt  WEER
EESRAEERTEHREN
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

C.

Impact on the financial result, segment
results and cash flows of the Group
(continued)

In the cash flow statement, the Group as a
lessee is required to split rentals paid under
capitalised leases into their capital element and
interest element(see note 15(c)). These elements
are classified as financing cash outflows, similar
to how leases previously classified as finance
leases under HKAS 17 were treated, rather than
as operating cash outflows, as was the case
for operating leases under HKAS 17. Although
total cash flows are unaffected, the adoption
of HKFRS 16 therefore results in a significant
change in presentation of cash flows within the
cash flow statement(see note 15(d)).

The following tables give an indication of the
estimated impact of the adoption of HKFRS
16 on the Group’s financial result, segment
results and cash flows for the year ended 31
December 2019, by adjusting the amounts
reported under HKFRS 16 in these consolidated
financial statements to compute estimates of
the hypothetical amounts that would have been
recognised under HKAS 17 if this superseded
standard had continued to apply in 2019
instead of HKFRS 16, and by comparing these
hypothetical amounts for 2019 with the actual
2018 corresponding amounts which were
prepared under HKAS 17.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 b B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Frk BB HAAIN * B LEHUARE FLHIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 EXREHEXGE)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued) (c) BstEBX25 (&)
c. Impact on the financial result, segment c. HEAKEEUMKXE 2
results and cash flows of the Group HEBRASREZTE
(continued) (&)

2018
Deduct:
Estimated
amounts
related to
Add back: operating  Hypothetical
HKFRS 16 leasesasif  amounts for [MGNEEME
Amounts  depreciation under P} RIEENI amounts reported
reported under  and interest HKAS 17 L for 2018 under
HKFRS 16 expense (note 1) HKAS 17 HKAS 17
Nk
e EBge 21952
RE (BRuE  BEM CEEL M A018FRE
(BREBRE HEEH) SBEIRE gt W (e
EH)E6E  F16RTH (FREHEN) (R EEEALEE
BHZEE FERASEX EUR)ME)  ENETE) Nkl
(A) (B) (©) (D=A+B+C)
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR ENEERE

Financial result for year ended ~ RFM(ERHKH%EE
31 December 2019 impacted ~ E)E16%FEEHZ
by the adoption of HKFRS 16:  2019F12A31R L 5E

LHBxE:
Profit from operations EE-FiN] 55,474 1,150 (1,242) 55,382 54,883
Finance costs BENE (1,425) 122 - (1,303) (1,614)
Profit before taxation RAAE 54,049 1,212 (1,242) 54,079 (53,269)
Profit for the year ERAE 37,281 1,212 (1,242) 37,311 (36,654)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Br BB HAI - FiBE ©EBHUARE T THIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 EXREHEKXGE)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued) (c) BstEBX25 (&)
c. Impact on the financial result, segment c. HAEEMKEE 2
results and cash flows of the Group HEBRASREZTE
(continued) (&)

2019 2018
Estimated
amounts related
to operating Hypothetical
leases amounts Compared to
Amounts as if under (IR amounts reported
reported under HKAS 17 ESNATGETE  for 2018 under
HKFRS 16 (notes 1 &2) HKAS 17 HKAS 17
LRSS
BE Mt
RE SEENRE 201952 EEEVIRET S
(BukgEs (FBeiRl) RRLEEY BEEHEE)
RH)E16% %) RE(FESH EEEAET W
2R EH (WE1R2)  ER)ETH) 2ELR
(A) (B) (C=A+B)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
N S ARETT ARETT ARETT

Ling items in the consolidated ~ R RM(FEHBHEER)
cash flow statement foryear 165 ¥ 22 E 22019
ended 31 December 2019 ERNBLEE R
impacted by the adoption of ~ ABE&FEREE:
HKFRS 16:

Cash generated from operations mEMERE 35,207 (1,242) 33,965 24,975

Net cash generated from RETBNERLTE

operating activities 21,244 (1,242) 26,002 17,189
Capital element of lease rentals paid B EEH & E AT S (1,120) 1,120 - =
Interest element of lease rentals paid B E R £ # 855 (122) 122 - =

Net cash used in financing RETBMAREFE
activities (11,409) 1,242 (10,167) 113,376
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(K= A AN

A

7 2 b B ()

SEHUARE T TLIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

C.

Impact on the financial result, segment
results and cash flows of the Group
(continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

The “estimated amounts related to operating
leases” is an estimate of the amounts of the
cash flows in 2019 that relate to leases which
would have been classified as operating leases, if
HKAS 17 had still applied in 2019. This estimate
assumes that there were no differences between
rentals and cash flows and that all of the new
leases entered into in 2019 would have been
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, if
HKAS 17 had still applied in 2019. Any potential
net tax effect is ignored.

In this impact table these cash outflows are
reclassified from financing to operating in order
to compute hypothetical amounts of net cash
generated from operating activities and net cash
used in financing activities as if HKAS 17 still
applied.
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EXRSTEEE)

(c) Bt BEE2D (&)

C.

EIRN
EES
(%)

B =

iz RepE

SEUBEE 2
REEREZEE

[HE2HERRAD
fbat &8 E R EE
BEIEMFEITHER
019FNARBERZIE
MTeasBRKEN
g 27 & E /w2019
ifﬁi/miz %
e R BR®R &
(BEEGFHERDEITH
2019 MR B 2 15
AT HEeRBRERE
ZBEYEER  MAA
FR2019%F 7] 32 &Y #1 5FE
EeRB(EEERE
A E175% 8 9 *57%%“
EHE EMEEF
MIAR B DR At o

FRIEAF
ZEBReRHBAMEER
FoBERE  UFtHE
KERBMEHEFH
EBERSBMAR S
FHENBRSE BN
(ERGTHEADEITHR
1398 i@ A

ANNUAL REPORT 2019 3

117



118

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

d.

Leasehold investment property

Under HKFRS 16, the Group is required
to account for all leasehold properties as
investment properties when these properties
are held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation (“leasehold investment properties”).
The adoption of HKFRS 16 does not have a
significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements as the Group previously elected
to apply HKAS 40, /nvestment properties,
to account for all of its leasehold properties
that were held for investment purposes as at
31 December 2018. Consequentially, these
leasehold investment properties continue to be
carried at fair value.

Lessor accounting

The accounting policies applicable to the Group
as a lessor remain substantially unchanged from
those under HKAS 17.

Under HKFRS 16, when the Group acts as an
intermediate lessor in a sublease arrangement,
the Group is required to classify the sublease
as a finance lease or an operating lease by
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from
the head lease, instead of by reference to
the underlying asset. The adoption of HKFRS
16 does not have a significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements in this regard.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(B %A S5

7 2 b B ()

B EEHUARETITIIR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows
and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries (continued)

(e)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or joint
venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 1(h)(ii)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in
a disposal group that is classified as held for sale).

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see
note 1(g)) to earn property leasing income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include land held for a
currently undetermined future use and property that
is being constructed or developed for future use as
investment properties.

Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction
or development at the end of the reporting period
and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at
that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in
fair value or from the retirement or disposal of an
investment property is recognised in profit or loss.
Property leasing income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in note 1(r).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 1(h)(ii)):

— right-of-use assets arising from leases over
freehold or leasehold properties where the
Group is not the registered owner of the property
interest.

— items of plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets arising from leases of underlying
plant and equipment (see note 1(g)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring
the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing
costs (see note 1(1)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— Buildings held for own use which are situated
on leasehold land are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 50
years after the date of completion.

— Equipment and others
2-20 years with residual value of 3%-10%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any,
are reviewed annually.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

7 5 3R 2R P & (48)
(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Br B A A - FTE B AARE T LIIR)
1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 ERXREFBEE)

(g) Leased assets (continued)

U

As a lessee

(A)  Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and
a lease liability, except for short-term leases
that have a lease term of 12 months. When
the Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. The lease payments associated with
those leases which are not capitalised are
recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are
not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Leased assets (continued)

U

As a lessee (continued)

(A)  Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

(continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement
date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see notes 1(f) and 1(h)(ii)), except for
the following types of right-of-use asset:

— right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are
carried at fair value in accordance with
note 1(e); and

— right-of-use assets related to interests
in leasehold land where the interest
in the land is held as inventory are
carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value in accordance with
note 1(i).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Leased assets (continued)

U

As a lessee (continued)

(A)  Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

(continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments
arising from a change in an index or rate, or
there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee, or there
is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that
do not meet the definition of investment
property in ‘other property, plant and
equipment’ and presents lease liabilities
separately in the statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (BRZ A HBEI - FTE S EHUARE T LIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Leased assets (continued)
(i) As alessee (continued)

(B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the
Group classified leases as finance leases
if the leases transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group. Leases which did not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group were classified
as operating leases, with the following
exceptions:

— property held under operating leases
that would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property
was classified as investment property
on a property-by-property basis and,
if classified as investment property,
was accounted for as if held under a
finance lease (see note 1(g)); and
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Leased assets (continued)

U

As a lessee (continued)

(B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019
(continued)

land held for own use under an
operating lease, the fair value of which
could not be measured separately
from the fair value of a building
situated thereon at the inception of
the lease, was accounted for as being
held under a finance lease, unless the
building was also clearly held under an
operating lease. For these purposes,
the inception of the lease was the time
that the lease was first entered into
by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1

(g) Leased assets (continued)

(i) As alessee (continued)

(B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019

(continued)

Where the Group acquired the use of
assets under finance leases, the amounts
representing the fair value of the leased
asset, or, if lower, the present value of
the minimum lease payments, of such
assets were recognised as property, plant
and equipment and the corresponding
liabilities, net of finance charges, were
recorded as obligations under finance
leases. Depreciation was provided at rates
which wrote off the cost or valuation of the
assets over the term of the relevant lease
or, where it was likely the Group would
obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the

asset, as set out in note 1(f).

Impairment

losses were accounted for in accordance
with the accounting policy as set out in

note 1(h).

Finance charges implicit in the

lease payments were charged to profit or
loss over the period of the leases so as to
produce an approximately constant periodic
rate of charge on the remaining balance of
the obligations for each accounting period.
Contingent rentals were charged to profit or
loss in the accounting period in which they

were incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

7 5 3R 2R P & (48)
(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Br B A A - FTE B AARE T LIIR)
1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 ERXREFBEE)

(g) Leased assets (continued)

U

As a lessee (continued)

(B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2019
(continued)

Where the Group had the use of assets
held under operating leases, payments
made under the leases were charged to
profit or loss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis
was more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the leased
asset. Lease incentives received were
recognised in profit or loss as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals were charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they were incurred.

(ii) As alessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines
at lease inception whether each lease is a
finance lease or an operating lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is
classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component
on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
The rental income from operating leases is
recognised in accordance with note 1(r)(i).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Leased assets (continued)

(ii) As alessor (continued)

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the
sub-leases are classified as a finance lease or
as an operating lease with reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the
head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the exemption described in note
1(9)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as
an operating lease.

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets

U

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on the following
items:

— financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables and other receivables,
including loans to associates and joint
ventures, which are held for the collection
of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest);

— contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15
(see note 1(j));

— debt securities measured at FVOCI
(recycling);
— |ease receivables; and

— loan commitments issued, which are not
measured at FVPL.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(B5EFAN  ESEIUARETTIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables

(continued)

Other financial assets measured at fair value,
including units in bond funds, equity and debt
securities measured at FVPL, equity securities
designated at FVOCI (non-recycling) and
derivative financial assets, are not subject to the

ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the

effect of discounting is material:

— fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables and contract assets: effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition

or an approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate;

— lease receivables: discount rate used in the
measurement of the lease receivable;

— loan commitments: current risk-free rate
adjusted for risks specific to the cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit
risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(B5EFAN  ESEIUARETTIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables, lease
receivables and contract assets are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument (including a loan commitment) has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of default occurring
on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs
when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (ii) the financial asset
is 90 days past due. The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)  (

B =B HAN

B EBEEAARE T ITIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

7 5 3R 2R P & (48)
(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Br B A A - FTE B AARE T LIIR)
1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 ERXREFBEE)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

U

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date
to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change
in the ECL amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for
all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a
loss allowance account, except for investments
in debt securities that are measured at FVOCI
(recycling), for which the loss allowance is
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
note 1(r)(iv) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless
the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount
less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (BRZ A HBEI - FTE S EHUARE T LIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
(continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

— the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of
the issuer.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(B5EFAN  ESEIUARETTIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

U

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments,
contract assets and lease receivables
(continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
lease receivable or contract asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources
of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-
Off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill,
an impairment loss previously recognised no
longer exists or may have decreased:

— property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets

— investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

(continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
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Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(B5EFAN  ESEIUARETTIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
(continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable)
or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited
to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)  (

B =B HAN

B EBEEAARE T ITIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i)

/)]

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are carried at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost and net realisable
values of completed property held for sale are
determined as follows:

In the case of completed properties developed by
the Group which comprise of multiple units which are
sold individually, the cost of each unit is determined
by apportionment of the total development costs
for that development project to each unit on a per
square meter basis, unless another basis is more
representative of the cost of the specific unit. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
less costs to be incurred in selling the property.

The cost of completed properties held for sale
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the properties
held for sale to their present location and condition.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see note 1(r)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract
assets are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the
policy set out in note 1(h)(i) and are reclassified to
receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional (see note 1(k)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see note 1(r)). A
contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see note 1(k)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

)]

(k)

U]

Contract assets and contract liabilities
(continued)

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on
a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see note

1(r).
Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset (see note 1(j)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see note 1(h)(i))

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in
accordance with the policy set out in note 1(h)(i).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Trade and other payables

(n)

(o)

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Trade and other payables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings, together with
any interest and fees payable, using the effective
interest method.

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Contributions to PRC local retirement schemes
pursuant to the relevant labour rules and
regulations in the PRC are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused
tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset
can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses
and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss
or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they
will reverse in the future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(B5EFAN  ESEIUARETTIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

Income tax (continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their
fair value in accordance with the accounting policy
set out in note 1(e), the amount of deferred tax
recognised is measured using the tax rates that would
apply on sale of those assets at their carrying value at
the reporting date unless the property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time, rather
than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of
deferred tax recognised is measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of the reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the
liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the following additional conditions are met:

in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously; or

in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

the same taxable entity; or

different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(r)

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
due event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Revenue recognition

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sale of properties, the provision of
services or the use by others of the Group’s assets
under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, or the
lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount
of promised consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to
the customer for more than 12 months, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer, and interest income is accrued
separately under the effective interest method. Where
the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group,
revenue recognised under that contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration
for any effects of a significant financing component if
the period of financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net
lease payments receivable. Contingent rentals
are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are earned.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(K= A AN

7 2 b B ()

B EEHUARETITIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r) Revenue recognition (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Sales of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties
developed for sale in the ordinary course of
business is recognised when legal assignment
is completed, which is the point in time when
the customer has the ability to direct the use of
the property and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits of the property. Deposits and
instalments received on properties sold prior to
the date of revenue recognition are included in
the statement of financial position under contract
liabilities (see note 1 (j)).

Property management service fee

These fees are recognised when services are
rendered.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

1

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(iv) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under
the effective interest method using the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
For financial assets measured at amortised cost
or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

(s) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss, except those arising
from foreign currency borrowings used to hedge
a net investment in a foreign operation which are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(B %A S5

7 2 b B ()

B EEHUARETITIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

(t)

The results of foreign operations are translated into
RMB at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items are translated
into RMB at the closing foreign exchange rates at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised
as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for
its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Fr B BRI - FTE B AARE T ILHIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(u) Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

() has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity

and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u) Related parties (continued)

(v)

(b) (continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial information,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various geographical locations.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BRI * FTB EEHUARYE T LY R)

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(v) Segment reporting (continued)

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in applying the Group’s accounting
policies, which are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

The following critical accounting policies involve the
most significant judgements and estimates used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Note
22 contains information about the assumption and their
risk factors relating to financial instruments. Other key
sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(a)

(b)

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position at their fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction
or development at the end of the reporting period
and their fair value cannot be reliably determined at
that time. The fair value of investment properties is
assessed annually by independent qualified valuers,
after taking into consideration the net income allowing
for reversionary potential and redevelopment potential
of the properties.

The assumptions adopted in the property valuations
are based on the market conditions existing at the
end of the reporting period, with reference to the
appropriate capitalisation rate.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in different
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provisions for income taxes, as the
calculations of which depend on the ultimate tax
determinations and are subject to uncertainties. When
the final tax outcomes of these matters are different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax in the period in
which such determinations are made.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

2

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

(c) Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses carried
forward and deductible temporary differences are
recognised and measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the relevant assets and liabilities, using
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting date. In determining the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets, expected taxable
profits are estimated which involves a number of
assumptions relating to the operating environment of
the Group and require a significant level of judgement
exercised by the directors. Any change in such
assumptions and judgement would affect the carrying
amounts of deferred tax assets to be recognised and
hence the net profit in future years.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The directors of the Company have been identified as the
Group’s most senior executive management. Operating
segments are identified on the basis of internal reports that
the Group’s most senior executive management reviews
regularly in allocating resources to segments and in
assessing their performances.

The Group’s most senior executive management
makes resources allocation decisions based on internal
management functions and assess the Group’s business
performance as one integrated business instead of
by separate business lines or geographical regions.
Accordingly, the Group has only one operating segment
and therefore, no segment information is presented.

The Group primarily operates in Mainland China and
accordingly, no geographical information is presented.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

REVENUE

The principal activities of the Group are property leasing,
provision of property management services and sales of
properties held for sale.

(i) Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from each significant
category is as follows:

i &

AEENTEERYSMERE - 2
ENEBEERGRF[ELEDEH

€® o
=

EEXBZHBWEDINIMAT

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARET T
Revenue from contracts (BERMEREED)
with customers within the FISEEBERRE
scope of HKFRS 15 EFEHAMK R
Provision of property R EEE RS
management services 15,474 18,272
Sales of properties held for sale $H&E#FIELEME 16,165 —
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 31,639 18272
Revenue from other sources X B H 1 3R &Y Uk 3
Gross rentals from investment REBREWENHES
properties R 39,635 43,470
71,274 61,742

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes
one customer with whom transactions have exceeded
10% of the Group’s revenues for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: two customers). Revenues
from these customers amounted to approximately
RMB10,119 thousand in 2019 (2018: RMB15,050
thousand). Details of concentrations of credit risk
arising from this customer are set out in note 22(a).

AEBNEFEZELL B
2019F12A31IB L FE - A —
EEFMRZHAEBEAEERK
FHI10% LA E(2018F : BT
F)e2019F  BZERFP M
Sl =N e AREI0119F T
(20184 : A R#15,050F JT) °
AZBEPEANEERBRES
1B FE22(a) ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

4

REVENUE (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the
future arising from contracts with customers
in existence at the reporting date

As at 31 December 2019, the remaining performance
obligation under the Group’s existing contracts
is RMB17,137 thousand. This amount represents
revenue expected to be recognised in the
future from the contracts for providing property
management services. The Group will recognise the
expected revenue in the case of providing property
management services, when the services are
completed, which is expected to occur over the next
one to five years.

Total future minimum lease receivables by the
Group

Total future minimum lease receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of rented
premises which fall due as follows:

4

W &% ()

(i)

(iii)

RERBEAFENEFEN
AHRBERASETRIANE

MR2019F12A31H © &K & & 1§
EEHNBETHRS®RENETSR
ARM¥A7TI37F L - Z 2 B R
RRKERBEMEERRBNE
HWEEBEBETERK S - FLIEH#
MEESERBEME  A&EEH
RARFS TR B FER TR H UM A -
FEHIR R RIE5F AL -

FEBARRKEHEERKRK
HARE

HERMZAAHEEEHE
™ B H R 2R & (K & FE UK
HEBmMT

2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARBT T

Within 1 year 1R 22,890 27,230
After 1 year but within 5 years 1F & B5F A 60,191 39,858
After 5 years 5% 1% 36,186 4,966
119,267 72,054

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 b B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Frk BB HAAIN * B LEHUARE FLHIR)

OTHER NET INCOME 5
2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T
Interest income from bank deposits R 1717 7k B 7| B U A 2,585 1,147
Net foreign exchange gains HINEE Uy 55 % 5 186 1,379
Compensation of expenses (note) M= @ 1E () 4,810 =
Others HAh 370 153
7,951 2,679
Note: The compensation of expenses is related to a dispute in M AxmEDEEFHEMENLLD
selling of properties in previous years. The Group and the B - AEB R EFHR2019610
counterparty entered into a settlement agreement on 8 October A8 £ )% bt &) 5 58 T 5] 3 A % 177
2019 under the court’s supervision, according to which the EOBL O HFIBINEHEAR
counterparty would pay a total sum of RMB4,810 thousand as 4810 T TIER AN & B E A 8
a compensation of relevant expenses incurred by the Group. B B E o VAR B 2019511
The amounts have been received by the court on 28 November R28A W ENE £ 58 - H 1% 12020
2019 and subsequently received by the Group on 3 January F1ASHMBA A S B Y -
2020.
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6  BiAlFE
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: MEIAEDHRIATIER :
2018
(Note)
(B 3E)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T
(a) Finance costs (a) BERZA
Interest expenses on bank loan RITEXOFERAX
(note 15(c)) (Fff 5E15(c)) 1,303 1,614
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEMNE (M
(note 15(c)) 15(c)) 122 =
1,425 1,614
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified ME: AEBEREBEETERARTEER
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative FE KR BV % EERADFE165 ©
information is not restated. See note 1(c) BEETE  EREBASTEY -

B2 R -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
1 # AR & (#8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

6

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)

6

Bt A A (&)

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
(b) Staff costs (b) BEIRA
Salaries, wages and other HF& I8R

benefits H b 18 7 16,418 17,371

Contributions to defined M R ZR K
contribution retirement plan BT 81 # 3K 1,231 1,295
17,649 18,666

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
participate in a defined contribution scheme administered
and operated by the local municipal government. The
Group’s PRC subsidiaries contribute funds which are
calculated on certain percentages of the employee salary
as agreed by the local municipal government to the
scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

The Group also participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“the MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The Group’s and employee’s contributions
to the MPF Scheme are based on 5% of the relevant
income of the relevant employee (up to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000) and in accordance with the
requirements of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance and related regulations.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment
of retirement benefits associated with these schemes
beyond the annual contributions as described above.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

AEBERTFEOKERRNE
T/ES HEiH )y ™mERAEEM
EBIEMREMHRRGE - AEHE
BB AR E R M & R
(HREBRMW T THERE
MEBIHEZHFEBDLEE)
femABETRKREFNREHRES -

AEBITEBFMEERAERE
BE2EBHEAELTER
BestgE) - AEBEHEESN
miESITEHERENEERSE
BRAWRATS% (LR AT AN
B8 Uk A.30,000/8 JT) » & A& 38
M ATE 5T &K 5 2 A8 78 28 1
MR TE o

BrT Ll FEEBAN - KK
= 3 4% 5h 5% F AT &) AR IKAR
MEyEMBEBARNEE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
I F WA & (#8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Frk BB HAAIN * B LEHUARE FLHIR)

6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 6 BiATFIE(E)
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T
(c) Other items (c) HfhHE
Cost of properties held for EELFELEME
sale sold ) K AR 15,489 =
Depreciation (note 11) 1 & (B 5E11)
— owned property, plant and — BEMYE -
equipment 5% B & 5% 1 374 335
— right-of-use assets* — ERAEEE" 1,171 —
Impairment losses NERIEN R
— trade and other receivables — BH R HEHMEW
(note 14) KIE (M 5E14) (47) 96
Auditor’s remuneration % & A % BN
— audit service — ZER® 1,303 1,060
— review and other service — B R HAM RS 352 352
Listing expenses EmAX - 7,822
* The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1 January * AEEB2019F1A1BERE X ERCE
2019. The Group has elected to use the modified retrospective IS IREER)FE165R - NEEE
approach. The initial application has no impact on the opening BHAKEITER T E BRER
balances. Comparative information has not been restated and (BB %W EER)FE165 2 H 4
continues to be reported under HKAS 17, See note 1(c). After EHHEYE HREMUESS
initial recognition of right-of-use assets at 2019, the Group as A 4 48 1= BR(E B g 5 R F1758
a lessee is required to recognise the depreciation of right-of- TR - B2 WaEC) ° R2019F &
use assets, instead of the previous policy of recognising rental KEREAREER AEEBEAR
expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-line EBEANBERRERAREERE M
basis over the lease term. EREMBRNEERIZE G LR

RELHEELNEEHRX -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 7 &GREEaRHTHNAEH

OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) mEBEXRDBIIEE:

profit or loss represents:

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
Current tax B AR Bt 18
PRC CIT (notes 7(b)(i) and (ii)) FETEMEH
(Bt 32 7(b) (i) K (ii)) 6,078 4,769
PRC LAT (note 7(b)(iv)) Rt I E
(FS 7E7(0)(iv)) 1,478 —
Withholding tax (note 7(b)(iii) 8BS (5 7(0) i) 2,592 1,160
10,148 5,929
Deferred tax iE %t B 18
Origination and reversal of ERMEZENELER
temporary differences # [ (ff 5E20(b))
(note 20(b)) 6,620 10,786
16,768 16,715

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 b B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Frk BB HAAIN * B LEHUARE FLHIR)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 7 HKEAEBZRTMNAMEH (E)
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and (b) BHEMIREERAFRETEN
accounting profit at applicable tax rates: EAEAHEER:
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Profit before taxation 754 B A 54,049 53,269
Notional tax on profit before MAAMERERTIE &

taxation, calculated at the rates ~ #BEE i 1B Al A#E 1@ i@
applicable to profits in the tax ReF B = E (M

jurisdictions concerned 51 7(b) () B (i)

(notes 7(b)(i) and (ii) 15,295 15,915
Tax effect of non-deductible TAIHB R ®

expenses e 5 6
Utilisation of tax effect of )R iR 1 R FER AR

deductible temporary RS E E RS

difference previously not %

recognised (1,246) (627)
Tax effect of unused tax losses  KAERABHHIBEEE

not recognised ORSTR - - 986
Utilisation of tax losses previously 2 B i@ F & # 32 5 18

not recognised B8 (986) —
Withholding tax on distributed ENRK =B

earnings (note 7(o)(iii) (Bt 35 7(0)iii) 2,121 _
Withholding tax for interest 7 B B /BB A B R AR A A

charges between PRC ZHEHFEEHA

subsidiaries and the Company T8 $0 %4 (T 5E 7 (o)(ii))

(note 7(b)(iii)) 471 435
LAT (note 7(b)(iv)) T IEE

(Fff 37 (0)(iv)) 1,478 —
Tax effect on LAT T I E W BB
& (370) —

Actual tax expense ERMRIERAS 16,768 16,715
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

7

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:
(Continued)

(i)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman lIslands and the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income
tax in the Cayman Island and BVI.

The income tax rate applicable to Group entities
incorporated in Hong Kong, for the income
subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax during the year
ended 31 December 2019 is 16.5% (2018:16.5%).
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made as the Group did not earn any income
subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax during the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: nil).

According to the notice of taxation from relevant
tax authorities, Brighter Win Limited (“Brighter
Win”) established a PRC branch in Kunming,
which is determined as a body that substantially
carries out comprehensive management and
control on the branch’s business operation,
employees, accounts and assets of the branch
within the PRC. Accordingly, Brighter Win’s PRC
branch is subject to PRC corporate income tax
at the rate of 25% on the taxable income.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:
(Continued)

(i

Effective from 1 January 2008, under the PRC
Corporate Income Tax Law, the PRC’s statutory
income tax rate is 25%. The Group’s PRC
subsidiaries and branch are subject to PRC
income tax at 25% unless otherwise specified.

Pursuant to “Notice on Implementation of
Inclusive Tax Relief Policy for Small Low-profit
Enterprises Cai Shui (2019) No. 13”, Chengdu
Everbright Property Management Co., Ltd.
falls within the eligible industry category and
is eligible to enjoy the preferential income tax
rate of 5% (a reduced rate of 25% as taxable
income amount, and be subject to enterprise
income tax at 20% tax rate when income does
not exceed RMB1 million) and 10% (a reduced
rate of 50% as taxable income amount, and be
subject to enterprise income tax at 20% tax
rate when income exceeds RMB1 million but
does not exceed RMB3 million) for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018:15%, according
to “Announcement of the State Administration
of Taxation on Issues Relating to Enterprise
Income Tax Pertaining to Implementation of the
Catalogue of Encouraged Industries in Western
Region”).

7 HRBERRTHAEH(E)

(b) HEMIKRERBEARRITEN
SR FRNYER: (&)

(ii

(PEAREMBE D EF
BHREE TR BEH M ZE
TEFT 1S B f XK &25% (8
2008F1A1HEAR) - B
FEEHBP  GALAEEHE
FEB AR LD #E
78 bA25% ) B R 8 4 b B
Frig i o

BEIBENE G/ ZE
2B R OB R BROR Y B
(B B (2019) 1358 |- AR
HWHERDEEEBR AT
BEEWRMEERR -
It B B 1% £ B 22019412
A31B Lt F ¥ Z%5% (&
WATE B ARKI008
T ERBUWMA 2 BER
%,25% * 1%20% K Fi K ¢
M ERBH)R10% (&
WAHBBARKIBEET
BB B ARKIE S
T ERBRWASBERE
50% * ¥%220% K B & S84
CEMBHINMERE
B K (20184F : 15% * 1B
BIBRMIEERERHR
IR B B fEE ¥
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BHRE] -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and
accounting profit at applicable tax rates:
(Continued)

(il

(iv)

According to PRC corporate income tax
laws and its implementation rules, dividends
receivable and interest income received by non-
PRC corporate residents from PRC enterprises
are subject to withholding tax at a rate of 10%,
unless reduced by tax treaties or arrangements,
for profits earned since 1 January 2008.

Since the Group can control the amount and
timing of distribution of profits of the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries, deferred tax liabilities are
only provided to the extent that such profits are
expected to be distributed in the foreseeable
future.

LAT is levied on properties developed by the
Group for sale, at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, which under the applicable regulations is
calculated based on the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including
lease charges of land use rights, borrowing costs
and relevant property development expenditures.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group’s properties held for sale are charged on
the contract revenue of properties sold at 7%
according to local tax regulations published by
Chengdu local tax bureau.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 b B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Frk BB HAAIN * B LEHUARE FLHIR)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 8 EEHM

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) B IR & A R A K F] £383(1) 1§ RAA
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the AI(KEESNam B R RO FE28
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of FIBENESHFMOT :

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme 2019
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
e 2UR 2019

EEHE  FRENE MEREA BT HER @t

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBTR  ARMTn ARETR AR®TR  ARET:R
(il

Chairman IE

Liu Jia i) 25 i - 1,177 863 16 2,056

Executive director HiTES

Lin Zimin (i) WE () - 670 729 - 1,399

Non-executive Directors FUTES

Tse Hang Mui (v) ARH(WY) - - - - -

Li Yinzhong (v) ZHRP() - - - - -

Independent Non-executive Diretors BUFH{TES

Tsoi David (vi) X&) 198 - - - 198

Shek Lai Him, Abraham (vi) RER i 199 - - - 199

Lee Jor Jung (v} BT vi) 197 - - - 197

Yu Pauline Wah Ling (vi) TER W) 195 - - - 195
789 1,847 1,592 16 4,244
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
1 # AR & (#8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

8

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

8 EEHME

Salaries, Retirement
allowances and  Discretionary scheme 2018
Directors' fees  benefits in kind bonuses  contributions Total
g RER 2018%
EEHe  FRENRE RERAL RIGEER @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  ARETRT ARETR  ARETR ARETR
i)
Chairman IE
Liu Jia (i) 8% (i) - 821 1,012 32 1,865
Executive director HiTES
Lin Zimin (i) WE () - 476 888 — 1,364
Non-executive Directors FUTES
Tse Hang Mui (v) ARH(WY) - - - - -
Li Yinzhong (v) ZHAW) — — — — —
Independent Non-executive Diretors BUFHTES
Tsoi David (vi) X&) 189 = = = 189
Shek Lai Him, Abraham (v BER W) 189 - - - 189
Lee Jor Jung (v} BT vi) 189 = = = 189
Yu Pauline Wah Ling (vi FEE i) 189 - - - 189
756 1,297 1,900 3?2 3,985

(iv)

During the year, no emolument were paid by the Group to the
directors or any of the five highest paid individuals set out
in note 9 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. No remuneration
was paid to two non-executive Directors during the year.

Discretionary bonus is determined by reference to the
performance of individuals and the Group.

Mr. Liu Jia was appointed as director of the Company on 1
September 2000 and re-designated as executive director and
the chairman of the Company on the Listing Date (16 January
2018) for a specific term of three years.

Mr. Lin Zimin was appointed as executive director of the
Company on 25 November 2010 and re-designated as
executive director of the Company on the Listing Date (16
January 2018) for a specific term of three years.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

(iv)

FR-AEEW K@ EFK T K
HOPHBEMNAERESHFMA LRI
—BALTXNEMBE  AER
MAREBHINAREE R FE
SERBEREE - FR HEA®
FIERITEEINEMFH

B 15 TE 4T T5 2 BR (A A B2 K & @ 1) K
HETE -

21 5= & £ N2000FOR1H B R E R
RRRES - WK B H (201841
R6R)EFHEZERARANITE
ERIF OEEEHA=F-

& 8 % A N20104E11 A250 & &
EEARBRNTES - LN B
(2018F1ABR) EEFZ X AAR
RIMITES  EETHAE=F -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(v) Ms. Tse Hang Mui and Mr. Li Yinzhong were appointed as
director of the Company on 7 June 2017 and re-designated as
non-executive directors of the Company on the Listing Date (16
January 2018). The non-executive directors of the Company are
appointed for a specific term of three years, subject to renewal
after the expiry of the current term.

(vi)  Mr. Tsoi David, Mr. Shek Lai Him, Abraham, Mr. Lee Jor Jung,
Ms. Yu Pauline Wah Ling were appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from the Listing
Date (16 January 2018). The non-executive directors of the
Company are appointed for a specific term of three years,
subject to renewal after the expiry of the current term.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two
(2018: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed
in note 8 above. The aggregate of the emoluments in
respect of the other three (2018: three) individuals are as
follows:

ESHFMNGR)

V)

(vi)

WA L+ RF Rk EHR2017
FOATARZERALRFES IR
™ HA(20185F1 F16H) #E EH &
ERARBRNITES - ARAF
HITEEUREEEH=FZF »©
EHERRATEE

BEAMEE REHELE
EERTERLZLTEZTAADA
BYEMITES - 8 LT HE(2018
F1R16H) AR - NRF B IEH
TEEUNETTH=ZFZT KT
HEmERET -

REHMAL

EhEmeEFWALTE - MK (2018

=2

ME)REFT EMESBEERN L

X Bt 78 o H #k = % (201845 : = &)
AR S RBHIIMT :

2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AR T T

Salaries and other emoluments & & CH b & B 1,341 850
Discretionary bonuses B 15 76 4T 406 378
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET B R 45 106
1,792 1,334

The emoluments of the three (2018: three) individuals with
the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

ZHOI8F =R )R F M ALTH

ARBZTEZEARY
1,000,0007T

RMB nil — RMB1,000,000

B EELNT :
2019 2018
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE N
3 3
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(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
1 # AR & (#8)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

10 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of
the Company of RMB37,281 thousand (2018: RMB36,554
thousand), and the weighted average of 441,400 thousand
ordinary shares (2018: 436,863 thousand shares) in issue
during the year, calculated as follows:

38 AR 004 7 3 B 2K

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares

10 SREF

FR BEREABHNTDEARQ
AIEBRESREREMNLFBEA
R ¥37,281F jt(2018F : A R #&
36,554F jT) &k B B 1T W 0 #E F 15
A% #1441,400F B% % i@ A% (20184 :
436,863 T B I D) 5T & T -

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January ®R1A1BE#1TE B 441,400,000 33,100,000
Effect of share subdivision BRHOFHE &

(note 21 (c)) (M 5E21(c)) - 297,900,000
Effect of new shares issued BOOHRNOEE

(note 21 (c)) (M 5E21(c)) - 105,863,014
Weighted average number of B2 1T E AR 04

ordinary shares in issue 19 iR #& 441,400,000 436,863,014

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares for the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018,
and therefore, diluted earnings per share are the same as
the basic earnings per share.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

A R & £2019F12 A31H k20184
1ABHIEEE T EEE#H EL R
B HEREERNEERELRR
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(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

11 X BERZHE

Ownership
interests in
buildings Buildings
held for own Equipment leased for
use and others own use Total
BEEER
EFNERRE HEEBAN
& R HA BF &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARE TR ARE TR AR TR
Cost DN
At 1 January 2018 R2018%F1 A1H 3,161 3,985 - 7,146
Additions NE - 196 - 196
Disposals BEE - - - -
At 31 December 2018 and R2018F12 A31H
1 January 2019 2019417418 3,161 4,181 - 7,342
Additions NE 243 719 4,140 5,102
Disposals RE - (49) - (49)
Foreign exchange differences INE Z 5 - 14 73 87
At31December2019 RM2019%12A31H 3404 4865 4213 12,482
Accumulated depreciation: ZitifE:
At 1 January 2018 R2018%1A1A (1,086) (2,623) - (3,709)
Charge for the year FRTH (126) (209) = (335)
At 31 December 2018 and R2018F12 A31H
1 January 2019 201941718 (1,212) (2,832) - (4,044)
Charge for the year FARALH (134) (239) (1,150) (1,523)
Disposals BE - 6 - 6
Foreign exchange differences INE = 5R 1 2 (21) (22)
At31December2019 M2019%12A31A (1345) | (3,067) | ) (5,583)
Net book value: B E
At 31 December 2019 #K2019F12 A31H 2,059 1,798 3,042 6,899
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12A31H 1,949 1,349 - 3,298
Note: As the lease commitment at 31 December 2018 was short- Mar: BRR2018F12A8318 /) & &

term lease with remaining lease term ending on or before 31
December 2019, the initial application of HKFRS16 has no
impact on the opening balance. See note 1(c).

All of the Group’s ownership interests in buildings held for
own use are located in the PRC.

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
RMB4,213 thousand which were related to the capitalised
lease payments payable under a new 3-year tenancy
agreement of an office unit.

R T H & B 1R2019F12 431
HekzaEmmEEE  ax
FE FRCE BB % 3R S A F165%
HHVESBETYE - B2
#E1(c) °

AEENBERBIFERETOE
BEREZHUNFAE -

FR ERAREENFIERARE
4,213T 7T - AT M AEEL
SEHEmMENENEANCHEN
KRR -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
1 # AR & (#8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BRI * FTB EEHUARYE T LY R)

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 12 BREWH
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount BREENE R

RMB’000

AR® T

At 1 January 2018 R20184F1A1H 876,600
Additions NE 1,125
Disposal BE (423)
Transfer properties to held for sale EHEYEERHELS (10,189)

Fair value adjustments NABEFE 33,787

At 31 December 2018 2018512 A31H 900,900
Additions NE 1,349
Disposal BEE 15(b) (941)
Transfer properties to held for sale ~ ER Y X Z=HEHE (5,300)

Fair value adjustments NAEBEFAE 26,392

At 31 December 2019 12019412 4318 922,400

As at 31 December 2019, investment properties with
a total fair value of RMB354,803 thousand (2018:
RMB340,121 thousand) were pledged as collateral for
the Group’s bank loan (see note 18).

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

R2019%F 128318 © » & B
BE#R%E A AR K354803F T
BB Y EQ0I8F: A R
340,121 F m) A A S E /R 1T
EREEMBER(RKIE8) -



(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment
properties

U

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s properties measured at the end
of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e.
unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using
significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs
for which market data are not
available

valuations: Fair value measured
using significant unobservable
inputs

12 REWE(R)

(b) &3

TREVHRBEHARTH
HEZASEVMENAR
BE ERBGEAEVH
WREER)FEI3HE A B
BtEDA=ZBAREBE
8% - 1R ¥& & (8 H i B {6
AR AENIEREES
T ARBENERSD
BRYER:

- F-EH HhEENE-
R A EE B
HREEXRE
RitBREER
1 45 7 #) R 4R 58
EHRE)GFEN
AL

fEE: AE &
@ AEE A
EE-EREA
ENTBEGA
BE)EXERE
ATABRGA
EFENARE
(ERNCIE =30
BAERLED
GEEANES2E
L PN

- F-ER

fEE:EREX
FABEEAE

SAENARLEE

- 3ZER
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment
properties (continued)

U

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s investment
properties carried at fair value were entirely
categorised in Level 3 (2018: Level 3). During
the year ended 31 December 2019, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2018: none). The
Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.

All of the Group’s investment properties
were revalued as at 31 December 2019. The
valuations were carried out by an independent
firm of surveyors in Hong Kong, Landscope
Christie’s International Real Estate, who have
among their staff fellows of the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors with recent experience
in the location and category of property being
valued. The Group’s directors and the financial
manager have discussion with the surveyors on
the valuation assumptions and valuation results
when the valuation is performed at the reporting
date.

As a result of the update, a net gain of
RMB26,392 thousand (2018: RMB383,787
thousand), and deferred tax thereon of
RMB6,363 thousand (2018: RMB8,044
thousand) has been recognised in profit or
loss for the period in respect of investment
properties.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

12 REWE(R)

(b) REMELABENGEE

U

~

AREEERE)

MR2019F12A31H © &K £
BLARBEAENKRE
MEZHEIPBRE=ZER
2018F :E=ZF &) N
#H £2019F12A31H 1k F
B BEEF—EREE
BRzENER FEF=
fE A &) 88 A 3k 82 1 (2018
FE) AEBNBEE
KEBREAEBAREHK
RANBEER ZET
BRI H 8% o

AEERFEREYHEY
E2019F12 A31H &E #1 #F
B HEHEEN KB
OB ERMTESELTSH
BRHEBSR  ZAEATT
MEBEREEBRHEME
EEFSE  HEFMAE
PENMIELAE RER S
HHEAODHEELR - R
BREBHARMAER @ K
EEMNESMNUBKER
REERSERGEELERE
Al AMEITF R ©

MR LM ER  B@EKE
MENKRZFEARE
26,392T 7L (20185 : A R
#33,787F jT) & 18 B8 &
iE T E A R #6,363F T
(20184 : A R *8,044F
JO) B R E R TE 1B 25 P AR

=7
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(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W RMEE (8)

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

12

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value measurement of investment
properties (continued)

(b)

12 REWE(R)

(b) REMELIABENEE)

(i)

Information about Level 3 fair value

(i) F=ERAAEBEFEN

measurements: &R
Weighted
Valuation technique  Unobservable input Range average
i {E B 1l FABEERAE EE mEYH
Market approach by direct adjustment of comparables for -50% to 60% N/A
comparison method difference of transaction time and (2018:-50% to 60%)
physical attributes between the
subject property
RABELBENTISS BNVENRIBRREEREBELL -50%%60% T iE
& = RN ERE (20184 : -50% £60%)
Term and Reversion capitalisation rate and discount factor 3.75% 10 6.5% N/A
Method (2018: 3.75% to 6.5%)
FHRERE BAEERBERZH 3.75%%6.5% i

The investment properties are all located in the
PRC which are partially owner-occupied and
partially subjected to existing tenancies as at
the date of valuation. In this connection, for the
property interests in vacant possession, the fair
value has been determined assuming vacant
possession could be immediately available as at
the date of valuation. For the tenanted property
interests, the fair value has been determined
on the basis of capitalisation of the net income
derived from the existing tenancies with due
allowance for reversionary income potential of
the respective properties and where appropriate,
also made reference to the comparable market
transactions.

(20184 : 3.75% %6.5%)

RAWED MR ERE -
RGBS EHHRE
TR BPBERAR
HEBRT - Bl - HR
TEEHMMEES K
AABEREBBRE
BEEERNEEARTY
BNERG - # N B Y 2k
% DAMETDAEAE
MEE 2B A A
AEBET LEEE
MEHERKAES
RMEE)BETE LR
HIBRS o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12 BREWHE(E)
(c) Investment properties leased out under (c) REHETHENBREYXE

operating leases
The Group leases out investment properties under AEEEKEHETHERE
operating leases. The leases typically run for an Y HMAOMPBHR—RK A
initial period of 1 to 10 years, with an option to renew 1E106F - WA EZ AHEE
the lease after that date at which time all terms are M AREFREAABER-
renegotiated. Lease payments are usually adjusted HEMNMK—RKRSTEHBAEBEUAR
periodically to reflect market rentals or contain a MmizEe  HRTEFEEHAE
contingent rental element which is based on a fixed PEXBEHNETAEIXRFED
percentage of customer’s sales receipts. HEME -
All properties held under operating leases that would HeREMEZEENRKEHE
otherwise meet the definition of investment properties ETHEYEALTAREREY
are classified as investment properties. ¥—H-

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 13 HMEBARKE

TXEFINETBFEAEEESE
BEXRBENMNBRRFE - B3k
AEER  AREROERN ST B

The following list contains only the particulars of
subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets or
liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary
unless otherwise stated.

Percentage of ownership interests

BEEBAAN
Place of Group’s
incorporation and  Particulars of issued and effective Held by the Held by the
Company Name business paid-up capital interest  Company subsidiary Principal activities
A LR BRITR REER
DR ER ES 3ok BRERAFE EREE 4A0RKE WEARAKE IEED
Growing China Limited BVI USD50,000/USD50,000 100% 100% — Investment holding
AEABRES 50,0003 7T /50,000% 1T 100% 100% - REER
Metallic Field Limited BVI USD1/USD1 100% = 100% Investment holding
EENEERAA REEARES E3AE 100% - 100% REBRK
Square Field Limited BVI USD50,000/USD50,000 100% = 100% Investment holding
HEERLF REEARES 50,0003 7T /50,000% 1T 100% - 100% REBRK
Brighter Win Limited Hong Kong HKD10,000/HKD10,000 100% = 100% Property leasing
KXERAR Eh 10,0007 7t /10,000% 7T 100% - 100% MEEE
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(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

13

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

13 KMELRARE(R)

Percentage of ownership interests

BEREAAML
Place of Group’s
incorporation and  Particulars of issued and effective Held by the Held by the
Company Name business paid-up capital interest ~ Company subsidiary Principal activities
LR BRTR KRB
DNEER EBbE BRRAGFE EREE A0FAKE WELARE FEED
First Step Corporation Limited Hong Kong HKD10,000/HKD10,000 100% = 100% Investment holding
ERERAA £k 10,0007 7t,/10,000% 7T 100% - 100% REZR
Chengdu Sing Kong City Real Estate Co., ~ Chengdu, the PRC RMB30,000,000/ 100% = 100% Property development
Ltd. (“Sing Kong City”) (Note) RMB30,000,000 and property leasing
REBFERERBRAD(HER) A AR #30,000,0007T /A K% 100% - 100% DERERNERE
UiEa) 30,000,0007T
Chengdu Everbright International Mansion ~ Chengdu, the PRC RMB76,310,900/ 100% = 100% Property leasing and
Co., Ltd. (“International Mansion”) (Note) RMB75,310,900 property management
RBXKRERARARAA R AR%75,310,9007,/ 100% - 100% NEBERNEER
LN AR75,3109007C
Chengdu Everbright Finance Centre Chengdu, the PRC HKD39,250,000/ 100% = 100% Property leasing
Development Co., Ltd. (Note) HKD39,250,000
RBXRERTOERREERAR o 39,250,000% T/ 100% - 100% WEHE
(Hifzt) 39,250,000/ 7T
Chengdu Everbright Property Management ~ Chengdu, the PRC RMB1,023,972/ 100% - 100% Property management
Co., Ltd. (Note) RMB1,023,972
RBXANEERERAR (WD) R AE#1,003 97278/ 100% - 100% WEER
AR#1,023,97270
Everbright Grand China Assets Hong Kong HKD10,000/ HKD10,000 100% = 100% Investment holding
Management Limited
ERKFEEERARAT B 10,000% 1/ 100% - 100% REZR
10,0007% 70
Excel Harmony Investments Limited The British Virgin USD10,000/ USD10,000 100% - 100% Investment holding
Islands
ERABRES 10,000% 7,/ 100% - 100% REZR
10,000% 1T
KBRAKEREREZLEBBRAA  Chengdy, the PRC RMB10,000,000/ RMBO 100% - 100% Investment Management
(Note) (fit %) And Consultant
BB A A& %10,000,0007T/ 100% - 100% REEBRKER
AREOT
Note: The official names of these companies are in Chinese. MzE: ZEQARMEXNEBBAYX T

The English name is for identification purpose only. These
companies were registered as a wholly foreign-owned

enterprise under the law of the PRC.

HEXEREHRB - ZFQ
A REF B R EM B INEE
Bx-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (BRZ A HBEI - FTE S EHUARE T LIIR)

14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 14 EZRHEMEWRKIER

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBTT

Trade debtors, net of loss allowance & 5 & U8R 3 -

Nk EE %’é {ﬁ 573 2,471
Lease receivables, net of loss & R RIE
allowance Bk & Tﬁﬁé‘fﬁ 3,371 4,998
Other debtors H b fE W KIE 5,736 1,080
Financial assets measured at REBEXAFTEDN
amortised cost TREE 9,680 8,549
Ageing analysis Rl DT
As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis R EER EXBEEHH RN
of trade debtors and lease receivable (which are included EERENE S ERERER EHE f &
in trade and other receivables), based on the invoice date WHBGIAE S X E b B FKIE)
and net of loss allowances, is as follows: BB DT
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Current B HA 289 715
Within 3 months 3fE A A 3,695 5,302
3 to 6 months 3Z61# A - 563
6 to 9 months 62916 A - 563
9 to 12 months 9F121E A - 563
Over 1 year B 150 —
Less: allowance for impairment of Nk BSEWRIE
trade receivables (B 1 (190) (237)
3,044 7,469
Trade debtors and lease receivable are due pursuant to the B PR ERNEE EWRIERE
terms of the agreements. Further details on the Group’s HRERINE AEEEFEERER
credit policy and credit risk arising from trade debtors and BoRWEREHEERKRIIEBESE
lease receivables are set out in note 22(a). K1z B R B 5518 3 0 BT sE22(@a) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 b B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Frk BB HAAIN * B LEHUARE FLHIR)

15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 15 HRE&RRSEEYWURHMEREER

FLOW INFORMATION EEH
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) ReRBEEEYERE:
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Deposits with banks RITER 201,216 181,277
Cash on hand FEBE® 42 34
Cash and cash equivalents in REMBMRAER R
the consolidated statement FERESRERAN
of financial position and in RekBAeFEY
the consolidated cash flow
statement 201,258 181,311
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (BRZ A HBEI - FTE S EHUARE T LIIR)

15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 15 HRE&RALEEYWURHMEREER

FLOW INFORMATION (continued) EEH(E)
(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to (b) AR BHELEMBRESNY
cash generated from operations: iR :
Note 2018
Bt 51 (Note)
(Mg 3E)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBT T
Profit before taxation i A A E 54,049 53,269
Adjustments for: JHEIER :
Net valuation gain on REMERNGE
investment property W 25 7% 58 12 (26,392) (33,787)
Depreciation = 11 1,539 335
Finance costs &l & B A 6(a) 1,425 1,614
Interest income B A 5 (2,585) (1,147)
Listing expenses EWRAX - 711
Net foreign exchange gains FIE H W= 5 (186) (1,379)
Loss on disposal of HEREMER
investment property & 18 12(a) 941 423
Allowance for doubtful debts g 5 W K18
of trade receivables REER R 14 (47) 96
Changes in working capital: LEEeE
Decrease in properties held HIELEWMER
for sale b 15,564 —
Increase in trade and other B 5 & H At JE UL
receivables SR IE AN (1,084) (4,275)
(Decreases)/Increase in trade &5 K& H fth & {f
and other payables and RIE R B UR
receipts-in-advance BOR D) 1
n (8,017) 8,415
Cash generated from operations #% & F11538 & 35,207 24,275
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 b B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Frk BB HAAIN * B LEHUARE FLHIR)

15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH 15
FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

ReRkREsSEUAREGREER
EER (R

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to
cash generated from operations: (continued)

(b) AR HEKLEMSRENY
iR (&
B 2

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the AREBBRRBEEITENFES

modified retrospective approach Under this approach,
the comparative information is not restated. Previously,
cash payments under operating leases made by the
Group as a lessee of RMB830 thousand were classified
as operating activities in the consolidated cash flow
statement. Under HKFRS 16, except for short-term lease
payments, payments for leases of low value assets and
variable lease payments not included in the measurement
of lease liabilities, all other rentals paid on leases are now
split into capital element and interest element (see note
15(c)) and classified as financing cash outflows. Under
the modified retrospective approach, the comparative
information is not restated. Further details on the impact
of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 1(c).

RERCER B ELER)E16
e BIBM TR HLBEHTT
B o pAT - AEBERAEA
BRELEMEFEHNRSNRA
R¥8IOT T BEREARERN
BXRPHEETEY - RE(EEY
&R E16 - BRARFTAG
EHEAEMNEHHEENRRE
BEEEMNFKIN  AAEEMEAE
EENHS2ARBROEREARKS
e A 8 &8 o (R M 5E15(c) I 2 48
REBMERESRE - RELETE
BHE LBREHTTES - F
HBRERKEREMBRELIDE
165 R B 2 — SR B ENK
FE1(c) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Br BB HAI - FiBE ©EBHUARE T THIR)

15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 15 HRE&RALEEYWURHMEREER

FLOW INFORMATION (continued) BE R (K
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (c) METHFELAEBENHE

financing activities

TR AEBEURE LSS
XMAaEESFREEERE
RFBEEH) BMEETDE
ERBRENRESMIRKNHIR

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows

were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the ERDEARNEEREEEAL
Group’s consolidated as cash flows from financing eEREMCBE-
activities.
Listing Interest Lease
Bank loan  expenses payable liabilities Total
BRITER FRR% EfHE HEEE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR%Tr ARTR ARETn AR%Tx
(Note 18) (Note 16) (Note 16) (Note 19)
(KE18) (K16) (KE16) (K3E19)
At 31 December 2018 and R2018F12A31H R
1 January 2019 201951518 (26,500) (3.443) 45) - (29,988)
Changes from financing BERERE
cash flows: gE.
Repayment of bank loan BEBTER 6,000 - - - 6,000
Interest paid ERHE - - 1,310 = 1,310
Capital element of lease rentals 2R EM L H
paid BRES - - - 1,120 1,120
Interest element of lease rentals B EEREH
paid MEHH - - - 122 122
Payment for listing expenses IR ETRAY - 2,857 = = 2,857
Total changes from financing BERERERD
cash flows &% 6,000 2,857 1,310 1,242 11,409
Other changes: A28
Increase in lease liabilities from BT 3 1 & A9
entering into new leases during B EBEHE M
the period - - - (4,213) (4,213)
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) M 8.5 2 (1 36(2) - - (1,309) (122) (1,425)
Total other changes Et@8as - - (1,308 (433) (5,638)
At 31 December 2019 #2019512A31R (20,500) (586) (39) (3,003 04,217)
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(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH

FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(c)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities (continued)

Bank loan

RITER
RMB’000
AR%TR
(Note18)
(K zE18)

15 RERRESEUUAREMRESR

EER (R
(c) MEEDMELRENYHIER

Listing
expenses

EHEX
RMB’000
ARBTR
(Note17)
(W &E17)

(%)

Amounts
due from
intermediate
Interest holding
EVEL] company Total
ElH N
EfFE BRAFARE L hy
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETT AR%Tn AR%Tn
(Note 17) (Note 22 (c))
(WE17)  (M&E22(c))

AtfJanuary2018  R2018F1A1A @2500 A . (34,789)
Changes from financing BERERE

cash flows: 2E.
Repayment of bank loan BRBTER 6,000 - - - 6,000
Interest paid BERHE - - 1,623 - 1,623
Aloan to intermediate holding AR NMERAFER

company — — — 3,000 3,000
A loan repaid by intermediate PN ERAREE

holding company ¢ - - - (3,000) (3,000)
Payment for listing expenses IR ETRY - 7,066 — - 7,066
Total changes from financing ~ BEREREE
_Gasnfows &8t 600 7066 168 - 14689
Other changes: Hth 25
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) 857 % (K 326(a) - — (1,614) - (1,614)
Accrued listing expenses JEst LM Rx - (711) - - (711)
Capitalised listing expenses BERME ETRAE - (11,935) - = (11,935)
Prepayments of listing expenses 1 B % A58 - 4,372 - - 4372
Totalotherchanges RWE®EF - B2ry e - (0.888)
At 31 December 2018 #2018%12A31A (26,500) (3,443) (45) - (29,988)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (BRZ A HBEI - FTE S EHUARE T LIIR)

15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 15 HRE&RALEEYWURHMEREER

FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 258 (%)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d HERESRLAE
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for FAHERERERNESHEE
leases comprise the following: FET5&E:
2019 2018
(Note)
(B 5%)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Within operating cash flows KEFRGRET 483 830
Within investing cash flows KEREMREF - —
Within financing cash flows MEERESRER 1,242 =
Total lease rental paid ENfAEREE%E 1,725 830
Note: As explained in the note to note 15(b), the adoption of MisE: Ml sE15()FT R R - %
HKFRS 16 introduces a change in classification of cash MCE BB HRELADDE
flows of certain rentals paid on leases. The comparative 1B ETEHEEMR
amounts have not been restated. THWBRERENEEY -
LS BIEES -
16 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 16 EZRHEMESRE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
Trade payables B P EN IR 521 515
Interest payable FE A T &, 38 45
Other taxes and charges payable HtENHIEREA 1,059 1,540
Deposits b rgca 5,862 5,550
Accrued payroll and other benefits ~ fExt ¥ & & H 13 7 3,914 5,087
Listing expenses payable JEsrEmRAX 586 3,443
Receipt-in-advance T8 W IE 3,414 7,184
Other payables H b JE 7 ;IR 3,209 2,342
Financial liabilities measured at REBEXAFTEDN
amortised cost TRIBE 18,603 25,706
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 b B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Frk BB HAAIN * B LEHUARE FLHIR)

17 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 17 EHER
Movements in contract liabilities EHEBNET

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT

Balance at 1 January MN1A1B B & &4 4,705 675

Decrease in contract liabilities as a ~ FRER AV FTAE L
result of recognising revenue during B & B I 35 E &5 &)

the year that was included in the BRNEGERD

contract liabilities at the beginning

of the period (4,705) (675)
Increase in contract liabilities as a REEERBATEL

result of billing in advance for FAEBERNEH

provision of management service BEEM 934 1,006
Increase in contract liabilities as a FARRFRIFFE

result of receiving sales deposits HEWERRHE

during the year in respect of REEHHNEY

properties held for sale as at the BEE N

year end - 3,699
Balance at 31 December K12 A31H M 4 &4 934 4,705
The amount of billings in advance for provision of EHERBRE —FEERBBAD
management service expected to be recognised as income RHEERBNELTE AT (2018
after more than one year is Nil (2018: Nil). F:E)o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
1 # AR & (#8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BRI * FTB EEHUARYE T LY R)

18 BANK LOAN 18 HRITEXRK
At 31 December 2019, the bank loan was repayable as MR2019F12 A31H - BB B W R 1T
follows: =S UNNE
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBT T
Bank loan — secured EEBBITER
— Within 1yearorondemand - 1FNSCRERMHEE 6500 6,000
— After 1 year but within 2 years — 1% B2F R 7,000 6,000
— After 2 years but within 5 years ~ — 2F & {B5F 7,000 14,500
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 14000 20,500
20,500 26,500
Pursuant to the loan framework agreement with China BIR BB RERTTIR 1D B R A A
Everbright Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch, the undrawn EBDTTHNERERGZ  ~&E
banking facilities of the Group amounted to HKD300,000 MR2019F 12 A31H &Y & 2 BX 4R 77 &¢
thousand (equivalent to RMB268,734 thousand) as at 31 & /B300,000F B T(HERARK
December 2019. 268,734F Jr) °
The effective interest rates of bank loan of the Group HZE2019F12A31HIEFE » AEE
for the year ended 31 December 2019 was 5.15% (2018: RITERNERFENEA5.15% (2018
5.15%) per annum. F:515%) °
Secured bank loan with a carrying value of RMB20,500 MR2019%F12H31H (R E & A A
thousand as at 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB26,500 K %#20,500F T(2018F: A B %
thousand) was secured by investment properties with an 26,500F L) &) B & #H R 17 B &K
aggregated carrying amount of RMB354,803 thousand MNAEEHEENEREERAR
(2018: RMB340,121 thousand) owned by the Group. #354,803F JL(2018F : A R ¥

40,121 T L) MR EMRIERER ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

19 LEASE LIABILITIES

The remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease
liabilities at the end of the reporting period and at the date
of transition to HKFRS 16 are as follows:

19 HEARE

RBEMREBEE(E BB R
FEADBICREANAEEEESR
BERFGAOBBBERET:

At 31 December 2019

At 31 December 2018 and
1 January 2019 (Note)

M2018F12 A318 &
M2019%12A31H 20191 A18 (K &)
Present
value Present
of the 111N value of the Total
minimum  minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
BEESE BEESE =EHBEE ®EHEE
NRBEE NREHE ~NFRE SR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREB TR AR® TR BN RPN
Within 1year %A 1894 1492 SRR -
After 1 year but within 1 & B2F R
2 years 1,452 1,492 — —
After 2 years but within 24 £ {B5% X
5 years 247 249 — —
e 1,699 - —
3,093 3,233 — —
Less: total future interest & : 7k R I B 48 37 1
expenses (140) —
Present value of lease T E&BEIRE
liabilities 3,093 —
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified Bt & AEBERAKETEN T EE

retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative
information is not restated. See note 1(c)

RERBCE R BIHMELER)E6
e RIBUITE  LHLBEHTT
o - FLHEMEEC) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (BRZ A HBEI - FTE S EHUARE T LIIR)

20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 20 SREHMBRREXRPHVMEHR
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Current taxation in the consolidated (a) #ZE AR R P AEH BB
statement of financial position represents: 15 :
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T
PRC CIT FESEFREH
At the beginning of the year F 4 767 1,924
Provision for current taxation N B HA R TR B A
for the year 8,670 5,929
Payments during the year F R (6,806) (7,086)
Attheendoftheyear  ®X 263 767
PRC LAT FhER b A E B
At the beginning of the year F9 - =
Provision for LAT for the year N I 12 (E B 1,478 —
Payments during the year F R (1,157) =
Attheendoftheyear %4 820 -
Current taxation as at the end of R BIHAF: 18
the year 2,952 767
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

20

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(i) Movement of each component of deferred

20 SEHBMRRRPHAEH(HE)

(b) ERDBELEHBEEREE:

() EEHREBEEENEES

tax assets and liabilities HRBDHEH
The components of deferred tax assets/ FARGEMBRAKXF
(liabilities) recognised in the consolidated R E’Jaﬁkﬁlﬁﬁg/(ﬁ
statement of financial position and the B)EAKEBOREBAT
movements during the year are as follows:
Revaluation
Provision for of investment
depreciation property Others Total
nERE RENEEHNHE b fit
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Deferred tax arising from: EXENTEENEERSE:
At1 January 2018 #o01851A1R (57,468) (103,654) 600 (160,522)
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss RBEFGIA)/ Mk (3,037) (8,447) 698 (10,786)
At 31 December 2018 and 2018512318 &
1 January 2019 2019%1A1R (60,505) (112,101) 1,298 (171,308)
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss RERFGA)/ B (2,538) (4,096) 14 (6,620)
At 31 December 2019 #2019412A31R (63,043) (116,197) 1,312 (177,928)

(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated
statement of financial position

(i) REFBRRKRHE K

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTT
Net deferred tax asset
recognised in the
consolidated statement of
financial position 1,445 1,457
Net deferred tax liability REGETBEARREKF
recognised in the BRNELEHIES
consolidated statement of (EOE-E
financial position (179,373) (172,765)
(177,928) (171,308)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

20

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

(c)

(d)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of the following items:

20 SEHBMRRRPBAEH(HE)

(c)

AERELEREEE

3 7 3 T 5178 A ¥ 328 1E B0
AR

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T
Deductible temporary differences 7 ¥ 32 #) A] 1 £ B
not recognised (note) M= R (K ) 12,278 22,273
Unused PRC tax losses (will expire 7 &h i &1 B % 18 & 18
in 2023) (# 72023 4F ZI| H5) - 3,942
12,278 26,215
Note: Deductible temporary differences not recognised mainly MsE: REROANRYREEE

represent unpaid interests charged to Sing Kong City.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2019, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted
to RMB25,416 thousand (2018: RMB85,614 thousand).
Deferred tax liabilities of RMB2,542 thousand (2018:
RMB8,561 thousand) have not been recognised
in respect of the tax that would be payable on the
distribution of these retained profits as the Company
controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and
it has been determined that it is probable that these
profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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KT EHERHTEHRKERD
REEFE -

AEREERESE

R2019%F 12 A318 © M B 1 7
MARDE N2 EREERES
A R #25,416F T (20184 : A
R #85,614F JT) o W K 5t 9 K
72 5 R B R B M FE T B B IR R
RIELEFIEBE A R®K2,542F
JL (20184 : AR¥8,561F L)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a)

Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes
in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are

set out below:

21 BEX  REKRKRE

(a)

BEARBINEE

AEBEGARETHENI D
FUEFERG RO RN &R
ERDSEHR - ARAFNE
FREFEERSEXE D E
BEEBEOT:

Company PN
Share Exchange Accumulated
capital  Share premium  Capital reserves reserves  profits/{losses) Total
Ritidl/
4 RfEE ERiE HERR (§8) i
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETR AEETR AEETR AEETR AEETR ARETR
(Note21(c) ~ (Note2!(d)ii)) (Note 2! (d)i))  (Note 21 (d)iii)
(&21(c)) (H&E21(d) i) (Hr&E21(d)i) (FF£524(a) i)
Baanceat tlanuary 2018 ROORMEMRARE L T [ R UEEY
Changes in equity for 2018: NIBERERD:
Loss for the year EhER - - - - (16517) (16517)
Other comprehensive income Efp2ENE - - - 14760 - 14760
Total comprehensive income 2ENEEE - - - 14760 (16,517) (1757)
Issue of ordinary shares under [P0, BEERAREERAERR:
R L S LI L - - - K0
Balance at 31 December 2018 and 20185125318 R2019%1A1A
s b son e N lm e
Changes in equity for 2019; N19EEEEE:
Profit for the year EhiEd - - - - 60,821 60,821
Other comprehensive income Efp2EE - - - 8675 - 8675
Total comprehensive income 2ANREE - - - 8675 60,821 69,496
Balance at 31 December 2019 PESPERIERES 345,042 45,063 10,311 (34,049) 30,895 397,262
Note: The Group, including the Company, has initially Miad: AEBMBEBEARRER

applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 using the
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
comparative information is not restated and there is no
net effect on the opening balance of the Company’s

equity as at 1 January 2019. See notes 1(c) and 24.

2019 F1 A1 KA L& 8
B EE R ERCGE BT
HEEB)FE165E - BIF I
FEEBRERNTTED
B AR F R2019F1A1R
MES T ETMEFLE-
A2 E M E1c) ®R24 -
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(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (BRZ A HBEI - FTE S EHUARE T LIIR)

21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued) 21 &4 - & RKR S (H)
(b) Dividend (b) B2
2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT

Final dividend proposed after the R ¥R&EHIR% EH IR
end of the reporting period of NEREBARETRE
2.03 cents per ordinary share 8 A%2.037 (20184 :

(2018: Nil) ) 8,960 —
8,960 —
The final dividend proposed after the end of the RS B R 18 22 5 R 1 A9 K B
reporting period has not been recognised as a liability RETEERSREHARNE
at the end of the reporting period. &
(c) Share capital (c) B

DR R LYY g o T l0 R o) At 31 December 2018
2019412831 H 1K2018512 H31H
No. of No. of
shares shares
4 2 E &% 7 2B
‘000 US$’000 000 US$’000
T % TERr T FET

Authorised ordinary ZEZEMRK :

shares:
At the beginning of the %]

year 4,000,000 400,000 40,000 40,000
Share Sub-division & 0 7 - - 360,000 =
Increase in authorised Y& /& B AN 18 /N

share capital - — 3,600,000 360,000
At the end of the year FR 4,000,000 400,000 4,000,000 400,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Frk BB HAAIN * B LEHUARE FLHIR)

21 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued) 21 EX - #ERKE(E)
(c) Share capital (continued) (c) BA(E&)

At 31 December 2019 At 31 December 2018

A2019F12831H MR20185F12 A31H
No. of No. of
CHEICH shares
K% &E Bin & B
’000 US$’000 ‘000 US$'000
TR FER T FEx
Ordinary shares, ERTHNZEHAR
issued and fully EER:
paid:
At the beginning of the F )
year 441,400 345,042 33,100 273,975
Share Sub-division & fh 2 #r - - 297,900 -
Issuance of ordinary BREERAARRE
shares under IPO BITL AR - - 110,400 71,067
At the end of the year FR 441,400 345,042 441,400 345,042
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive TERSBEAGERIDTEE
dividends as declared from time to time and is entitled KBRS WEBEAARE
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. ELEBR—ENRAE-FTE
All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the TRRERARRFGBEEETE
Company’s residual assets. B o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

21

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves

U

(ii)

Capital reserves

Capital reserves of the Group consisted of the
followings:

— Merger reserves of RMB26,800 thousand,
which was resulted from business
combination in 2010 involving entities under
common control;

— Reserves of RMB44,685 thousand due to
share repurchase of International Mansion
in 2014.

— Pursuant to a waiver agreement dated
31 December 2016, Capital Century
Company Limited agreed to waive an
amount of RMB10,311 thousand due from
the Company. The waiver of liabilities was
recorded as an equity transaction and
recorded in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

This reserve can be used to pay distributions or
dividends to equity shareholder.

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. Under the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, the funds in the share premium
account of the Company are distributable to
shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall due in the ordinary course of the
business.
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X - HAERKRE (R

(d) RENEERAE

U

(i)

BEX#E

AEBNEAREEERET
R

—  AER#26,800T T HY
AOtEE - BERHE
TirR2010F B4 &
BESITEEBONER
AHEE:

— FHo014FE B B K E
% 17 B8 B 1 B9 A
R #44,6857F 7T 09
1 o

—  RBER2016F12 A31
HET M0 &% B & 7 1
BB XFAERA
AIEERBRARA A
R #10,311F Tt B &
HeBRGBEREKRH
BRERER S EEA
IREEEEERP -

% it 8 A AR XA 0 8 =
[A) 4 i A R SIS, ©

IR 42 5 B

BB REERIFSE
ERREEE RERE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

21

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d)

Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iii) Exchange reserves

(iv)

The exchange reserves comprise all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 1(s).

PRC statutory reserves

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group are required to transfer
10% of their profit after taxation (after offsetting
the losses in the preceding years), as determined
under the PRC Accounting Regulations, to
the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve
balance reaches 50% of their registered capital.

The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of a dividend to shareholders.

Statutory reserve fund can be used to cover
previous years’ losses, if any, and may be
converted into share capital by the issue of
new shares to shareholders in proportion to
their existing shareholdings or by increasing the
par value of the shares currently held by them,
provided that the balance after such issue is not
less than 25% of the registered capital.

21

X HAERKRE(E)

(d) RENEERAZEE)

(iii) SMERE

(iv)

SINEE 7 4 B = B OB R
M mEREOBE TSR
FrBINEZ58 - &l )0
BB 1) HIN N &5
KR R IE o

L E fE R

REBEFBE(RRIE) A&
B 5 B B R B R A H
P& A B (KB B EF
EER)MI0% (BPEE
AERERIEAERESR
HER BEERREAR
EEHEFEMEARMNS0% °

HzREENEAMBEARR
RER DK IR B BIEST °

EAEAEEATRERMBR
TEEMNBBR(WA) I
AE BIERRIE AR
Lt 51l 1A EE B 47 %7 A% =X 1 Hn
HERNBEEZROBED
FRERARA Ll
BITENEHR T EREM
ERE)25% °
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(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

21

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(e) Capital management

(f)

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide
returns for equity shareholder and benefits for other
stakeholders, by pricing rental and management fee
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged throughout the
year ended 31 December 2019.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank
loan less cash and cash equivalents, and equity of
the Group, comprising issued share capital, retained
profits and other reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure periodically. Based on the operating
budgets, the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital
and balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debts.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed
capital requirements throughout the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: nil).

Distributable reserves

At 31 December 2019, the aggregate amount
of reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company amounted to
RMB86,269 thousand (2018: RMB25,448 thousand).
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(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk
is primarily attributable to trade debtor and lease
receivable. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising
from cash and cash equivalents is limited because
the counterparties are banks, for which the Group
considers to have low credit risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customers operate, and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when
the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 16%
(2018: 23%) and 38% (2018: 69%) of trade and
other receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively.
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FERBREXZIBEREA
MEE BRAEEHRYB
BRORER AEEHNEER
REBEKREE S BB RN RE
ERKFE -ARBEFHAER
SEEABREERBRMNERT
AEEEENREMREEE
MEERBRAR -

AEEYARRESAEER
e 1E fo] (5 & = B WO (R (AT B AR o

B 5 BWAKIER

AEEEBENEERREER
ERPHENFEMIIERTRS
EEMBTEXMEERR) &
Z2 Al EREEEPEAR
FERASEEBENTEN
BEARREES - RREHK -
2 Bl16% (20184 : 23%) K38%
(20184 : 69%) M B 5 K& H #
JERZEBAEBRKASEERAR
FERAREFEEMNKIE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (BRZ A HBEI - FTE S EHUARE T LIIR)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 22 @ IANHMEABREERAAE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) B (&)

(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EERM(E)

Trade receivables (continued)

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade debtors and lease receivable are due
pursuant to the terms of the agreements. Normally,
the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
debtors and lease receivable at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns
for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 b B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Frk BB HAAIN * B LEHUARE FLHIR)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 22 R IANHMERBEERAAE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) & ()
(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EERM(E)
Trade receivables (continued) ESEWRIE(E)

TREHREBRASERENE
ERBRMESEREEREAHN

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade

receivables and contract assets:

EEBRMEEBERNER

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FHEER BARHEE BERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR®FTxt AR%®Tx
Current (not past due) B ER (o %81 B9) 1% 289 3
Within 3 months 31E A A 1% 3,695 37
3-6 months wHI3ZE61E A 2% - -
6-9 months wHI6 = 91E A 4% - -
9-12 months B HIOZE 1218 A 6% - -
More than one year BH1FEMN £ 10% — -
3,984 40

2018

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
EHEEX REREE BEERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARBFTT ARETT
Current (not past due) B ER (R %81 B9) 1% 715 7
Within 3 months 3E AR 1% 5,001 50
3-6 months # HI3ZE61E A 2% 563 11
6-9 months wHI6 = 9E A 4% 563 23
9-12 months wHI9ZE 1218 A 6% 563 34
More than one year BH1EN £ 10% — —
7,405 125
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BRI * FTB EEHUARYE T LY R)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 22 R IANHMEERBEERAAE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) B (&)

(a) Credit risk (continued) (a) EERM(E)
Trade receivables (continued) ESEWRIE(E)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss BHEEXERNBE=ZFMNE
experience over the past three years. These rates BREEERL ZSHEEED
are adjusted to reflect differences between economic FE - DARBES BT EES
conditions during the period over which the historic MO BERRAEZE - BRIAA
data has been collected, current conditions and MEAEBHERKIBERE
the Group’s view of economic conditions over the MK BRANEE -

expected lives of the receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of FRNEHESRIERLREE
trade debtors and lease receivable during the year is EURRIBENEBEBREREZ W
as follows: T
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
Balance at 1 January R1A1B /% & 237 141
Amounts reversed during the year 74 A # B #) 7% 18 (125) (141)
Impairment losses recognised A R RE R RLE B 1B
during the year 78 237
Balance at 31 December M12 A31H 1 4 % 190 237
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 22 @ IANHMEABREERAAE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(@) Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

The following significant changes in the gross carrying
amounts of trade debtors and lease receivable
contributed to the increase in the loss allowance
during 2019:

— lease receivable with a carrying amount of
RMB150 thousand (2018: RMB112 thousand)
was assessed as individually impaired;

— origination of new trade debtors and lease
receivable net of those settled resulted in an
increase in loss allowance of RMB40 thousand
(2018: RMB125 thousand);

— a reversal of trade debtor with a gross carrying
amount of RMB125 thousand (2018: RMB141
thousand) resulted in a decrease in loss
allowance of RMB125 thousand (2018: RMB141
thousand).

18 (&)

(a) FERRGE)
B 5 E WA (#E)
B 5 R N E R IR 4
FREEM 5 E A FHR2019
FEBEBBRBEEM:

BEmEEAEARBIS0T T
(2018%F : A R ¥&112F 7r)
& 78 & FE U % 18 3T i A E
IR

ELEHESEKERREHE
ERRZFEBHKREL S
H)VEREBBEBEEMA
R40F 7T (20185 : A RH#E
125F 70)

BRoOBREEEAARK
125F JT (20185 : A B #&
141F 7o) 1 B 5 B WER K
HEYEEEERLIAR
#1205 T (20185 : A B
BA41TF o) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (

B =B HAN

B EBEEAARE T ITIIR)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 22 @I AWM KAR

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board
when the borrowings exceed certain predetermined
levels of authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements and its compliance
with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable
marketable securities and adequate committed lines
of funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which
are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computing using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current
at the end of the reporting period) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT

EERDAE

18 (&)

(b) REBEZERE
REBRBILE @% BRAH
BEEMALERE  BRAESA

%Wﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁ%
Re®k HEERBBES
BREKRFE - RIBAEERRRE
SeHE AEENERR/TE
HERERPESTREER
RHEMEHRE  AEREFT
Eﬁiﬁﬁ&%%T“ﬁﬁF

EEURKBEETESREERN

E%’J% R E - Am e HE
fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ/;lhiﬁbéiﬁi

TRINFRHMERHRAEEIE
TEEMBENRSREHNEH
BN UWTERSLOARMER
eREEBERHEHREM
BRMERH(WBFBHMNER)E
Hﬁﬂfu RIS )&$'§
//\%fﬁ\mﬁiiaﬂﬁ



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 22 R IANHMERBEERAAE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

Trade payables, accruals and

EARMHA Bt HAR

Within 1
year or on
demand
1ERD
REREE
RMB’000
AR TR

18 (&)

(b) REBESER(E)

As at 31 December 2019
Contractual undiscounted cash flows
R2019%12A31H
BNAGREERE

More than
1 year but
less than

PATEL
BA1F
BHR2F
RMB’000
ARBTR

More than
2 years but
less than

5 years
BiB2E
BHR5F
RMB’000
ARETR

Carrying

amount

More than at 31
5 years Total December
®12A31A

BB5F B% HEHEE
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTRT AR%Tn AR¥ETR

other payables H it BB 9,327 - - - 9,327 9,327
Lease liabilities(note) BEEEMT) 1,492 1,492 249 - 3,233 3,093
Bank loan — current RITER — A H 7,471 - - - 7,471 6,500
Bank loan — non-current BITER — EAH - 7,630 7,270 - 14,900 14,000

18,290 9,122 7,519 - 34,931 32,920
As at 31 December 2018
Contractual undiscounted cash flows
1#2018512A31R
RNABRRERE
More than  More than Carrying
Within1 1 year but 2 years but amount
yearoron lessthan lessthan More than at 31
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total December
15/ BB1E BiA2F RM12A318
REREE (BIR2F BHNF BE5F A% MR E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTR AR%Tn ARETrn AR®Tn AR®Tn AR%Tn
Trade payables, accrualsand ~ ZH3ENFIE « B HER

other payables Hth T 5E 12,972 = = = 12,972 12,972
Bank loan — current RITER — B8 7,286 - - - 7,286 6,000
Bank loan — non-current RITER — A - 7,471 14,900 - 22,371 20,500

20,258 7,471 14,900 = 42,629 39,472
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
1 # AR & (#8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BRI * FTB EEHUARYE T LY R)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 22 R IANHMEERBEERAAE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the Bt 5 -

18 (&)
(b) REBESER(E)

AEBEERBEETEY

modified retrospective approach and adjusted the
opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise
lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. As the
lease commitment at 31 December 2018 was short-
term lease with remaining lease term ending on or before
31 December 2019, the initial application of HKFRS16
has no impact on the opening balance. Lease liabilities
were related to new leases entered into during the year.
Under this approach, the comparative information is not
restated. See note 1(c).

FIEERERCE BV R
&) FE16% - I E R
201941 A 18 &Y H3 ¥ &5 &2 A
TR LA BIBECE B 5T
EH‘J>>%175F“* AL
*Hﬁaﬁ’ﬁﬂﬁﬁt\ B R
2018412 310 M & &
& B F 84 & B R20194F
12 A31H 3 2 Al J& M 10 45 3
HE BRERGEBEVSE
s AR FE165 HH M &
HEiEyE - AEaEHA
FAFTHEERHE - BIK
A% EREMTTFE

(c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The
Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from cash

and cash equivalents and bank loan.

The Group is not exposed to significant interest
rate risk for cash and cash equivalents because the
interest rates of cash at bank are not expected to

change significantly.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile

22 ERMIENBKER

EERAAE
18 (&)

() F=mEM(E)
(i) R=HKR

T%%ﬁﬁﬁ“&iﬁﬂﬁi ZN

of the Group’s total borrowings at the end of the SEEREENFEMRR
reporting period. HIFETE ©
2019 2018
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
% RMB’000 % RMB’000
ERFZEY AR%®TH BRSNS S
Fixed rate borrowings: TE&ER :
Lease liabilities (note) HEaEMT) 5% 3,093 — -
Variable rate BEEXR
borrowings:
Bank loan RITER 5.15% 20,500 5.15% 26,500
Note: As the lease commitment at 31 December 2018 M 2 R R20184% 12 A31

was short-term lease with remaining lease term
ending on or before 31 December 2019, the initial
application of HKFRS16 has no impact on the
opening balance.

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2019, it is estimated that a
general increase of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant,
would have decreased the Group’s profit after
tax and retained profits by approximately
RMB154 thousand (2018: RMB199 thousand).

The sensitivity analysis indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit
after tax (and retained profits) that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period.

B HEAERHKT
T2 & B R 2019F 127
318 3k 2 Bl f&@ # # 52
HEE  ARERAGE
BHBHREERE
165% 41 5 1) 45 &R 8 4
T -

(i) HREDH

R2019%F12 A31H » 78 &t
Flaxgg 5&1001!%%’
MATE B2 RFTE -
EIJAAZSEIWM%%IJ/F?
FRBHBERLHANRE
154F T (20184 : A R #&
199F JT) °

J:L‘@IFYF ﬁi’%ﬂ_‘\ﬁ*
EJJ $EIE’J%R1§$|J/FEJ(&

REBF B & EEaBRH
x'ﬂﬁ °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (BRZ A HBEI - FTE S EHUARE T LIIR)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(d) Currency risk

Almost all the Group’s operating activities are
carried out in the PRC with most of the transactions
denominated in RMB. Exposures to currency
exchange rates arise from certain of the Group’s
cash and cash equivalents which are denominated
in HKD. The Group does not use derivative financial
instruments to hedge its foreign currency risk. The
Group reviews its foreign currency exposures regularly
and consider no significant exposure on its foreign
exchange risk.

22 SRMIBENMEAREERAAE
18 (&)

(d)

Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEEZEED

E¥RAR

AEBEET2RREEHHE
TEET BRBLAXFUA
REFE AKENETHRS
RReEBMIHIAEITE
BMASEmERESERER -
AEBEYEERITESRTA
s RER - BAKEEH
BEEI)ERR BXTRAE
T e B A SME E B o

2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARBTT

149,875 139,857
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 b B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Frk BB HAAIN * B LEHUARE FLHIR)

22 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 22 R IANHMERBEERAAE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(d) Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained
profits) and other components of consolidated equity
that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which
the Group has significant exposure at the end of the
reporting period had changed at that date, assuming
all other risk variables remained constant.

18 (&)
(d) E¥ERE(&E)
BREDM

TERET  AEEREEHF
T B 2 KB W 0 51 B R 0 3
A B E - A & B BLARE (R
REBFEURGAERDE
fE S BB (BRAE
HhERTRAERFTE) -

2019 2018
Increase/ Effect on Increase/

(decrease) profit after (decrease) Effect on
in foreign tax and in foreign  profit after tax
exchange retained exchange  and retained

rates profits rates profits

HNEER HEZANAR MEEX HRENER

#gm/ REFEH #gm/  REFEH

(A &) g (R 4) vE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBTT

Hong Kong Dollars BT 5% 5,620 5% 5,245
(5)% (5,620) (5)% (5,245)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above
table represent an aggregation of the instantaneous
effects on each of the Group entities’ profit after tax
measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into RMB at the exchange rate ruling at the
end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure cash and cash equivalents held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2018.

EREJINNDMERBET A
SESERBNRRMNBERA
ML ERE  LIRREB
ROERBE S AR WA
TE UHENZA -

SURNE 2 AT R AR SN E B & &
RAREHAEAKEMEA
MReELREFEY  E4%
B s B R E R ONE R B e
o T K201845F Wy 1H A &
1T °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

23 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in note 8 and certain of the
highest paid employees as disclosed in note 9, is as
follows:

23 FEEBAIXRS

TEEBAETM

AEBTEZEEASNEFHM(E
B ESHMMBEENARAE
ENEBRAMEMKRED M
ETESFMEENSE) W
THR:

2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AREF T

Directors’ fee EEWE 790 =
Salaries, allowances and benefits & 2B R IFE S

in kind A & 2,840 3,381

Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 1,891 2,460

Retirement scheme contributions & K 5t 2] . 7 48 214

5,569 6,055

The above remuneration to key management
personnel is included in “staff costs” (see note 6(b)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

23 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(b)

Name and relationship with related parties

During the year ended 31
as related party transactions:

Name of party
B S 0B B

December 2019,
transactions with the following parties are considered

23 FEBBALIXRZ (&)

BTN BB EBEERLNE
%

(b)

REZE2019F12A31AILLEE -
BTANZAHITINRZHERE
BE AR5

Relationship with the Group
B 7 55 @ 1Y BA 1R

China Everbright (Group) Company Ltd.
(“China Everbright Group”)
PEAREBRROAR(HEXKER])
Capital Century Company Limited
(“Capital Century”)
Bl PR ok F B PR 2 A) ([ BB ok )
Everbright Securities Company Limited*
(“CE Securities”)
ARBHFBROHABERRR (L KRZFEF])
China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd.* (“CE Bank”)

B RIRITIRGD AR AR ([ E K KIRTL)

China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong
Branch (“CE Bank HK”)

FEXRBITROBERARBTED T
(REXKRBITEEDITD

China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited

FEEAESF(FAE)BERAA

Intermediate holding company

R R AR
Intermediate holding company

BRI A A

Company controlled by China Everbright Group,
an intermediate holding company

R ERARREXKEBZEH G RF]

Company controlled by China Everbright Group,
an intermediate holding company

R ERARRE R XS B ZES G ARF

Company controlled by China Everbright Group,
an intermediate holding company

R R i ] AR B O K S B R 6 ) R R

Company controlled by China Everbright Group,
an intermediate holding company
RN ERARRERKEBEZES AT

Mr. Liu Jia Executive director and the chairman of the
Company

Gl RRBIMTESZHRERE

Mr. Lin Zimin Executive director of the Company

ME K& RAFIMITES

Mr. Lee Wai Kwong Senior manager of the Company

2 BT Ml o A& AN/ R B

* The English translation of the entities’ names is for * ZEERABONRELEHR

reference only. The official names of these entities are in 2% BHEBARFB -
Chinese.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (BRZ A HBEI - FTE S EHUARE T LIIR)

23 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 23 FEBBAXRZ (E)
(continued)

(c) Significant related party transactions (c) EXEBLIRS
2019 2018
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARBT T
Amounts due from shareholders & W A% 3 3k 1H - 5
Repayments from shareholders  f& 3R & & - 5
Amount due from intermediate JE W A A 2 IR
holding company - 3,000
Repayment from intermediate FNIERARIER
holding company - 3,000
Property leasing income from BRSPS
related parties (Note) A& A (K sE) 6,352 6,289
Payment of listing expenses to a [ B8 5 X EH X
related party - 2,000
Undrawn banking facilities from a K & 8 B 75 < $2 EX 89 4R
related party (Note) TEbE (P 5) 268,734 262,858
Placement of deposits to a =) B8 Bt 5 15 BT 3K
related party 496,110 1,066,475
Withdrawal of deposits from a e B B 5 1R ENAE K
related party 520,920 1,031,366
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
7 2 b B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Frk BB HAAIN * B LEHUARE FLHIR)

23 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 23 FEBBAIXRS (E)
(continued)

(d) Balances with related parties (d) EERIEET B4 ek

2019 2018

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AR T T

Cash and cash equivalents ReEMRESFED

(Note) (Bff 5%) 22,008 46,118

Trade and other payables B 5 N H b R 463 3,348
Note: The related party transactions in respect of property MeE: BREEKEKEFN N KIET
leasing income from CE Securities and CE Bank, MERERA - XRRITH
deposits service from CE Bank and banking facilities TR R REFBE K KRRITE
from CE Bank HK constitute continuing connected BOITHIRITRLE &Y BB 5 X
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing SRR ETRAEMAEFRR
Rules, The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the ERIFEBRERS - EmHA
Listing Rules are provided in section headed “Continuing FUAEHR TN RBEAMNRE
Connected Transactions” of the Directors’ Report. EeREFERERS]—H

R’H -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

78 2R e B ()

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

24 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

24 ARRQTMBAMR K

POSITION
2019 2018
(Note)
(Bt &)
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Gl ARETT ARETn BN SN R
Non-current assets krBEE
Property and equipment VEYET 3,737 97
Investments in subsidiaries ~ HIB A TR E 117,001 116,993
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 120738 117,090
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries [& 4t Ff B A 7 FUE 197,288 188,648
Trade and other receivables & 5k H 4 JEUL 318 870 409
Cash and cash equivalents & MREEEY 142,117 117,959
e ooooosa025 sorot6
Current liabilities nBAaRE
Amounts due to subsidiaries  [EfHFi B A & ZUE 56,710 92,839
Other payables HAt e 508 3,948 3,501
Lease liabilities HEERE 1,394 —
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 620s2 %30
Net current assets RBEEFHE 278,223 210,676
Total assets less current HAEERFHABERE
liabilities and net assets EF{E 398,961 327,766
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaRE 1,699 =
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 16 =
Net assets EEFHE 397,262 327,766
CAPITAL AND RESERVES R AR
Share capital B 21(c) 345,042 345,042
Reserves & 52,220 (17,276)
TOTAL EQUITY ERAHE 397,262 327,766

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 26 March 2020.

Liu Jia

N Directors
Lin Zimin

Note: The company has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January
2019 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, comparative information is not restated. See note

1(c).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

7 2 b B ()

(REEBRAIN - AESEHAARE T TIIR)

25

26

NON-ADJUSTING EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Since early 2020, the epidemic of Coronavirus Disease
2019 (“COVID-19”) has spread across the PRC and other
countries and it has affected the business and economic
activities of the Group to some extent. The Group could
possibly be affected by the temporary waivers of rentals
offered to existing tenants and difficulty in sourcing new
tenants due to the short-term economic slowdown.

Given the continuous spread of the disease, the Board
considered it is impracticable to estimate the financial
impact to the Group as at the date on which these financial
statements are authorised for issue. The Board will closely
monitor the development of the COVID-19 and continue to
evaluate its impact on the business, the financial position
and operating results of the Group. The related impacts
will be reflected in the Group’s 2020 interim and annual
consolidated financial statements.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January
2019 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
approach, comparative information is not restated. Further
details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed
in note 1(c).

25

26

BEBRFABRER

BE20204F F #] LA 2K + 20194 & ik /&
SR(2019E R BERDEFE K
HtBRRELE T E—TRELFE
ETAEENEBRRECETS - A~
EEAESHERRERABEERES
W ER FE & K 2 B A 7 hR AR S B EE A
BEFHFEFNTE -

ERNERBEELE ETERAE
BRESHZEVERRABPHEER
HAEENP BT EBTIER -
EEe B BUER019TRFESH
MER TEHEETHEUAEEE
B oMBERARARKEEEENTE -
B % 8 R E AR & B #2020F
PHMFEERAEMBHRERT -

RS

AEEERBALEITBHE A ER
2019F1 A1H & X JE ACE B B 15 3R
SAERINFE6TR - BIE UL HE © LK

ME— T FBRERMEC) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
M B W R M EE (8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated)

(BEEHAIN  ESEHUARE T TIIR)

27

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

On 3 January 2017, by an instrument of transfer, Capital
Century, the sole shareholder of the Company, transferred
29,790 thousand and 3,310 thousand shares, representing
all of its shares in the Company to two of its wholly-
owned subsidiaries incorporated in the BVI, Lucky Link
Investments Limited (“Lucky Link”) and Top Charm
Investments Limited (“Top Charm”) respectively. Thereafter,
Lucky Link and Top Charm became direct shareholders of
the Company. Following the completion of Global Offering,
Lucky Link and Top Charm’s shares of the Company were
67.49% and 7.5% respectively.

As at 31 December 2019, the directors consider the
immediate holding company and ultimate controlling party
of the Group to be Lucky Link and China Investment
Corporation, which are incorporated in BVI and the PRC
respectively. These entities does not produce financial
statements available for public use.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
I F WA & (#8)

(Expressed in thousands of RMB, unless otherwise indicated) (Frk BB HAAIN * B LEHUARE FLHIR)

28 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 28 REE2019F12A31BLFEE MR
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT o B R ERAIEET A - i a] 2 Al
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 RRBNEERE

DECEMBER 2019

Up to the date of issuance of these financial statements, HEZSUBRREMAH - 55
the HKICPA has issued the following amendments and new AT A MM T 5 R E E2019F
standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 12ABEFEHMRERBARE
December 2019 and which have not been early adopted by M AR R NS ET AR TR -
the Group.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUTHEHH 2%

MmrEsrHEEXR

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a business 1 January 2020

(BB BMELEREIRUEETN)  XEHTEE 2020 1A1H

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of material 1 January 2020

(BEEGFEAIDFIRR(EB G ERDESR (BRI R)  EALEE 20209F1A1H
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of AEBEREFHEZEERERS
what the impact of these developments is expected to be RYTEAHBEENTZ - 3 F
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded AR NEBERAKAZFEL
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant PRAEHEEMBERREKNE KR

impact on the consolidated financial statements. TE -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBRE

For the year ended 31 December 2019 — (Expressed in RMB)

HZE2019F12A31B LFE — (MARKET|R)

A summary of the result and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years as extracted from the
published audited financial statements is set out below:

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

AEEEERLBAMBRFENREARE
ERBBEDHBEE R MEKEEZ TG R
FOMB BT

RERE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
VOGN RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
INSL- B\ RET T ARBTT ARBTT AR®TIT
Revenue W 2= 71,274 61,742 66,657 55,936 59,386
Profit before tax A= IR D 54,049 53,269 38,075 45,958 47,799
Income tax expense i Ax (16,768) (16,715) (13,809) (14,444) (13,494)
Profit for the year AEEFE 37,281 36,554 24,266 31,514 34,305
Attributable to: IATA LR :
Owners of the Company iN/NIEZZ N 37,281 36,554 24,266 31,514 34,305
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HEEERERE
At 31 December
M12A318
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
UGN RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
NGB\ R T ARBTT AR®TT AR®T
Total assets BEE 1,145,401 1,109,498 936,333 915,816 970,793
Total liabilities raf (225,455)  (230,443)  (217,068)  (219,929)  (317,167)
Net assets FEE 919,946 879,055 719,265 695,887 653,626
Note: The results and summary of assets and liabilities for each of the two M7 : # £2015% &2016F12A31H Lt M @ F

years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016 which were extracted
from the Prospectus have been prepared on a combined basis
to indicate the results of the Group as if the group structure, at
the time when the Company’s shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange, had been in existence throughout those years.

Everbright Grand China Assets Limited ® XK EBR AT
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